
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Tuesday 18 January 2022. 

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Governance 
and Audit 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Wednesday, 26 January 2022 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Council Offices, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Mark Whittington (Chairman) 
Councillor Paul Wood (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Gloria Johnson, Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley, 
Councillor Jacky Smith and Councillor Sue Woolley 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the  
SKDC YouTube Channel 

 

 

1.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Disclosure of interests 
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting. 
 

 

3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 20 October 2021 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

4.   Updates from previous meeting 
To consider updates on Actions agreed at the meeting held on 20 
October 2021. 
 

(Page 11) 

5.   Internal Audit Progress Report 
The internal audit plan for 2021/22 was approved by the Governance and 
Audit Committee at the 18 March 2021 meeting.  This report provides an 
update on progress against that plan and summarises the results of our 
work to date. 
 

(Pages 13 - 35) 

6.   Internal Audit Follow Up Report 
We have undertaken a review to follow up on progress made to 
implement the previously agreed management actions. 

(Pages 37 - 51) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

7.   Counter Fraud Framework 
One of the key areas for Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its 
terms of reference, is to monitor and review the counter fraud 
arrangements in place which includes approving the Counter Fraud 
Framework. 
 

(Pages 53 - 84) 

8.   Financial Management Code 
To update Members on the progress being made on the implementation 
of the new CIPFA Financial Management Code.  The report provides an 
update on the progress of the Action Plan that was approved by the 
Committee on 9 June 2021.  
 

(Pages 85 - 103) 

9.   Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 
This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to produce regular reports on treasury and debt 
management operations during the financial year. This report meets the 
requirements of the CIPFA code of practice on Treasury Management 
(the Code). 
 

(Pages 105 - 136) 

10.   Planning Service Review - Progress Report 
This report updates the Governance and Audit Committee on the actions 
undertaken following a review of the Planning Service. 
 

(Pages 137 - 147) 

11.   Work Programme 2021 - 2022 
To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2021 – 2022. 
 

(Pages 149 - 150) 

12.   Any other business, which the chairman, by reasons of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent. 
 

 



 

 

Minutes 
 

Governance and Audit Committee 
 

Wednesday, 20 October 2021, 14:00 
                  

Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  
St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 

 

 

Committee Members present 
 

Councillor Ian Stokes (Chairman) 
Councillor Paul Wood (Vice- Chairman) 
 

Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
Councillor Sue Woolley 
 

Cabinet Members in attendance 
 

Councillor Adam Stokes (The Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing and Property) 
 
Officers in attendance 
 

Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive (Monitoring Officer)) 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial and Operations) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance (S151 Officer)) 
Emma Whittaker (Assistant Director of Planning) 
Paul Stokes (Head of Corporate Operations) 
Gillian Goddard (Senior Financial Accountant) 
Tracey Elliott (Governance and Risk Officer) 
Rosie Townend (S106 Officer) 
Sarah Downs (Democratic Services Officer) 
 
Internal Audit 
 

Rob Barnett (RSM) 
Aaron MacDonald (RSM) 
 

External Audit 
 
Paul Cuttle (Grant Thornton) 
 

 
 

3

Agenda Item 3



38. Apologies for absence 
 

 There were none. 
 

39. Disclosure of interests 
 

There were none. 
 

40. Minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2021 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2021 were proposed, seconded 
and AGREED as a correct record, subject to the following amendment: 

 

• That Councillor Breda-Rae Griffin be added to Committee Members present, 
as she had been acting as a substitute. 
 

41. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
Confirmation was given by the Chairman that the Work Programme had been 
updated to include a Planning Services Review update, to be considered at the 
December meeting of the Committee.  
 
(Councillor Baxter joined the meeting at 14:04, during consideration of the above 
item) 
 

42. Internal Audit Progress Report 
 

A report was presented to the Committee by Internal Auditors, RSM, following 
completion of a review of; Local Authority Searches, Housing Compliance, Income 
and Banking and Continuous Assurance, as part of the approved internal audit 
periodic plan for 2021/22. 
 
The Auditor confirmed five reports had been finalised since the Committee last met.  
 
The review of Local Authority Searches was largely positive, actions had been 
taken to improve the service delivery turnaround time. Six of the ten Searches 
sampled were completed within a timeframe of 22 days. There was no clear audit 
trail on some Searches, when documenting registration and the Authority was found 
to have no formal Land Charges Policy in place.   
 
The Auditor paused for questions at which point the following points were raised: 

 

• Clarification was requested as to why issues had still been identified as the 
previous Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, confirmed these issues were largely resolved.   

 
 

4



The Auditor clarified that the report findings were made prior to the Economic 
Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting, a 
significant improvement had been made since that time, which showed an average 
reduction in Searches times to between 2 and 4 days.  

 

• A Member asked for clarification as to why the Committee had received two 
copies of the report, a revised version had been included within the 
supplement. 
 

The Committee was informed that an incorrect job title had been included within the 
original agenda pack, that had been amended to reflect the correct post and was 
circulated within the agenda supplement.  t was requested that it be noted to 
Members where changes had been made to documents for the changes to be 
easily identified. 

 

• Why had the Authority’s timescale for completing Searches been 22 days, 
when the Government’s target turnaround was 10 days.   
 

The current position indicated a less than 5 days as a turnaround period. 
Continuous improvement was being made due to temporary increased resources.  
Processes and procedures had been fully reviewed, including consultations with a 
neighbouring Authority. A reduction in demand had also contributed to the 
improvement in turnaround times.  
 

• What continuing gaps were there within the Housing Services Compliance 
framework and what was being done to improve standards.  
 

Practices had been significantly strengthened, fire risk assessments, legionella 
prevention and asbestos safeguarding were 100% compliant and that fire door 
checks were underway. Additional support was being considered within these 
programmes through IT support and senior officer participation. Gas checks were 
largely complete and electrical testing was being undertaken by contractors. The 
electrical testing had been significantly delayed by the pandemic, as time within 
residential homes for tradesmen had been restricted by the Government, during the 
lockdown periods.   

 

• A management report on the ‘Propeller’ system was requested, what progress 
had been made since it was implemented in July 2021. 
 

Available findings of the strengths of ‘Propeller’ would be shared at subsequent 
meetings, some information would be prepared for the 22 December 2021 
Committee meeting. 
 

• What the Authority’s current status was with the Housing Regulator? 
 
It was confirmed that the Authority had been described by the Regulator as “making 
a mammoth achievement so far”. It was further acknowledged that Improvement 
Plan updates were readily available, as it was important that the status be known. 

5



 

• Could Members expect to receive training on the use of Propeller, so they 
could access live information.  
 

The Committee were informed that Members were to receive training after the 
completion of officer training.  
 
(The Chairman called a short recess at14:53, reconvening the meeting at 15:09) 
 
Members continued to discuss the Continuous Assurance report, as follows: 

 

• What was the Authority’s process for raising purchase orders? 
 

An Officer informed the Committee that purchase orders were raised by individual 
departments, not centrally. The process was an organisational responsibility and 
invoices would only be paid upon receipt of a valid purchase order, Senior Finance 
Officers were working towards a list of suppliers where no purchase order would be 
required, so to ensure a more efficient process, which was required in some 
circumstances.  
 

• What was the process when officers left the Council’s employment? 
  

The Assistant Director of Finance was working with the Deputy Chief Executive to 
update current processes. Currently Human Resources would communicate when 
an officer had left the employment of the Council, to ensure that access to ICT and 
the Council offices were deactivated.  

 
AGREED: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee noted the Internal Audit Progress 
Report. 
 

43. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that the press and public be excluded 
from the meeting: 
 
DECISION: 
 
Under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public were excluded from the meeting during any listed items of business, 
on the grounds that if they were to be present, exempt information would be 
disclosed to them as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

 
44. Internal Audit Progress Report - Part 2 

 
The Committee discussed the contents of the exempt part of the Internal Audit 
Progress Report. 

6



 
45. Internal Audit Follow Up Report 

 
A review was undertaken to follow up on progress of previously implemented 
management actions A summary of which was summarised by RSM. 
 
The Auditor confirmed findings of ‘reasonable progress’. Most audit actions had 
been found to be fully implemented, with some actions ongoing. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee noted the Internal Audit Follow Up 
Report. 

 
46. Section 106 Monitoring Update Report 

 
The Director for Growth and Culture presented a report which provided an updated 
status of Section 106 (S106) funds and the monitoring of contributions and other 
requirements from S106 agreements for the previous year. 
 
The Committee had requested at its meeting in February 2021 that six monthly 
updates on S106 funds collected and monitoring of agreements be provided.   
 
The Director informed the Committee that of £100,000 requested from developers, 
there was currently £16,000 outstanding. During discussion, Members raised the 
following:  
 

• Disappointed that the entire amount was yet to be received. 
 

• If any funds had been returned due to the expiry of time given.  
 

• It was requested that regular updates be provided on what Section 106 funds 
were available and where funds had been spent. 
 

The December 2020 Infrastructure Funding Statement report was available to 
access via the Council’s website. The report provided the information which 
Members had requested regarding data on income and outgoings. 

 
A suggestion was made that as part of a review of the Constitution, The Committee 
may be required to consider which of the Council’s Committees should review S106 
funding, in terms of performance monitoring.  It was requested that this 
consideration be passed to the Constitution Committee. 

 

• Clarification was sought by a Member as to why a large amount of S106 was 
noted as being unspent. 
 

The Committee were informed that this large amount was allocated to the Elizabeth 
Road area in Stamford.  

7



 
ACTION 1 
 
The Committee to be provided with further updates following the production 
of the next Infrastructure Funding Statement. This would include an update 
on the processes for collecting and monitoring contributions. 
 
ACTION 2 
 
That the Constitution Committee be requested to consider, as part of the 
Constitution review, which Committee would monitor Section 106 funds.  
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee noted the contents of the Section 
106 Monitoring Report. 
 

47. External Audit Annual Governance Report 
 

The Committee were presented with the External Audit Annual Governance Report, 
year ended March 2021. The report outlined the key findings arising from the 
Statutory Audit, to ensure fairness and transparency.   
 

• A Member noted that there had been recent changes to the Audit Code which 
meant an increased amount of checks required as part of the audit.  It was 
requested that confirmation be provided that the audit would be completed to 
allow the Council’s statement of accounts to be published. 
   

The Auditor confirmed that the audit work for the statement of accounts has now 
been completed and the accounts were now able to be approved.    
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee noted the External Audit 
Governance Report. 

 
48. Statement of Accounts 

 
The Statement of Accounts 2020/21 were presented to the Governance and Audit 
Committee for approval.  

 
The report provided covered: 

 

• Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021 

• Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

• Section 21(2) Local Government Act 2003 

• Revised Statement of Accounts 

• Commentary on the outcome of the audit of the Statement of Accounts 

8



 
It was noted that the Council had made an achievement by completing their 
Statement of Accounts, albeit 20 days later than the target deadline of 30 
September 2021.   
 
The Assistant Director of Finance confirmed that once agreed, the accounts would 
be published and made available on the Council website.   
 
It was highlighted to Members that Gravitas Housing Ltd was incorporated within 
the group accounts of the Council and that LeisureSK Ltd accounts would be within 
the group accounts for the next year financial year (2021/22).   

 
Members raised the following: 

 

• Why the Committee had not been provided with the financial accounts for the 
Council owned Companies.   
 

The Assistant Director of Finance informed members that the production of all 
Council owned company accounts were compliant with legislative requirements, 
There was no requirement to incorporate Council owned companies in the Council’s 
accounts.  The terms of reference for the Committee did not include responsibility 
for the Council owned companies’ accounts, this was included within the terms of 
reference for the Companies Committee.  The accounts of the Companies were 
submitted to Companies House, in accordance with legislative requirements.   

 

• Clarification was requested on termination benefits in relation to staff that have 
exited the Council.  
 

It was explained that a new management structure had been approved by Council 
and the implementation of the structure would have resulted in termination costs 
being incurred.  Statutory officers were required to sign off any exit arrangements 
that incur a financial cost and there was a process in order to ensure value for 
money was evidenced.  The Deputy Chief Executive added that a Redundancy 
Policy was in place and would be followed as part of the termination of any officer’s 
employment. 

 
The recommendations were proposed and seconded, following a vote they were 
AGREED. 
 
DECISIONS: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee: 

 
1. Approved the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts and that the letter of 

representation be signed by management. 
 

2. The outcome of the audit work was noted. 
 

9



49. Work Programme 2021 - 22 
 

The Committee considered the Work Programme for 2021 – 2022. 
 
ACTION 
 
The following item was to be added: 

 

• An update to be provided to the Committee on the Planning Service 
Review at the 22 December 2021 meeting of the Committee 
 

50. Any other business, which the chairman, by reasons of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent. 

 
There were no other items of business. 

 
51. Close of Meeting 

 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 16:50. 

 
 
 

10



Action Sheet 
To provide members with an update on actions agreed at the 20 October 2021 meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee.  

Min 
no.  

Agenda 
Item 

Action(s) Assigned to Comments/status Deadline 

42 Internal 
Audit 
Progress 
Report 

To share available findings of 
strengths of new ‘Propeller’ 
system which records safety 
checks/inspections. 

Councillor Robert Reid  
(Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property) 

The Cabinet Member 
advised that available 
findings would be presented 
to Committee at its 
December meeting.  

22 
December 
2021 

42 Internal 
Audit 
Progress 
Report 

Information requested on staff 
training for ‘Propeller’ system and 
compliance matters. 

• How many staff have been 
trained (complete). 

• How many staff have to be 
trained in total. 

• How far back does the need 
for training go. 

Councillor Robert Reid  
(Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property) 

The Cabinet Member 
advised that information 
would be communicated to 
Committee before its 
December meeting.  
 

22 
December 
2021 

42 Internal 
Audit 
Progress 
Report 

IT Access - deactivation for staff 
leavers. 
 

Information requested on the full 
process and confirmation of the 
officers involved.  

Alan Robinson  
(Deputy Chief Executive 
(Monitoring Officer)) 
  

Richard Wyles  
(Assistant Director of Finance 
(s151 Officer))  

The Assistant Director of 
Finance advised that 
information would be 
communicated before 
Committee meets on 22 
December 2021. 

22 
December 
2021 

46 Section 
106 
monitoring 
update 
report 

Members requested up to date 
information on schedule of S106 
funds held. 

Rosie Townend 
(Section 106 Monitoring 
Officer) 

S106 Monitoring Officer 
advised that spreadsheets 
with up-to-date S106 
incomings/outgoings could 
be shared with Committee. 

22 
December 
2021 

  

11

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
South Kesteven District Council 
Internal Audit Progress Report 
 
Governance and Audit Committee meeting: 22 December 2021 
 
This report is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed.  
To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no  
responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

    

Page 1 of 23

13

A
genda Item

 5



 
 

     

 

South Kesteven District Council Progress Report | 2 
    
 

Contents 
 

1 Key messages .....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................3 
2 Reports ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................4 
Appendix A – Progress against the internal audit plan 2021/22 .................................................................................................................................................................................7 
Appendix B – Other matters ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................8 
 

 

 

   

  

Page 2 of 23

14



 
 

     

 

South Kesteven District Council Progress Report | 3 
    
 

1 Key messages 
The internal audit plan for 2021/22 was approved by the Governance and Audit Committee at the 18 March 2021 meeting. As the developments around Covid-19 will continue 
to impact on all areas of the Council’s risk profile, we will work closely with management to deliver an internal audit programme which remains flexible and ‘agile’ to ensure it 
meets your needs in the current circumstances. 

This report provides an update on progress against that plan and summarises the results of our work to date. 
 

 

Since the Governance and Audit Committee last met, we have finalised three reports: Council Owned Companies, Medium Term Financial Planning and Follow 
Up 3. 
A summary of the outcomes of the Council Owned Companies and Medium Term Financial Planning Audit are included at Section 2 and further details are 
appended to this report. [To discuss and accept] 

 

The Follow Up 3 report is issued as a separate agenda item and this review resulted in a ‘little progress’ opinion being made to implement previously agreed 
actions. [To note] 

 

One change to the 2021/22 internal audit plan has occurred since the last committee meeting. The Street Scene – Stock review was unable to be completed 
due to RSM being informed that the Council no longer hold any stock and therefore the scope areas were no longer relevant. The follow up actions from the 
prior year’s audit will now be included within the Follow Up 4 audit to be conducted in December 2021. 
See Appendix B for further details. [To note] 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 3 of 23

15



 
 

     

 

South Kesteven District Council Progress Report | 4 
    
 

2 Reports 
2.1 Summary of final report being presented to this committee 
This section summarises the report that has been finalised since the last meeting.  

Assignment Opinion issued Actions agreed 
H M L 

Council Owned Companies  
Objective of review: 

To assess the controls in place from the Council’s perspective on how the Council maintains 
adequate financial and governance arrangements for those companies operating on behalf of 
the Council.  

Our review focused on key areas of governance controls including contracts in place between 
the Council and its owned companies; approval of business plans and the detail documented 
within each plan; performance reporting mechanisms in place between each company; plus 
financial controls in place for any loans or grants provided by the Council and the Council’s 
Companies Committee who provide oversight of the companies or other venture business 
planning processes to ensure alignment with the Council’s overarching strategy. 

Overall conclusion and management actions:  

Overall, we found that there are controls in place for the governance and financial controls 
between the Council and the Council owned companies.  However, these controls were not 
always strictly adhered to and weaknesses were identified within the controls.  

We have agreed two ‘medium’ and three ‘low’ priority actions. The medium priority actions 
relate to: 

 Although a Work Programme is in place which is presented at each Companies Committee 
documenting the timeframes for each company to provide an update to the Committee and 

No opinions are issued for advisory reviews 0 2 3 

Page 4 of 23

16



 
 

     

 

South Kesteven District Council Progress Report | 5 
    
 

Assignment Opinion issued Actions agreed 
H M L 

what they are required to report, this lacks detail and Directors of the Council owned 
companies feel that some information requested is not applicable to the Committee and not 
required. Furthermore, through review of Companies Committee minutes, there is an 
inconsistency and disparity in what documents are produced and reported by each company 
due to a lack of formal guidance. This leads to Members questioning why the other 
companies are not presenting the same and further requests for documentation.  

 A Companies Committee Workshop – Key Messages and Conclusions session was held on 
28 July 2020 with attendance from Companies Committee Members and Cabinet Members 
which included members with positions on the Company Boards and other Company 
Directors. The outcomes from the Committee were to define the reporting requirements and 
frequency for each company through to the Companies Committee.  

Now a year has passed since the workshop, a follow up should be conducted to ensure it 
has met its objectives, otherwise the Committee may not be operating as effectively as 
possible. It was also highlighted that there is currently no formal guidance in place to advise 
staff on how these registrations and amendments should be verified and logged, risking 
inconsistent practices across the team. 

Medium Term Financial Planning 
Objective of review: 

To provide assurance over the controls in place to ensure that there is effective management of 
finances and delivery of planned savings within the Council.  

Overall assurance rating and management actions:  

Overall, the review identified that the Council have a robust framework in place in which the 
Budget Proposals are developed and reviewed.  We have identified elements of the process 
which are not formally documented. 

 

0 0 2 

Page 5 of 23

17



 
 

     

 

South Kesteven District Council Progress Report | 6 
    
 

Assignment Opinion issued Actions agreed 
H M L 

We have agreed two ‘low’ priority actions.  

These actions relate to: 

 It was confirmed at present, the Budget Proposals for 2021/22 are not directly linked to the 
Corporate Plan. The Corporate Plan was approved in October 2020 and will now be linked 
going forwards.  

 It was confirmed that there is currently no set policy within the Council in relation to validating 
savings as actual as opposed to aspirational or forecast. It was further confirmed that the 
built-in savings within the Budget Proposals for 2021/22 are not entirely documented and 
there is currently no savings programme to review. 

  

Page 6 of 23

18



 
 

     

 

South Kesteven District Council Progress Report | 7 
    
 

Appendix A – Progress against the internal audit plan 2021/22 
Assignment  Status / Opinion issued Actions agreed Audit Date agreed with 

management 
Governance and Audit 

Committee meeting H M L 

Disabled Facilities Grant Final report issued / Substantial Assurance 0 0 0 20 May 2021 July 2021 
Continuous Assurance 1 Final report issued / No opinions are issued 

for Continuous Assurance reviews 
0 3 2 1 June 2021 July 2021 

Follow Up 1  Final report issued / Reasonable Progress 0 1 2   2 June 2021 July 2021 
Local Authority Searches Final report issued / Reasonable Assurance 0 2 1 21 June 2021 October 2021 
Income and Banking Final report issued / Partial Assurance 3 2 5 21 June 2021 October 2021 
Follow Up 2 Final report issued / Reasonable Progress 0 3 1 9 August 2021 October 2021 
Housing Compliance  Final report issued / Partial Assurance 2 4 0 16 August 2021 October 2021 
Continuous Assurance 2 Final report issued / No opinions are issued 

for Continuous Assurance reviews 
1 2 6 31 August 2021 October 2021 

Council Owned Companies Final report issued / No opinion issued for 
advisory reviews 

0 2 3 13 September 2021 December 2021 

Medium Term Financial Planning Final report issued / Substantial Assurance 0 0 2 27 September 2021 December 2021 
Follow Up 3 Final report issued / Little Progress 0 6 3 18 October 2021 December 2021 
Street Scene – Stock See changes to the audit plan below    22 November 2021 December 2021 
Continuous Assurance 3 Draft report issued    15 November 2021 March 2022 
Follow Up 4 Fieldwork Underway    13 December 2021 March 2022 
Continuous Assurance 4 Not yet commenced    7 February 2022 March 2022 
 
 

Page 7 of 23

19



 
 

     

 

South Kesteven District Council Progress Report | 8 
    
 

Appendix B – Other matters 
Changes to the audit plan since the last Governance and Audit Committee meeting 
The current Covid-19 situation means that our clients and internal audit are working differently. We understand and recognise the Council’s strategic objectives, and that the 
developments around Covid-19 will continue to impact on all areas of the Council’s risk profile. We will work closely with management to deliver an internal audit programme 
which remains flexible and ‘agile’ to ensure it meets your needs in the current circumstances. 

The Street Scene – Stock review was unable to be completed in November 2021 as planned due to RSM being informed that the Council no longer hold any stock and 
therefore the scope areas were no longer relevant. The follow up actions from the prior year’s audit will now be included within the Follow Up 4 audit to be conducted in 
December 2021. 

Other assurance activity 
Note Activity Overview of output 
1 Housing Benefit Grant Validation We have completed the housing benefit grant validation testing and have provided the results to Management and the 

Council’s external auditors. 
This work was undertaken as a separate engagement and we do not see this as a conflict of interest. The work 
performed does not form part of the internal audit annual opinion. 

 

Page 8 of 23

20



 
 

     

 

 

rsmuk.com 
The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the 
weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. Actions for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact. This report, or our work, should not 
be taken as a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. We emphasise that the responsibility for a sound system of 
internal controls rests with management and our work should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may exist. Neither should our work be relied 
upon to identify all circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there be any. 

Our report is prepared solely for the confidential use of South Kesteven District Council and solely for the purposes set out herein. This report should not therefore be 
regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party wishing to acquire any rights from RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP for any purpose or in any context. 
Any third party which obtains access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on it (or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM 
UK Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party and shall not be liable for any loss, damage or expense of 
whatsoever nature which is caused by any person’s reliance on representations in this report. 

This report is released to you on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save as otherwise permitted by agreed written terms), without 
our prior written consent. 

 

For more information contact 
 
Rob Barnett, Head of Internal Audit  
Robert.Barnett@rsmuk.com  
07791 237 658 
 
Lisa Smith, Senior Manager   
Lisa.Smith@rsmuk.com   
07971 952 373 
 
 

Page 9 of 23

21

mailto:Robert.Barnett@rsmuk.com
mailto:Lisa.Smith@rsmuk.com


     

 
 

    2
 

 

With the use of secure portals for the transfer of information, and through 
electronic communication means, remote working has meant that we have 
been able to complete our audit and provide you with the assurances you 
require. It is these exceptional circumstances which mean that 100 per cent of 
our audit has been conducted remotely. 

Why we completed this audit 
An Advisory Review of some of the Council Owned Companies was 
undertaken at South Kesteven District Council as part of the approved internal 
audit periodic plan for 2021/22.  

Over recent years, the Council has set up several wholly owned companies 
with the purpose of providing greater flexibility in how the Council can operate 
and deliver on their strategic objectives. The Council owned companies 
reviewed were: 

 EnvironmentSK Ltd;  

 InvestSK Ltd; 

 LeisureSK Ltd; and 

 Gravitas Housing Ltd. 

Our review aimed to assess the controls in place from the Council’s 
perspective on how the Council maintains adequate financial and governance 
arrangements for those companies operating on behalf of the Council. 

Our review focused on key areas of governance controls including contracts in 
place between the Council and its owned companies; approval of business 
plans and the detail documented within each plan; performance reporting 
mechanisms in place between each company; plus financial controls in place 
for any loans or grants provided by the Council and the Council’s Companies 
Committee who provide oversight of the companies or other venture business 
planning processes to ensure alignment with the Council’s overarching 
strategy. 

Conclusion  
Overall, we found that there are controls in place for the governance and 
financial controls between the Council and the Council owned companies.   
However, these controls were not always strictly adhered to and weaknesses 
were identified within the controls.  

Two medium and three low priority management actions have been agreed 
with the Deputy Chief Executive and Assistant Director of Finance and 
included within this report in relation to consistency of performance reporting, 
defining roles and responsibilities, updating service specifications, consistency 
of business plans across the Council owned companies and updating of the 
Companies Committee’s Terms of Reference. 

As this review was undertaken as an Advisory Review, no formal opinion has 
been provided. 

Key findings 

We identified the following findings: 

 

A formal Service Level Agreement (SLA) or Service Specification is in 
place between each company and the Council apart from Gravitas 
Housing Limited, which outlines the relationship in detail. Gravitas 
Housing Limited does not require an agreement due to the nature of the 
work with the company being in place to deliver on one housing project 
and no ongoing support being provided from the Council. 

 

For each company we were able to evidence that a tailored Articles of 
Association is in place, or the model Articles of Association provided 
by Companies House, which specifies the regulations for each 
company’s operations, details members rights and defines the 
company’s purpose. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY – COUNCIL OWNED COMPANIES 

Page 10 of 23

22



     

 
 

    3
 

 

 

Review of the Companies Committee’s Terms of Reference (TOR) 
confirmed that this outlines the frequency of the meetings to be 
conducted and review of minutes confirmed these were adhered to. 

 

We were able to obtain insurance documentation to evidence that 
sufficient insurances and liabilities are in place for each of the Council 
owned companies, to ensure adequate cover and security is in place 
for both the company and its Directors. These were confirmed as in 
date and valid at the time of the review. 

 

For each of the companies included within the review, it was 
confirmed that the Directors and Board Members had been approved 
by the Companies Committee. This is how the Council ensure there 
are no conflicts of interest, and an appropriate skills mix is in place to 
run the company. 

 

Review of Council, Cabinet and Companies Committee meeting 
minutes confirmed that funding provided to each company had been 
formally approved by the Council and for EnvironmentSK and Gravitas 
Housing Limited, a loan agreement is in place detailing repayment and 
rates. The remaining two companies have grants provided by the 
Council which are approved annually as part of the budget approval 
process. 

Further testing confirmed that the loans provided to the Council owned 
companies for starting up are repaid in line with the loan agreement to 
the Council by the two companies; and in all instances, financial 
information was reported through to the Companies Committee in line 
with frequencies documented within the work programme. 

However, we have identified the following findings which have led to two      
medium and three low priority actions: 

 

Although a Work Programme is in place which is presented at each 
Companies Committee documenting the timeframes for each company to 
provide an update to the Committee and what they are required to report,  

this lacks detail and Directors of the Council owned companies feel that 
some information requested is not applicable to the Committee and not 
required. Furthermore, through review of Companies Committee minutes, 
there is an inconsistency and disparity in what documents are produced 
and reported by each company due to a lack of formal guidance. This 
leads to Members questioning why the other companies are not 
presenting the same and further requests for documentation. 

 

A Companies Committee Workshop – Key Messages & Conclusions 
session was held on 28 July 2020 with attendance from Companies 
Committee Members and Cabinet Members which included members 
with positions on the Company Boards and other Company Directors. 
The outcomes from the Committee were to define the reporting 
requirements and frequency for each company through to the Companies 
Committee.  
Now a year has passed since the workshop, a follow up should be 
conducted to ensure it has met its objectives, otherwise the Committee 
may not be operating as effectively as possible. 

 

EnvironmentSK (ESK) have in place a Services Specification, which 
was in place between the previous grounds maintenance provider and 
South Kesteven District Council and was for the period 1 March 2014 to 
28 February 2018 with the option for 24-month extension. This requires 
updating to reflect the actual processes and requirements in place 
between the Council and ESK as opposed to the relationship between 
the Council and the previous provider. Some inconsistencies and 
inaccuracies have been identified by the Directors with the Services 
Specification such as the dimensions and boundaries of some of the 
areas covered for grounds maintenance and therefore these need 
further updating. 

 

 

Page 11 of 23

23



     

 
 

    4
 

 

A comparison of the Service Specification for each of the four companies 
identified that reporting requirements had been documented for all 
companies, except for InvestSK; therefore, as good practice, InvestSK 
should document reporting requirements within their agreement of 
services.  

 

Documented Business Plans were in place for each of the four companies, 
however, these were not always consistent with the use of varied templates 
and inconsistent documenting of risks, and these plans require updating 
annually to ensure they reflect current plans and statuses of the companies.

 

The Companies Committee’s Terms of Reference (TOR) were reviewed, 
and feedback was provided from the Directors of the Council owned 
companies that the Committee can query operational matters which are 
outside their remit. As the Committee is still new, due to only being 
formed in November 2019, a review of the TOR would also be beneficial 
to confirm these are kept up to date with the roles and responsibilities 
and include quorum as good practice. 

 

Page 12 of 23

24



 

5 
 

 

2. DETAILED FINDINGS AND ACTIONS 
 

This report has been prepared by exception. Therefore, we have included in this section, only those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in 
control identified from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Area: Agreement of Services  

Control: A formal Service Level Agreement (SLA) or Contract is in place between the Council and the four Council 
owned companies which outlines the roles and responsibilities of both parties in detail. This is signed and 
dated by both parties. 

Assessment: 

Control 

Compliance 

 

 

x 

Findings / 
Implications 

InvestSK 

InvestSK (ISK) have in place an Agreement of Services which was created on 17 October 2018. This is a rolling agreement valid until 
terminated by either party and the conditions for termination have been included within the contract. The contract had also been signed by 
both parties. The agreement details the services and obligations that ISK are required to provide to the Council and adhere to. This states 
that funding has been provided, with the intention to enable ISK to deliver initiatives which drive significant growth in the economy of South 
Kesteven, as well as progressing an important programme of associated delivery such as enhancing the District’s town centres, 
developing the skills required for businesses to flourish, making the most of South Kesteven’s visitor economy and celebrating arts and 
heritage.  

The Council’s obligations are also detailed; these require that payments are made to ISK within 30 days upon receipt of an invoice unless 
the amount is disputed and, where this occurs, the Council will notify InvestSK immediately of the dispute giving full reasons. We were 
however unable to identify any reporting requirements within the agreement. 

LeisureSK 

LeisureSK (LSK) have in place a Leisure Services Specification which was created in November 2020. The contract has been signed by 
the Council and LSK. The Services Specification details the required performance standards LSK must meet such as maintaining 
accreditations and receiving customer feedback. It also details the services that LeisureSK must provide at the specified leisure facilities. 
The specific leisure facilities that the Services Specification cover have also been documented. The Services Specification has been 
specifically structured to provide a clear understanding on the required outcome, performance standards and reporting requirements.  

The required outcome structure provides LSK with a high-level view of the required outcome of each element of the services. Performance 
standards determine the level of performance that LSK are required to meet, and these establish whether LSK is meeting the Council’s 
requirements. The introduction section also makes clear that the monitoring of LSK’s achievement of the Performance Standards will be 
measured in accordance with the Specification Agreement, and LSK are obliged to report on their performance in accordance with and to 
meet the Performance Standards set out in this Specification Agreement. 

Specific reporting requirements have been specified as LSK being required to provide a Monthly Performance Monitoring Report to the 
Council containing evidence pertaining to the delivery of the Council’s outcomes and action points will be documented where non-
compliance is identified. 

Page 13 of 23

25



 

6 
 

 

Area: Agreement of Services  

EnvironmentSK 

EnvironmentSK (ESK) have in place a Services Specification which was created between the previous grounds maintenance company 
and South Kesteven District Council for the period of 1 March 2014 to 28 February 2018 with the option for 24-month extension. 
Therefore, this requires updating to reflect the current requirements and relationship between ESK and the Council including reporting 
requirements. The Projects Officer for Corporate Operations confirmed there is a signed version of the contract, however, this had not 
been provided as part of the audit as it is in the Legal Deed Store. 

Prior to incorporation of ESK, grounds maintenance service was contracted to a private company. When ESK was incorporated, they 
adopted the existing service specification in order to not destabilise the teams in place and service being provided as staff also  TUPE 
transferred over. However, it was confirmed with the Directors of ESK that the specification is not wholly accurate in terms of the 
dimensions of some areas covered for grounds maintenance. The Council need to ensure that the specification is reviewed and updated 
to ensure it reflects its operational requirements.  This can then be presented to the Directors of ESK to determine whether there are any 
financial implications arising from any changes. Review also confirmed there are many areas within the document that are now not valid or 
out of date and require updating such as requirements to report to Shareholder Committee which no longer exists. 

Gravitas Housing 

The Assistant Director of Finance advised that there is no specific service level agreement, specification or contract in place between the 
Council and Gravitas as there is no ongoing support from the Council financially. The arrangements for Gravitas are with external parties, 
specifically the property agents.  

Management 
Action 1 

InvestSK 

The Council should ask ISK to document reporting requirements 
within the Agreement of Services.  

EnvironmentSK  

The Council should ask ESK to update the Service Specification 
to reflect the new relationship between the company and the 
Council and include areas such as current reporting requirements. 

Responsible Owner:  

Director of Growth & Culture 

 

Director of Commercial & Operations 

Date:  

31 January 
2022 

31 July 2022 
 

Priority: 

Low 

 

 

 

 

Page 14 of 23

26



 

7 
 

 

Area: Business Plan   

Control: Each Company has an approved Business Plan drafted by the Directors which includes details of the 
company structure and the Council owned companies’ objectives, and financial plans. This is updated 
annually as required and is formally presented to the Companies Committee. 

Assessment: 

Control 

Compliance 

 

 

x 

Findings / 
Implications 

For all four companies where we were able to evidence and obtain detailed Business Plans dated: 

 InvestSK – September 2020; 
 LeisureSK – January 2021; 
 EnvironmentSK – June 2021; and 
 Gravitas Housing – January 2017. 

The Business Plans followed a similar theme with key areas included such as an executive summary including keys to success, 
background to the company including ownership and services provided, marketing and sales, and financials such as actuals and 
projections. 

The Business Plans link in with the overarching Council Strategy and objectives by delivering products and services to the public and 
enhancing their delivery in these designated areas. 

The following exceptions and issues were identified: 

InvestSK 

This plan was last updated in September 2020 and is required to be updated annually, and therefore, is due for update at the time of the 
audit to confirm it is up to date with current processes and plans. 

LeisureSK 

One of the key differences noted in comparison to other Business Plans was that the plan had not considered or documented any 
business risks and implications, which is something the business should incorporate moving forwards. 

EnvironmentSK 

The Business Plan is required to be formally updated annually and is in the process of being updated, prior to being discussed at 
Companies Committee later in 2021. One of the Directors of ESK confirmed that this is taking place and is on track. 

Gravitas Housing 

Through review, it was identified this document requires updating as it contains out of date references to the Shareholder Committee 
which is no longer in place and further developments have occurred since the introduction of this Business Plan in 2017. 

In the September 2020 Companies Committee meeting, following the Workshop conducted in July 2020, the Committee agreed a 
standard preferred template for Business Plans to follow and cover all areas they would require to see and follow a consistent template 
across the companies. However, as the Business Plan was created in 2017, the new standard template is not followed as this was created 
in 2020. This Business Plan is also required to be updated annually in line with other Companies.  

Page 15 of 23

27



 

8 
 

 

Area: Business Plan   

In June 2021, while providing an update to the Committee, the Committee was told that the Business Plan is still valid as it relates to the 
same project and is continuing to deliver against this. 

Management 
Action 2 

InvestSK 

The Council should ask ISK to update the Business Plan annually 
and document within the version control in line with the review 
period of the other Companies. 

LeisureSK 

The Council should ask LSK to update the Business Plan to 
include risks to the company in line with the other Companies 
Business Plans. 

EnvironmentSK 

The Council should ask ESK to continue to formally update the 
Business Plan and document within the version control. 

Gravitas Housing 

The Council should ask Gravitas to update the Business Plan in 
the new template and presented to the Companies Committee. 
This will then be formally reviewed, updated and presented 
annually. 

Responsible Owner:  

Director of Growth & Culture 

 

 

Head of Leisure 

 

 

Director of Commercial & Operations 

 

 

 

Assistant Director of Finance 

Date:  

31 January 
2022 

 

31 January 
2022 

 

31 March 2022 

 

 

 

 

31 March 2022 

Priority: 

Low 

 

Area: Performance Reporting   

Control: Performance of each company is reported to the Companies Committee twice per year which is outlined in 
the annual work plan provided to the Companies Committee. 

Assessment: 

Control 

Compliance 

 

 

x 

Findings / 
Implications 

Companies are required to provide an update to the Companies Committee of their performance and progress against the Business Plan 
as a minimum twice per year. Review of the Companies Committee minutes from the 2020/21 year and 2021/22 year confirmed 
performance updates were provided for each company on: 

 InvestSK – June 2021 and September 2020. 
 LeisureSK – September 2021, February 2021, October 2020 and September 2020. 
 EnvironmentSK – September 2021, June 2021, September 2020 and June 2020. 
 Gravitas Housing – June 2021, February 2021 and September 2020. 

Reports provided as part of these strategic performance updates include financial performance and progress against the Business Plans. 

Page 16 of 23

28



 

9 
 

 

Area: Performance Reporting   

The following details any exceptions and issues with regards to strategic performance reporting: 

InvestSK 

The next update is due in November 2021. Updates provided at these meetings have included details of financial performance, 
performance and progress against the Business Plan. However, in 2020 this was only provided once and did not adhere to the agreed 
timeframe of a minimum six-monthly update due to some meetings being cancelled due to Covid-19. 

EnvironmentSK 

The only deviation from the Work Programme set by the Companies Committee for strategic performance reporting related to the April 
2021 meeting which was cancelled where the Management Accounts and AGM Notes were required to be submitted. Financials were 
instead presented at the June 2021 meeting. 

 

Overall, for the Companies, a Work Programme is in place which is presented at each Companies Committee documenting the 
timeframes for reporting of each company and what they are required to report. However, through discussion with key Directors for each 
company that there is still some disparity and confusion as to exactly what should be presented in terms of detail and documentation as 
some is commercially sensitive or operational. Therefore, they feel that some of this information is not applicable to the Committee and not 
required. 

In addition, through review of Companies Committee meeting minutes and performance packs, an inconsistency of the level of detail and 
volume being reported through to the Committee varied from company to company due to the lack of formal guidance on what should be 
presented. This leads to Members questioning why the other companies are not presenting the same and leads to further requests for 
documentation.  

Management 
Action 3 

The Work Programme should be further developed to provide 
specifics on the level of detail required by each company to 
ensure only information required is in accordance with the terms 
of reference of the Committee. The work programme should be 
developed by the Companies Committee Members and follow the 
terms of reference for the Committee. 

Performance templates will be created to ensure consistency from 
all Companies reporting into the Companies Committee. These 
will include standard metrics agreed by the Council and include 
financial performance reporting against the business plan. 

Responsible Owner:  

Head of Democratic Services 

Date:  

31 March 2022 

Priority: 

Medium 

 

Page 17 of 23

29



 

10 
 

 

Area: Companies Committee    

Control: A Companies Committee is in place which is responsible for overseeing and assessing strategic 
performance of Council owned companies. This includes reviewing strategic performance updates and 
scrutiny of business plans. A detailed Terms of Reference (TOR) is in place which clearly outlines their roles 
and responsibilities. 

Assessment: 

Control 

Compliance 

 

 

x 

Findings / 
Implications 

The first meeting of the Companies Committee was conducted on 19 November 2019 with this Committee replacing the Shareholder 
Committee. As part of this initial meeting, the Terms of Reference (TOR) for the Companies Committee were outlined and the 
membership, frequency and purpose were clearly documented. The primary purpose of the Committee is to provide oversight of company 
or other venture business planning processes to ensure alignment with the Council’s overarching strategy whilst recognising the 
operational independence of the company/venture.  

The remit of the Committee outlined is to: 

• Consider proposals on the creation of any new company or joint venture, and make recommendations to Cabinet as to the need, 
desirability and business objectives of the new entity prior to its creation;  

• Approve and monitor Strategic Business Plans of any new company/joint venture together with any substantive changes to those plans;  

• Have oversight on an annual basis of the Strategic Business Plans of existing companies/joint ventures and to consider any substantive 
changes to those plans;  

• Receive reports and evaluate strategic performance, including financial performance, against Strategic Business Plans; 

• Make recommendations to the Cabinet on:  

- Appropriate skills and expertise at Board level;  

- The strategic objectives; 

- The strategic direction; and  

• Approve the appointment of company directors, subject to the Articles of Association of the company concerned. 

Although the TOR contents recognise the remit of the Committee, feedback has been provided from the Directors of the Companies that 
the Committee can query operational matters and therefore the TOR should be made clearer to outline the specific strategic matters to 
consider and make clearer the boundaries for the Committee. Furthermore, as good practice, since the Committee is still new due to only 
being formed in November 2019, a review of the TOR would be beneficial to confirm these are kept up to date with the roles and 
responsibilities. Furthermore, quorum could not be identified through review of the TOR and therefore this should be added as good 
practice. 

Management 
Action 4 

The Companies Committee Terms of Reference should be 
reviewed and updated to specifically detail the strategic remit of 
the Committee and to ensure they remain up to date. This should 
include objectives of the Committee, their roles and 
responsibilities and areas not to be covered. 

Responsible Owner:  

Head of Democratic Services 

Date:  

31 May 2022 

Priority: 

Low 

Page 18 of 23

30



 

11 
 

 

Area: Companies Committee    

Feedback from the Companies could be requested to identify any 
improvements from their perspective. 

Quorum for the Companies Committee should be agreed and 
documented within the TOR. 

 

Area: Training    

Control: Training has been provided to each of the Company Boards to formally detail their role and requirements. Assessment: 

Control 

Compliance 

 

 

x 

Findings / 
Implications 

In relation to training, within the Council, a Companies Committee Workshop – Key Messages & Conclusions session was held on 28 July 
2020 and presented back to the Committee on 22 September 2020. This session had attendance from the Companies Committee 
Members and Cabinet Members which included members with positions on the Company Boards and other Company Directors. The 
outcomes from the workshop were to define the reporting requirements and frequency for each company to report through to the 
Companies Committee. This is now used to inform the Companies Committee Work Programme. Following the completion of this session 
in July 2020, now a year has passed, without a follow up workshop, there is a risk the objectives of this meeting may not have been met or 
may need altering for the coming year. 

Management 
Action 5 

A follow up workshop for the Companies Committee will be 
conducted to assess the effectiveness of the Committee and 
whether the desired outcomes from the previous workshop have 
been achieved. 

An annual exercise should be completed by the Companies 
Committee to assess effectiveness and maturity of the 
Committee. 

Responsible Owner:  

Head of Democratic Services 

Date:  

28 February 
2022 

Priority: 

Medium 

Page 19 of 23

31



     

 
 

    2
 

 

With the use of secure portals for the transfer of information, and through 
electronic communication means, remote working has meant that we have 
been able to complete our audit and provide you with the assurance you 
require. It is these exceptional circumstances which mean that 100 per cent of 
our audit has been conducted remotely. Based on the information provided by 
you, we have been able to sample test.  

Why we completed this audit 
A review of the Medium Term Financial Planning (Budget Proposals) was 
undertaken at South Kesteven District Council as part of the approved internal 
audit periodic plan for 2021/22. 

The Council aim to provide core local services including economic 
development, planning, housing, leisure, wellbeing and environmental 
services for local communities. The Council are funded via three main 
sources: direct funding from national government (central government grants), 
a tax on commercial properties (business rates) and a tax on residential 
properties (council tax). This requires the Council to have a tight grasp on 
expected income and expenditure for which they prepare an annual Medium 
Term Financial Plan which sets out the financial plan for the coming year. 
Therefore, it is important to audit this process to ensure controls are in place 
and working effectively to achieve this. 

The Budget Proposals are actively monitored and reported monthly to the 
Finance Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (FEDCO) to provide continual reporting and assurance of 
the financial status of the Council. 

Conclusion  
Overall, the review identified that the Council have a robust framework in 
place in which the Budget Proposals are developed and reviewed.  

 

 

We have identified elements of the process which are not formally 
documented, which has resulted in two ‘low’ priority management actions 
being agreed with management.  

Internal audit opinion: 

Taking account of the 
issues identified, the 
Council can take 
substantial assurance 
that the controls upon 
which the organisation 
relies to manage this 
area are suitably 
designed, consistently 
applied and effective. 

 

 

Key findings 

We identified the following areas of good control design which, based on 
our testing, were being complied with in practice: 

 

The Budget Proposals for 2021/22 and the indicative Budgets for 
2022/23 and 2023/24 were written by the Assistant Director of 
Finance and reviewed and signed off by the Head of Finance and 
Chief Executive in December 2020 with final sign off undertaken by 
the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources on the 30 
December 2020.  

  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY – MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING  

Page 20 of 23

32



     

 
 

    3
 

 

 

The Budget Proposals for 2021/22 are directly reported to the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee with recommendations 
highlighted before being presented to Cabinet where further review 
and recommendations are put in place prior to being presented to 
Council for approval. This was confirmed through review of meeting 
minutes and report packs. 

Additional monitoring is undertaken throughout the year by the 
Finance Economic Development Corporate Services Overview 
Committee (FEDCO) to provide reviews who in turn directly report to 
Council. Overspends are reported via these governance forums to 
provide oversight and understanding of the reasons. 

 

The Council carry out appropriate scenario planning/sensitivity 
analysis and allocate potential detrimental risks to the Council`s 
budget and ensure an appropriate monitoring framework is in place 
to continually review risks associated with the budget. 

 

The Council use a third party analysis company to provide the 
Council with comprehensive data of projections and assumptions 
for councils across the country and parliamentary updates which 
provide the Council with critical information in order to underpin 
the financial projections.  

 

Budget Proposals for 2021/22 and the indicative budget 
proposals for years 2022/23 and 2023/24 written by the Assistant 
Director of Finance are reviewed and scrutinised by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and FEDCO on a monthly basis to 
ensure continual monitoring and to provide recommendations. 
Budget Proposals are provided to Cabinet annually for review and 
sign off. 

 

The Council have a formulated risk register in place as part of the 
Budget Proposal for 2021/22 to list, monitor and review potential 
overspend in high-risk budget areas with an appropriate owner for 
review. 

We identified the following findings where management actions were 
agreed: 

 

It was confirmed at present, the Budget Proposals for 2021/22 are 
not directly linked to the Corporate Plan. The Corporate Plan was 
approved in October 2020 and will now be linked going forwards. 
(Low) 

 

It was confirmed that there is currently no set policy within the 
Council in relation to validating savings as actual as opposed to 
aspirational or forecast. It was further confirmed that the built-in 
savings within the Budget Proposals for 2021/22 are not entirely 
documented and there is currently no savings programme to 
review. (Low) 

Page 21 of 23

33



 

4 
 

 

DETAILED FINDINGS AND ACTIONS 
This report has been prepared by exception. We have therefore only included in this section those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in 
control identified from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Objective: Effective management of finances and delivery of planned savings. 

Control 1 

 

Missing Control: 

The Medium Term Financial Plan is directly linked to the Council’s three year Corporate Plan and stated 
ambitions. 

Assessment: 

Design 

Compliance 

 

× 

- 

Findings / 
Implications 

It has been confirmed by the Assistant Director of Finance that the Budget Proposals for 2021/22 is currently not directly linked to the 
Corporate Plan and this was further confirmed through review of these documents. This is currently work in progress, and it is noted 
that following the appointment of the new Chief Executive in March 2020 and the new Corporate Plan being agreed and implemented in 
October 2020, the Budget Proposals for 2021/22 will be aligned to the Corporate Plan during the 2021/22 financial year. 

There is a potential risk whereby the Corporate Plan may not be achieved as the Budget Proposals are not directly linked to the aims 
documented and therefore may not align. 

Management 
Action 1 

Management will ensure that the Budget Proposals 2021/22 and 
indicative proposals for 2022/23 and 2023/24 will be directly 
linked to the Council`s Corporate Plan moving forwards. 

Responsible Owner: 

Assistant Director of Finance  

Date: 

31 January 
2022 

Priority: 

Low 

     

Objective: Effective management of finances and delivery of planned savings. 

Control 2 

 

Missing Control: 

The Council have a process for validating savings as actual and not aspirational or forecast savings. 

Assessment: 

Design 

Compliance 

 

× 

- 

Findings / 
Implications 

It has been confirmed by the Assistant Director of Finance that there is currently no set policy within the Council in relation to validating 
savings and confirmed that the built-in savings within the Budget Proposals for 2021/22 are not well documented and there is currently 
no savings programme that can be currently reviewed for this program of work. 

The Assistant Director of Finance has confirmed that aspirational and forecast savings are documented within the Budget Proposals for 
2021/22 and are reviewed and reported to the Joint Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to being presented to the Council. 

Page 22 of 23

34



 

5 
 

 

Through review of the Budget Proposals for 2021/22 and the indicative Budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24 it was confirmed that there is 
a clear tabled guide of the outlined potential savings incorporated into the report which details the Key Budgetary Proposals for 2021/22 
including but not limited to: 

 Removal of public convenience attendants in Grantham and Stamford; 

 Increase of internal recharges to the General Fund from the Housing Revenue Account for 2021/22 of £150k to reflect the 
increased central support that is required to respond to the findings arisen from the Internal Audit compliance report; 

 Corporate salary reductions arising from targeted service reviews; and 

 Car parking tariff improvements (resulting in additional income). 

Each section of potential savings is then further split with commentary and an estimated figure of saving for the Council, provided that 
delivery is attained. 

There is a risk whereby forecast and projected savings outlined within the Budget Proposals are not recorded as actuals resulting in the 
accurate figures of how much savings has been recorded and reported. 

Management 
Action 2 

Management will ensure that the process for validating savings 
will be recorded and reported as actual savings and not 
aspirational or forecast savings. 

Responsible Owner: 

Head of Finance and ICT 

Date: 

30 November 
2021  

Priority: 

Low 

 

  

Page 23 of 23

35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Follow Up 3 

Internal audit report 12.21/22 

REVISED FINAL 

10 December 2021 

This report is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed. To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP will 
accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party.  

37

A
genda Item

 6



     

 
 

    2
 

 

 

With the use of secure portals for the transfer of information, and through electronic communication means, remote working has meant that we have been able to 
complete our audit and provide you with the assurances you require. It is these exceptional circumstances which mean that 100 per cent of our audit has been 
conducted remotely. Based on the information provided by you, we have been able to sample test, or complete full population testing using data analytics tools. 

Background 
We have undertaken a review to follow up on progress made to implement the previously agreed management actions from the following audits: 

 07.20/21 Follow Up 2; and 

 11.20/21 Consultants and Agency Staff. 

The 20 management actions considered in this review comprised of 11 medium and nine low categorised priority actions. Concentrating on the actions classified as 
medium, the focus of this review was to provide assurance that all actions previously agreed have been satisfactorily implemented. For actions categorised as low 
we have accepted management's assurance regarding their implementation.  

Conclusion  
Taking account of the issues identified in the remainder of the report and in line with our definitions set out in Appendix A, in our opinion South Kesteven District 
Council has demonstrated little progress in implementing agreed management actions. Our testing has found that six actions have been fully implemented, two 
actions have been partially implemented and seven actions have not been implemented. Five of the actions followed up have not been reflected within our 
conclusion as evidence was not provided by the Action Owners. 

 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

38



     

 
 

    3
 

 

The following graph highlights the progress made on the actions that have been followed up. Five of the initial 20 actions followed up had no evidence provided by 
Action Owners and therefore have been excluded from our graph below. 

 

Further details of progress made are provided in this report. It is important to note that until a management action is fully implemented, the Council is still exposed 
to risk.  

 

 
 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

07.20/21 Follow Up 2

11.20/21 Consultants and Agency Staff

In Progress Not implemented Implemented (Incl Superceded)

39



     

 
 

    4
 

 

Progress on actions 
The following table includes details of the status of each management action: 

 
Implementation status by review 

 
Number of 

actions 
agreed 

Status of management actions  

Impl. (1) Impl. ongoing 
(2) 

Not impl. (3) Superseded 
(4) 

Confirmation as 
completed or no 
longer necessary 

(1)+(4) 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2 11 3 2 6 0 3 

11.20/21 Consultants and Agency Staff 4 3 0 1 0 3 

Total 15 

 

6  

(40%) 

2 

(13%) 

7  

(47%) 

0 

(0%) 

6 

(40%) 

 

*Five of the initial 20 actions followed up had no evidence provided by Action Owners and therefore have been excluded from our table. 

 

 

 

 

 

40



 

5 
 

 

2 FINDINGS AND MANAGEMENT ACTIONS 
Status Detail 

1 The entire action has been fully implemented. 

2 The action has been partly though not yet fully implemented. 

3 The action has not been implemented. 

4 The action has been superseded and is no longer applicable. 

5 The action is not yet due. 

 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2  

Original 
management 
action / 
priority 

A Communications Strategy will be developed, and this will either include Social Media or a separate document will be developed. 

Management Update: Action implementation ongoing. 

 

Medium  

Audit finding 
/ status 

It has been confirmed by the Deputy Chief Executive that the appointment of the position of Head of Communication was April 2021 but 
subsequently the successful applicant left in June 2021. The recruitment for the position is being actively pursued at the time of the audit 
being undertaken. 

Once this position has been filled a Communication Strategy will be implemented and rolled out. 

3: The action has not been implemented 

Management 
Action 1 

A Communications Strategy will be developed, and this will either include 
Social Media or a separate document will be developed. 

 

Responsible Owner:  

Deputy Chief Executive 

Date:  

30 June 2022 

Priority: 

Medium 

 

 

 

 

41



 

6 
 

 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2  

Original 
management 
action / 
priority 

A Social Media Plan will be created that supports our Communications Strategy. 

Management Update: Action implementation ongoing. 

 

Low  

Audit finding 
/ status 

It has been confirmed by the Deputy Chief Executive that the appointment of the position of Head of Communication was April 2021 but 
subsequently the successful applicant left in June 2021. The recruitment for the position is being actively pursued at the time of the audit 
being undertaken. 

Once this position has been filled a Communication Strategy will be implemented and rolled out. 

3: The action has not been implemented. 

Management 
Action 2 

A Social Media Plan will be created that supports the Communications 
Strategy. 

Responsible Owner:  

Deputy Chief Executive 

Date:  

30 June 2022 

Priority: 

Low 

 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2  

Original 
management 
action / 
priority 

A Voids Policy will be produced which details the Council's current void management process. 

 

Medium 

Audit finding 
/ status 

It has been confirmed by the Director of Housing and Property that a Voids Policy has been drafted and is currently going through the 
Democratic process with an expected sign off by Cabinet in March 2022. 

2: The action has been partly though not yet fully implemented. 

Management 
Action 3 

A Voids Policy will be approved by Cabinet which details the Council's 
current void management process. 

 

Responsible Owner:  

Head of Housing Technical 
Services  

Date:  

31 March 2022  

Priority: 

Medium 

 

 

42



 

7 
 

 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2  

Original 
management 
action / 
priority 

The procedure note in place for the Voids Department will be reviewed and updated to reflect current working practices.  

A set review date will also be documented. 

 

Low 

Audit finding 
/ status 

It has been confirmed by the Director of Housing and Property that procedure notes have been fully implemented on the 01 July 2021 this 
is supported by a detailed process map. 

We have received and reviewed the New Proposed Void Work Process; the document is a detailed process map which clearly outlines 
each step undertaken during the voids process to reflect the current practices of the Council. additionally, it is noted that the document 
dated and/ or version controlled and there is no clear note of a set review date for the document. 

2: The action has been partly though not yet fully implemented. 

Management 
Action 4 

Ensure that the New Proposed Void Work Process document is dated and/ 
or version controlled, and a set review date is documented. 

Responsible Owner:  

Head of Housing Technical 
Services  

Date:  

31 March 2022 

Priority: 

Low 

 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2  

Original 
management 
action / 
priority 

Training will be provided to staff members within the Void Department regarding the recovery of re-charges identified from Void 
Inspections. 

 

Medium 

Audit finding 
/ status 

It has been confirmed by the Director of Housing and Property that there is currently no progress against this action and the full action 
remains outstanding in its entirety. Therefore, the original action has been re-iterated. 

3: The action has not been implemented.  

Management 
Action 5 

Training will be provided to staff members within the Void Department 
regarding the recovery of re-charges identified from Void Inspections. 

 

Responsible Owner:  

Head of Housing Technical 
Services  

Date:  

31 March 2022 

Priority: 

Medium 

 

 

43



 

8 
 

 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2  

Original 
management 
action / 
priority 

The Re-Chargeable Repairs Policy will be reviewed and updated to ensure it is reflective of current working practices.  

Additionally, a set review date and version control will be added to the document. 

 

Low 

Audit finding 
/ status 

It has been confirmed by the Director of Housing and Property that there is currently no progress against this action and the full action 
remains outstanding in its entirety. Therefore, the original action has been re-iterated. 

3: The action has not been implemented. 

Management 
Action 6 

The Re-Chargeable Repairs Policy will be reviewed and updated to ensure 
it is reflective of current working practices.  

Additionally, a set review date and version control will be added to the 
document. 

Responsible Owner:  

Head of Housing Technical 
Services  

Date:  

31 March 2022 

Priority: 

Low 

 

 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2  

Original 
management 
action / 
priority 

A review will be undertaken of the recovery process for void re-charges. 

 

Medium 

Audit finding 
/ status 

It has been confirmed by the Director of Housing and Property that there is currently no progress against this action and the full action 
remains outstanding in its entirety. Therefore, the original action has been re-iterated. 

3: The action has not been implemented. 

Management 
Action 7 

A review will be undertaken of the recovery process for void re-charges. 

 

Responsible Owner:  

Head of Housing Technical 
Services  

Date:  

31 March 2022 

Priority: 

Medium 

 

 

 

44



 

9 
 

 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2  

Original 
management 
action / 
priority 

The current KPI's in place for the void management process will be reviewed and revised to ensure they are reflective of current 
operational practices. 

 

Medium 

Audit finding 
/ status 

It has been confirmed by the Director of Housing and Property that a new contract has been procured, and the contractor commenced the 
contract from April 2021 with a new set of KPIs produced and put in place.  

We have not received the supporting evidence to validate the action therefore the original action has been re-iterated 

3: The action has not been implemented. 

Management 
Action 8 

The current KPI's in place for the void management process will be 
reviewed and revised to ensure they are reflective of current operational 
practices. 

Responsible Owner:  

Head of Housing Technical 
Services  

Date:  

31 March 2022 

Priority: 

Medium 

 

 

11.20/21 Consultants and Agency Staff  

Original 
management 
action / 
priority 

Consultancy Plus monitoring reports will be produced, reviewed, and reported to the Corporate Management Team. 

 

Medium 

Audit finding 
/ status 

It has been confirmed by the Deputy Chief Executive that there has currently been no movement regarding this action and therefore the 
action is still in place to be worked upon. Therefore, the original action has been re-iterated. 

3: The action has not been implemented. 

Management 
Action 9 

Consultancy Plus monitoring reports will be produced, reviewed, and 
reported to the Corporate Management Team. 

Responsible Owner:  

Deputy Chief Executive 

Date:  

31 March 2022 

Priority: 

Medium 

 

 

 

 

45



 

10 
 

 

APPENDIX A: DEFINITIONS FOR PROGRESS MADE 
The following opinions are given on the progress made in implementing actions. This opinion relates solely to the implementation of those actions followed up 
and does not reflect an opinion on the entire control environment. 

 Progress in 
implementing 
actions 

Overall number of 
actions fully 
implemented 

Consideration of high 
priority actions  

Consideration of medium 
priority actions 

Consideration of low priority 
actions 

Good 75% + None outstanding. None outstanding. 
All low actions outstanding are 
in the process of being 
implemented. 

Reasonable 51 – 75% None outstanding. 
75% of medium actions made 
are in the process of being 
implemented. 

75% of low actions made are 
in the process of being 
implemented. 

Little 30 – 50% 
All high actions outstanding 
are in the process of being 
implemented. 

50% of medium actions made 
are in the process of being 
implemented. 

50% of low actions made are 
in the process of being 
implemented. 

Poor < 30% 
Unsatisfactory progress has 
been made to implement 
high priority actions. 

Unsatisfactory progress has 
been made to implement 
medium actions.  

Unsatisfactory progress has 
been made to implement low 
actions. 

46



 

11 
 

 

APPENDIX B: ACTIONS COMPLETED OR SUPERSEDED  
From the testing conducted during this review we have found the following actions to have been fully implemented and superseded.  

Assignment title Management actions 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2 Implemented  
The Governance and Risk Officer will discuss further training needs at the next Risk Management Group. 
Management Update: Risk Management Group will be scheduled for April 
 
Priority: Medium 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2 Implemented  
The Head of Finance will remind Heads of Service, via an email, of the importance of attending Risk 
Management Group. 

Management Update: A reminder will be sent out ahead of the next Risk Management Group 

 

Priority: Low 

01.20/21 Follow Up 2 Implemented 

Going forward, the Major Void Refurbishments budget will be re-evaluated and closely monitored to ensure 
actual and committed spend against the budget are in line with set forecasts. 

 

Priority: Low 

11.20/21 Consultants and Agency 
Staff 

Implemented  

All Heads of Service will be reminded to ensure that:  

a) All the procurement and contractual documentation is maintained  

b) Due diligence checks are undertaken and evidence to confirm the checks are maintained on file. 

c) Monitoring of consultants against milestones and performance measures and deadlines is undertaken to 
ensure value of money is being achieved and an audit trail is maintained on file. 

 

Priority: Medium 

47



 

12 
 

 

Assignment title Management actions 

11.20/21 Consultants and Agency 
Staff 

Implemented  

All the relevant staff will be reminded to ensure that contracts/ agreements:  

- Are in place for the chosen consultant.  

- The contracts/agreements are signed by both parties.  

- The contracts/agreements are maintained in a folder in a central location. 

 

Priority: Medium 

11.20/21 Consultants and Agency 
Staff 

Implemented  
A Recruitment Framework will be put into place on the intranet to include up to date guidance and procedures 
on both consultants and agency workers. 
 
Priority: Low 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

48



 

13 
 

 

APPENDIX C: ACTIONS NO INFORMATION WAS PROVIDED FOR  
From the testing conducted during this review we have found the following actions to have been fully implemented and superseded.  

Assignment title Management actions 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2 A log of all training that staff attend, including additional and internal courses, will be maintained by 
management. 
 
Priority: Low 

07.20/21 Follow Up 2 Management will remind staff, via email, to upload all application documentation, including the extension of 
time notice, to the Planning system. 
 
Priority: Low 

11.20/21 Consultants and Agency 
Staff 

All the relevant Managers will be reminded to ensure that: 
a) The Agency Worker - request/ extension form is completed and is subject to authorisation for the 
recruitment of agency workers. 
b) The Agency Worker – request/ extension form is completed for the extension of agency staff contracts. 
c) The extension to the contract is subject to approval from Finance and the relevant Director.  
d) A copy of the Agency Worker - request/ extension form is maintained on file in a central location. 
 
Priority: Medium 

11.20/21 Consultants and Agency 
Staff 

a) All Heads of Service will be reminded to ensure that:   
 - Monitoring is undertaken to ensure that value for money is being obtained and the benefits outweigh the 
costs of using agency staff.  
- The performance of the agency staff is monitored.   
b) Evidence to confirm the monitoring is maintained on file. 
 
Priority: Medium 

11.20/21 Consultants and Agency 
Staff 

Reports on the use of agency workers will be reported to the Corporate Management Team every six months. 
 
Priority: Low 

49



 

14 
 

 

APPENDIX D: SCOPE 

The scope below is a copy of the original document issued. 

Scope of the review 
The internal audit assignment has been scoped to provide assurance on how South Kesteven District Council manages the following area: 

Objective of the risk under review 

To meet internal auditing standards, and to provide assurance on action taken to address management actions previously agreed by management. 

When planning the audit, the following areas for consideration and limitations were agreed: 

The following areas will be considered as part of the review: 

As part of the approved internal audit periodic plan we will review the 20 (11 'Medium' and nine ‘Low’) management actions agreed in the following Internal 
Audit reviews: 

 07.20/21 Follow Up 2; and 

 11.20/21 Consultants and Agency Staff. 

As part of our audit work, we will carry out testing to confirm implementation of 'Medium' priority management actions but will only obtain management 
confirmation on the progress made with the ‘Low’ priority management actions.  

The following limitations apply to the scope of our work: 

 Detailed testing will only be carried out on the medium priority management actions; 
 We will obtain a management update in relation to low priority management actions, but no detailed testing will be carried out; 
 We will not review the whole control framework of the areas listed above. Therefore, we are not providing assurance on the entire risk and control 

framework of these areas; 
 Testing will be completed, where appropriate, on a sample basis over the period since actions were implemented or controls enhanced; and 
 Our work does not provide absolute assurance that material errors, loss or fraud do not exist. 

 

50



 

rsmuk.com 

The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the 
weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. Actions for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact. This report, or our work, should 
not be taken as a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. We emphasise that the responsibility for a sound system 
of internal controls rests with management and our work should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may exist. Neither should our work be 
relied upon to identify all circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there be any. 

Our report is prepared solely for the confidential use of South Kesteven District Council, and solely for the purposes set out herein. This report should not therefore be 
regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party wishing to acquire any rights from RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLPfor any purpose or in any 
context. Any third party which obtains access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on it (or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party and shall not be liable for any loss, damage 
or expense of whatsoever nature which is caused by any person’s reliance on representations in this report. 

This report is released to you on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save as otherwise permitted by agreed written terms), 
without our prior written consent. 

We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.  

RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales no. OC389499 at 6th floor, 25 Farringdon Street, London EC4A 
4AB. 

 

 

 Debrief held  
Draft report issued  

29 October 2021 
5 November 2021  

Internal audit Contacts Robert Barnett, Head of Internal Audit 
Robert.Barnett@rsmuk.com 
07809 560103 
 
Lisa Smith, Senior Manager 
Lisa.Smith@rsmuk.com 
07436 268746 
 
Aaron Macdonald, Assistant Manager 
Aaron.Macdonald@rsmuk.com 
0115 964 4450 
  

Responses received 6 December 2021 
Final report issued 
Revised final report issued  

6 December 2021 
10 December 2021 

 
 Client sponsor Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance  

Tracey Elliott, Governance and Risk Officer.   
Distribution Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance  

Tracey Elliott, Governance and Risk Officer.   

51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Governance and Audit 
Committee 
26 January 2022 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 
  Deputy Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Counter Fraud Framework 2022-24 

One of the key areas for Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, is to 
monitor and review the counter fraud arrangements in place which includes approving the Counter 
Fraud Framework.  

 

Report Author 

Tracey Elliott (Governance & Risk Officer) 

 
 01476 406038 

  t.elliott@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright (Head of Finance & ICT) 9 December 2021 

Approved by: Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance) 9 December 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes (Deputy Leader of the 
Council)  

10 December 2021 

 

Recommendation to the decision maker 

1. The Governance and Audit Committee is asked to approve the Counter Fraud 
Framework attached at Appendix A. 

53

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 In accordance with the workplan of the Committee it is a requirement to approve the Counter 

Fraud Framework, including the Whistleblowing Policy, Fraud Response Plan and Anti-

Money Laundering Policy. The Counter Fraud Strategy 2018-20 was last considered in 

September 2018. 

2 Summary of position 

2.1 The Council is committed to the highest standards of quality, probity, openness and 

accountability. As part of the Committee’s terms of reference, counter fraud is one of the 

key areas of focus being an essential element of delivering good governance. In order to 

develop and promote greater awareness, and in line with best practice, a review of the 

Council’s Counter Fraud Strategy has been undertaken, culminating in this new Counter 

Fraud Framework for 2022-24.  

2.2 Like any organisation South Kesteven District Council is inherently vulnerable to the risk of 

fraud and corruption and, with reducing Government funding and the current economic 

position, it is vital that robust arrangements for the prevention and detection of fraud are 

maintained, and best use of information and knowledge is made in order to ensure 

effective fraud prevention procedures are in place. 

2.3 Good governance is essential in the public sector to meet legal requirements and to 

uphold public expectations that we will make good use of resources. The Accounts and 

Audit Regulations 2015 requires authorities to implement measures to enable the 

prevention and detection of inaccuracies and fraud. 

3 Counter Fraud Framework 

3.1 The framework is formulated from key documents that have been produced by the 

Lincolnshire Counter Fraud Partnership which have been made available for adaptation 

and use by the Lincolnshire partners.  The Framework has been reviewed and updated in 

conjunction with colleagues at the Lincolnshire Counter Fraud Partnership and also 

incorporating best practice from benchmarking with other authorities.  The framework 

consists of the following documents:  

3.2 Counter Fraud Strategy – The Strategy outlines the Council’s stance of zero tolerance to 

all forms of fraud, theft and corruption and the Council’s response to fraud under the five 

pillars of activity of Govern, Acknowledge, Prevent, Pursue and Protect. 

3.3 Counter Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy – The Policy outlines the scope, aims and 

objectives, responsibilities, outcomes and reporting advice in countering fraud and 

corruption.  This Policy also includes the Whistleblowing Policy and Fraud Response Plan 

as detailed below. 

3.4 Whistleblowing Policy – The Policy outlines processes that are in place to respond to 

whistleblowing received.  It includes the scope, process, how the Council will respond and 

how the matter is progressed.  The policy is supported by a Whistleblowing Process 

Flowchart that shows the various stages and decision points of a whistleblowing issue. 

3.5 Fraud Response Plan – The Plan outlines what the Council will do when it is alerted to a 

potential fraud.  It includes what should be done if fraud is suspected, tips, safeguards and 

investigation and potential outcomes.  The Plan is supported by a Fraud Response Plan 

Flowchart that shows the various stages of the fraud response. 

54



 

 
 

3.6 Anti-Money Laundering Policy – This Policy explains the Council’s stance against anti-

money laundering.  It consists of definitions, scope, objectives and general procedures. 

4 Consultation and Feedback Received, including Overview and Scrutiny 

4.1 None 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation 

5.1 Governance and Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, to approve the 

Counter Fraud Framework (including Counter Fraud Strategy, Counter Fraud and Anti-

Corruption Policy, Whistleblowing Policy, Fraud Response Plan and Anti-Money 

Laundering Policy). 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 None. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 These are contained within the report where appropriate. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The approval of the Counter Fraud Framework is a key element of the terms of reference 

of the Committee and is a vital component of the overall governance framework of the 

Council. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 None. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 None. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The recommendation will have a neutral effect of the Council’s declaration of a climate 

emergency. 

13 Appendices  

13.1 Appendix A – Counter Fraud Framework 

 

 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



2022-2024

Counter  
Fraud  
Framework 

57



2

Contents

Counter Fraud Strategy 3

Counter Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy 8

Appendix A – Whistleblowing Policy 12

Whistleblowing Process Flowchart 18

Appendix B – Fraud Response Plan 19

Fraud Response Plan Flowchart 21

Appendix C – Anti-Money Laundering Policy 22

58



3

 

Counter Fraud Strategy
Introduction
South Kesteven District Council has adopted 
a stance of zero tolerance to all forms of fraud, 
theft and corruption. 

The aim of this strategy is to provide an 
effective framework to protect Council 
resources from fraud and corruption.

The Corporate Plan 
The Council’s Corporate Plan sets out the 
Council’s vision to “be the best district in which 
to live, work and visit”.

The Corporate Plan has identified five key 
priorities for the Council:

1. Growth and our economy
2. Housing that meets the needs of all residents
3. Healthy and strong communities
4. Clean and sustainable environment
5. High-performing Council

Good governance is essential in the public 
sector to meet legal requirements and to uphold 
public expectations that we will make good use 
of resources. 

Having a holistic approach to tackling fraud is 
part of good governance to minimise risks of 
fraud losses and financial irregularity against 
the Council. This means public money can be 
used for delivering the Council’s priorities. 

This strategy supports the Council’s Corporate 
Plan, vision and key priorities. It will support the 
Council to provide good value services for local 
residents and communities. 

Our vision
We will protect South Kesteven District 
Council’s resources from fraud and 
corruption. We have a culture where Officers 
are accountable for their actions, and are 
empowered to make decisions so that fraud 
risks are managed. There will be a zero 
tolerance to all forms of fraud, theft and 
corruption.
 

Outcomes
We aim to:

■ identify fraud risks as part of our 
management arrangements and evaluate 
what this means for the Council including 
any new and emerging risks

■ ensure our Members and Officers have 
awareness of fraud and corruption risks, 
their impacts and what the Council does to 
minimise these risks

■ ensure our counter fraud and anti-
corruption measures are proportionate to 
risks

■ develop and maintain a culture where 
Officers and Members are accountable for 
their actions

■ help our Officers to feel empowered to 
make decisions so that fraud risks are 
managed well

■ ensure effective internal control measures 
are in place to make it more difficult for 
fraud and error to occur

■ demonstrate that the Council has taken 
steps to achieve fraud savings and 
recoveries – including sanctions where 
appropriate

■ protect the wider public purse through 
strategic partnerships 

■ continue to deliver a best practice 
response, meeting professional guidance 
and responding to any changes in 
legislation

59

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=26876&p=0


4

We acknowledge that there is an inherent risk 
of fraud and corruption against the Council. 
Strong governance and an ethical culture can 
build resilience against these risks. 

We are clear on our vision to protect our 
resources from risks of fraud and corruption. 

South Kesteven District Council will continue 
to take a zero tolerance stance to all forms of 
fraud, theft, bribery and corruption. 

To help us deliver our vision, we have aligned 
our strategy and local response to national best 
practice. Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 
(FFCL) provides a national strategy in response 
to economic crime and fraud. 

FFCL is endorsed by a range of organisations 
including the Local Government Association, 
CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre, SOLACE and 
counter fraud experts from numerous English 
local authorities. 

Our response to fraud and corruption will be:
 
■ Risk based following an assessment of fraud risks
■ Proportionate to risks faced
■ Completed with due diligence
■ Communicated
■ Monitored and reviewed

Govern

• Maintain 
robust 
arrangements 
and executive 
support 
to ensure 
anti-fraud, 
bribery and 
corruption 
measures are 
embedded 
throughout 
the Council

• Assess and 
understand 
fraud risks

• Commit the 
right support to 
tackling fraud 
and corruption

• Demonstrate 
a robust anti-
fraud response

• Communicate 
risks and 
response

• Developing an 
effective anti-
fraud culture

• Enhancing 
fraud controls 
and processes

• Making 
best use of 
information and 
technology

• Communicating 
activity and 
successes

• Investigation 
and 
prioritisation of 
fraud recovery 
sanctions, and 
punishment of 
offenders

• Collaboration 
with strategic 
partners

• Lesson 
learning and 
closing the 
gaps 

• Member and 
Officer training

• Recognising 
the harm that 
fraud can 
cause in the 
community

• Protecting the 
Council and its 
residents from 
fraud

Acknowledge Prevent Pursue Protect

Our response follows five pillars of activity: 

Making it happen: our response to fraud

60

https://www.cifas.org.uk/secure/contentPORT/uploads/documents/FFCL%20-%20Strategy%20for%20the%202020's.pdf


5

Governance 
The Council’s Constitution sets out how the 
Council operates and how decisions are made. 
This includes a commitment to counter-fraud 
and anti-corruption: 

 “There is an expectation and requirement 
that all Members, Officers, consultants, 
contractors, and service users be fair, 
honest and act with the utmost of integrity 
at all times.

 The Council is resolute that the culture and 
tone of the Authority is one of honesty and 
opposition to fraud and corruption.

 There is an expectation and requirement 
that all individuals, businesses and 
organisations dealing in any way with 
the Council will act with high standards 
of probity, openness and integrity and 
that Council Officers or its agent(s) at 
all levels will lead by example in these 
matters.

 The Council’s Codes of Conduct for
 Members and Officers set out approaches
 to work that are honest, fair, accountable
 and, as far as possible, transparent.
 Members and Officers must act in line  

with the codes at all times”.

The Governance and Audit Committee is 
charged with monitoring the effectiveness of 
the Council’s Financial Regulations, Contract 
Procedure Rules, Codes of Conduct and the 
Counter Fraud Framework which includes 
whistleblowing and anti-money laundering.

Policy framework
We have developed policies to tackle fraud  
and corruption: 

■ Counter Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy 
■ Fraud Response Plan
■ Whistleblowing Policy
■ Anti-Money Laundering Policy

We have also embedded counter fraud 
arrangements throughout our other policies, 
risk management arrangements and systems of 
internal control. These include: 

■ Risk Management Framework
■ Officer and Member Codes of Conduct – 

including rules on avoiding and stopping 
conflicts of interest

■ Conflict of Interest Register
■ Financial Regulations 
■ Information Security Policy and Acceptable 

Use of ICT Assets Policy 

This is supported across the wider governance 
framework. Arrangements to prevent fraud, 
bribery and corruption can be found in 
other policies and guidance documents and 
strategies. For example: 

■ Contract Procedure Rules 
■ Recruitment policies (verification of Officer 

identity)
■ Safer Lincolnshire Handbook (strategic 

response to tackling fraud as part of 
serious organised crime)

This list is not exhaustive but demonstrates how 
our arrangements are holistically designed to 
support and embed a counter-fraud culture. 

61



6

Acknowledge 
The Council recognises the inherent risk of 
fraud against public money. We collaborate with 
other councils in Lincolnshire for a co-ordinated 
response to manage fraud against our Council. 
South Kesteven District Council has committed 
resources to the Lincolnshire Counter Fraud 
Partnership (LCFP) which is co-ordinated by 
Assurance Lincolnshire enabling a county-wide 
approach. 

Horizon scanning: fraud risk assessment
It is important the Council understands its 
exposure to fraud as part of risk management 
arrangements. The LCFP provides a forum for 
the partners to share intelligence, expertise 
and best practice to help assess fraud risk 
exposure. This resource will be used to 
research new and emerging fraud risks and 
threats so that information can be shared 
across the Council. 

The Section 151 Officer is responsible for 
communicating fraud risks and responses in 
annual reports to the Governance and Audit 
Committee. This will include an annual counter 
fraud report summarising what work has been 
delivered and the effectiveness of counter fraud 
and whistleblowing arrangements.

Fraud threats constantly evolve, so our 
response to fraud will be agile. We will 
respond in a proportionate manner, and where 
necessary make use of additional external 
resource. For example the LCFP, our internal 
auditors and other specialist counter fraud 
professionals.

Fraud control in emergency management
During emergency times, the Council’s normal 
internal controls may need to change rapidly. 
Fraud risks may be heightened as fraudsters 
seek to exploit vulnerabilities and weak spots 
in temporary arrangements. During emergency 
times, we will apply the overarching principles:

■ Acknowledge and accept risks are higher 
than normal

■ Integration of fraud control resources in 
process design 

■ Implementation of control measures
■ Carry out targeted post-event assurance 

work
■ Control framework re-assessment following 

move following recovery

Prevent and pursue
Fraud and corruption are unacceptable. Fraud 
prevention is everyone’s responsibility. Our 
Counter Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy 
provides a more detailed view of what we mean 
by fraud and corruption. The policy sets out: 

■ The Council’s position with aims and 
objectives

■ Scope ie who the policy applies to
■ Steps including prevention, detection, 

investigations, recovery and sanctions
■ Who is responsible for action
■ How this will be monitored and reported

Our governance arrangements provide a 
framework for an anti-fraud culture. The Section 
151 Officer will ensure we translate this high 
level strategy and our policies into action. 

We will: 

■ communicate our zero tolerance stance 
to fraud and action we have taken against 
fraudsters

■ raise fraud awareness – our policies, spotting 
risks, knowing how to act and publishing 
actions taken against fraudsters

■ work with our internal auditors to ensure there 
are robust systems of internal control – risk 
based to manage risks found in our fraud risk 
assessment

■ explore opportunities for use of technology, 
such as data matching

■ collaborate strategically including participation 
in the National Fraud Initiative exercise

62



7

■ promote the Lincolnshire councils’ 
whistleblowing facility for reporting fraud 
concerns

■ ensure fraud reports are followed up and 
investigated

■ take steps for sanctions and redress 
following fraud incidents

■ address lessons learnt following incidents 
of fraud or corruption

 
To help with this, the Council has access to 
specialist resource through the LCFP. This will 
be used to:

■ develop and deliver an effective 
coordinated fraud awareness programme 

■ deliver savings and achieve outcomes 
which will reduce fraud

■ share intelligence, access investigative 
resource, expertise and best practice

The LCFP will develop plans each year so 
that the Council can respond to current and 
emerging risks where they are cross-cutting 
with other councils. 

Preventing bribery and corruption 
We will ensure arrangements are embedded 
throughout policies and governance 
arrangements to prevent corruption. 
Specific guidance on how to conduct business 
through contract negotiations are included in 
the Contract Procedure Rules, and suppliers 
and partners are expected to comply with 
Council policies when delivering goods and 
services on behalf of the Council. 
There are clear rules in the Codes of Conduct 
for Officers and Members about accepting 
gifts, hospitality or donations. Risks of bribery 
and corruption will be included in fraud risk 
assessments.

Reporting concerns
Our Whistleblowing Policy sets out what should 
be reported and how you can do this. Contact 
details for reporting concerns are included 
within this policy. Resources are available 

through the Lincolnshire Counter Fraud 
Partnership to maintain our whistleblowing 
arrangements. 

Investigation
Counter Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy is 
supported by a Fraud Response Plan which 
explains what to do if you suspect fraud or 
corruption and how we will deal with fraud 
concerns when they are reported. 
This sets out our intent to investigate and, 
where fraud is found, to apply sanctions and 
seek redress. We will ensure investigation 
resource is made available to follow up fraud 
concerns.

Protect
Our actions to prevent and pursue fraud and 
corruption against the Council are designed to 
protect Council resources. We recognise fraud 
can also cause harm in the wider community. 
We will work in collaboration with our strategic 
partners to protect both the Council and its 
residents from fraud.

South Kesteven District Council is one of the 
partner organisations of the Safer Lincolnshire 
Partnership (SLP). The SLP is the single multi-
agency forum for addressing community safety 
issues across Lincolnshire. 

The SLP has identified tackling serious 
organised crime as a strategic priority. This 
includes fraud. Their current work is focused on 
preventing fraud and scams against members 
of the public, and ensuring individual victims are 
supported. 
 

63

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/crime-prevention/safer-lincolnshire-partnership
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/crime-prevention/safer-lincolnshire-partnership


8

Introduction
South Kesteven District Council has a zero 
tolerance stance to all forms of fraud, theft, 
bribery and corruption, both from within the 
Authority and from external sources. 

We recognise that fraud can:

■ undermine the standards of public service 
that the Council is attempting to achieve

■ reduce the level of resources and services 
available for the residents of the District

■ result in major consequences which reduce 
public confidence in the Council

■ impact on the Council’s reputation

We are committed to the highest possible 
standards of openness, probity, honesty, 
integrity and accountability. We expect all 
Officers, Members and partners to apply these 
standards which are included in the Codes of 
Conduct, supported by the Council’s values to be 
professional, respectful, resourceful and reflective.

We will protect our resources from risks of 
fraud and corruption. We will seek to deter and 
prevent fraud, corruption and theft to ensure 
that all risks in these areas are reduced to 
the lowest level possible. Where we suspect 
or detect fraud, theft or corruption we will 
thoroughly investigate and deal with any proven 
fraud in a consistent and balanced way. We 
will apply appropriate sanctions against those 
committing fraud and will attempt to recover all 
losses. 

Counter Fraud and  
Anti-Corruption Policy

Fraud A deception which is deliberate and intended to provide a direct or indirect personal 
gain. The term “fraud” can include criminal deception, forgery, blackmail, corruption, 
theft, conspiracy or the covering up of material facts and collusion. By using 
deception a fraudster can obtain an advantage, avoid an obligation or cause loss to 
another party.

Bribery
Offering, promising, giving, demanding or accepting an unearned reward to influence 
an official to gain advantage. This can include gifts, hospitality, fees, rewards, jobs, 
favours or preferential treatments and is a form of corruption.

Corruption The deliberate misuse of your position for direct or indirect personal gain. “Corruption” 
includes offering, giving, requesting or accepting a bribe or reward, which influences 
your actions or the actions of someone else. The Bribery Act 2010 makes it possible 
for senior Officers to be convicted where they are deemed to have given their consent 
or tacit approval in giving or receiving a bribe. It also created the Corporate Offence of 
“Failing to prevent bribery on behalf of a commercial organisation” (corporate liability). 
To protect itself against the corporate offence the Act also requires organisations to 
have “adequate procedures in place to prevent bribery”. This policy statement, the 
Codes of Conduct and Whistleblowing Policy are designed to meet that requirement.

Theft
Where someone steals cash or other property. A person is guilty of “theft” if they 
dishonestly take property belonging to someone else and has no intention of 
returning it.

£

£

£

64



9

Scope
This policy applies to:

■ All Council employees and Members
■ Council partners
■ Council suppliers, contractors and 

consultants
■ South Kesteven District Council residents

Aims and objectives
We aim to:

■ reduce fraud and corruption losses within 
the Council to an absolute minimum and 
maintain that level

■ protect the Council’s valuable resources 
by ensuring they are not lost through fraud 
or corruption but are used for improved 
services to the District’s residents

■ promote our counter fraud culture which 
highlights the Council’s zero tolerance of 
fraud, theft and corruption, which defines 
roles and responsibilities and actively 
engages everyone – the public, Members, 
Officers, managers and policy makers

■ provide a best practice counter fraud 
service which proactively deters, prevents 
and detects fraud, corruption and theft and 
investigates suspected or detected fraud, 
corruption and theft to enable the Council 
to apply appropriate sanctions and recover 
all losses

■ provide recommendations to inform 
policy, system and control improvements, 
thereby reducing the Council’s exposure to 
fraudulent activity

■ work with strategic partners to protect 
against harm that fraud can do in the 
community

Principles
We will not tolerate abuse of our services 
or resources and have high expectations of 
propriety, integrity and accountability from all 
parties identified within this policy.

We will ensure that the resources dedicated 
to our counter fraud activities are sufficient 
and those involved are trained to deliver a 
professional counter fraud service to the 
highest standards. 

Fraud and corruption are crimes and will result 
in disciplinary, legal and/or criminal action 
against the individual/s concerned. We will 
ensure consistency, fairness and objectivity in 
all our investigation work – everyone will be 
treated equally. 

We want everyone to report any genuine 
suspicions of fraudulent activity. However, 
we will not tolerate malicious or vexatious 
allegations or those motivated by personal gain 
and, if proven, we may take disciplinary or legal 
action.

We will work with our partners (eg the police 
and other investigative bodies) to strengthen 
and continuously improve our arrangements to 
counter fraud and corruption.

We will protect public funds and will collaborate 
with strategic partners to protects against harm 
that fraud can do in the community.

Responsibilities
The Council’s Constitution sets out how the 
Council operates and how decisions are 
made. This includes a commitment to counter-
fraud and anti-corruption. Specific roles and 
responsibilities are identified in the Constitution 
and Financial Regulations. 

65



10

Stakeholder Responsibilities
Chief Executive ■ Ultimately accountable for the effectiveness of the Council’s arrangements 

for countering fraud and corruption

Monitoring Officer ■ Advise Members and Officers on ethical issues, standards and powers to 
ensure that the Council operates within the law and statutory Codes of Practice

Section 151 Officer
■ Develop and maintain the Counter Fraud Framework, supported and 

approved by the Governance and Audit Committee

Governance and Audit 
Committee

■ Review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the Council 
from fraud and corruption

■ Monitor the effectiveness of the Council’s Financial Regulations, Contract 
Procedure Rules and other policies for counter fraud and anti-bribery, 
whistleblowing and anti-money laundering

■ Promote high standards of conduct amongst Officers and Members 

Members ■ Support and promote the development of a strong counter fraud culture

External Audit ■ Subject to the concept of materiality, provides reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or other irregularity

Section 151 Officer 
and Governance & 
Risk Officer

■ Report significant matters of fraud or financial irregularity to the Head of 
Paid Service (Chief Executive), the Executive and the Governance and 
Audit Committee

■ Develop and implement the Counter Fraud Framework and promptly 
investigate cases of suspected fraud reported under this policy, via the 
whistleblowing arrangements or the National Fraud Initiative

■ Make recommendations to improve controls and reduce the risk of fraud in 
the future

■ Maintain whistleblowing reporting arrangements
■ Ensure that where fraud is found proportionate action is taken for sanctions 

and redress

Directors ■ Ensure that this policy is adhered to and that they assess the risk of fraud, 
corruption and theft in their service areas – reducing risks by implementing 
strong internal controls

■ To report all suspected fraud or financial irregularity in accordance with the 
Fraud Response Plan 

Heads of Service
■ Promote Officer awareness, refer all suspected fraud in accordance with 

the Fraud Response Plan and apply the policy of zero tolerance. Ensure 
that they assess the risk of fraud, theft and corruption in their service areas 
and reduce these risks by implementing strong internal controls

Officers
■ Comply with Council policies and procedures, to be aware of the 

possibility of fraud, theft and corruption, and to report any genuine 
concerns to management, the counter Fraud Investigation Team or via the 
Whistleblowing arrangements

Public, Partners, 
Suppliers, 
Contractors and 
Consultants

■ Be aware of the possibility of fraud and corruption against the Council and 
report any genuine concerns/suspicions

66



11

The Council’s approach 
for countering fraud and 
corruption
We will fulfil our responsibility to reduce fraud 
and protect our resources by taking a strategic 
approach consistent with that outlined in the 
Local Government Fraud Strategy – Fighting 
Fraud and Corruption Locally. We will produce 
a Counter Fraud Framework to set out how 
we intend to turn the five pillars of activity 
into priority areas for action to protect South 
Kesteven District Council resources from fraud.
 

Outcomes
Investigation activity itself does not represent 
the outcomes of our counter fraud work. We 
recognise that by preventing fraud we will 
reduce losses and the delivery of our counter 
fraud work plan will improve overall outcomes 
and achieve the aims and objectives of this 
policy. We will measure the effectiveness of 
our counter fraud arrangements by focusing on 
outcomes such as:

■ high levels of fraud awareness 
■ zero tolerance to fraud (number of referrals/

disciplinary results)
■ reduced losses 
■ levels of recovery
■ levels of reporting 
■ delivery of the annual counter fraud work 

plan (ensuring best practice)
■ reducing the risk of fraud
■ successful prosecutions and other 

sanctions

Reporting advice  
and support
If you genuinely believe that someone is 
committing a fraud or you suspect corrupt 
practices, these are your reporting options:

■ your line manager (or a more senior 
manager if you suspect your line manager 
is involved)

■ a member of the Statutory Officers Group:

Karen Braford – Chief Executive  
karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk

Alan Robinson – Monitoring Officer
alan.robinson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Richard Wyles – Section 151 Officer 
richard.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk

■ Whistleblowing facility:

 freephone: 0800 0853716  
(dedicated confidential number)

whistleblowing@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Lincolnshire Local Authorities, 
PO Box 640, Lincoln, LN1 1WF

 
To avoid potentially contaminating the evidence, 
managers should not investigate themselves 
and instead immediately report all suspicions 
of fraud or corruption to the Statutory Officers 
Group – refer to the Council’s Fraud Response 
Plan for more detail.

We will treat all concerns or suspicions with 
discretion and in confidence. Our Fraud 
Response Plan (Appendix B) sets out how to 
report concerns and how we will handle reports. 

67



12

Introduction
At South Kesteven District Council we want to 
ensure we are providing excellent services to the 
residents of our District. Our Officers, Members, 
partners and contractors have an important role 
to play in achieving this goal and we expect 
everyone to be committed to our high standards 
of service which are based on the principles of 
honesty, openness and accountability.

We know we face the risk that something may go 
wrong or that someone may ignore our policies, 
procedures or the law, resulting in some very 
serious consequences. Experience shows that 
Officers, or others who work on behalf of an 
organisation, often have worries or suspicions 
and could, by reporting their concerns at an early 
stage, help put things right or identify and stop 
potential wrongdoing. 

A whistleblower is generally a term used for a 
person who works in or for an organisation and 
raises an honest and reasonable concern about 
a possible fraud, crime, danger or other serious 
risk that could threaten colleagues, service 
users, customers, members of the public or the 
success and reputation of the organisation. 
We want you to feel that it is safe and acceptable 
to tell us about your concerns so that we can 
investigate and take action as soon as possible. 
We recognise that you may be worried about 
reporting for a number of reasons:

■ fear of reprisal or victimisation  
(eg loss of job)

■ too much to lose (reputation, damage to 
career etc)

■ feelings of disloyalty
■ worries about who may be involved
■ you have no proof only suspicions
■ fear of repercussions if there is no evidence 

or you are proved wrong

We welcome all genuine concerns and will treat 
your issues seriously. This policy explains how 
to raise a concern, the types of activity you 
should report, the protection we can provide, 
confidentiality, our response and how you can 
take matters further, if necessary. 

We want to assure you that there is no reason 
to remain silent – your decision to talk to us 
may be difficult but, if you believe what you are 
saying is true, you have nothing to fear as you 
are following the Council’s Code of Conduct that 
applies to you and helping to protect the users of 
our services and the residents of our District. We 
will not tolerate any harassment or victimisation 
and we will take action to protect those of you 
who raise concerns that you believe to be in the 
public interest.

UK law protects employees from dismissal, 
harassment or victimisation if such treatment 
occurs as a result of having made a whistleblowing 
disclosure considered to be in the public interest. 
In addition to the employer’s liability, the individual 
who subjects the employee to such treatment may 
also be held personally liable.

This policy does not replace our existing 
employment policies: grievance, dignity at 
work and disciplinary. You should use these 
policies if you have a personal grievance or are 
unhappy with the way you are being treated. Our 
whistleblowing arrangements are not intended 
to give you a further opportunity to pursue a 
grievance or complaint once you have exhausted 
the relevant employment procedures.

You may be a member of the public with 
concerns or information which you think we 
should know about or look into. You should, 
however, follow the Customer Feedback Process 
if your concern is about a particular service that 
we have provided you.

Appendix A –  
Whistleblowing Policy 

68

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=27952&p=0


13

Scope
You can use our whistleblowing arrangements 
if you are a Member, Council employee, a 
contractor, partner or member of the public. Our 
policy also applies to agency staff, contractors 
and suppliers providing goods or services to, or 
on behalf of, the Council.

Our whistleblowing arrangements do not replace 
the following:

■ Customer Feedback Process
■ Disciplinary Policy
■ Grievance Policy
■ Child Protection Safeguarding reporting 
■ Adult Care Safeguarding reporting

You should only consider raising concerns 
through our whistleblowing arrangements if:

■ you have genuine reasons why you cannot 
use the above policies and procedures 

■ you have reason to believe that these 
policies are failing or are not being properly 
applied

■ there is a public interest aspect

Protection and 
confidentiality
Whistleblowing law is contained in the Public 
Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA – amended by 
the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013). 
Public bodies, such as this Council, are required 
to have a whistleblowing policy and to ensure that 
employees are not victimised or dismissed for 
raising their concerns internally. This also applies 
to those who, as a last resort, feel the need to 
take their concerns to an outside body, such as 
the Local Government Ombudsman.

Members of the public who raise concerns are 
not legally protected by PIDA, so we do offer the 
option for the person making the allegations to 
withhold their identity at the time concerns are 
raised. 

You may feel that the only way you can raise 
your concerns is if we protect your identity. If 
the whistleblower does chose to disclose their 
identity, we will respect confidentiality as far is 
possible, but there are times when we cannot 
guarantee this, for example, where a criminal 
offence is involved or if there are child protection 
or adult safeguarding issues.

We will attempt to ensure the whistleblower’s 
identity is not disclosed to third parties and 
information will not be disclosed unless the 
law allows or compels us to do so, for example 
in order to comply with a court order. If the 
information you provide includes personal 
information about another person, then that 
person may be entitled to access it under subject 
access provisions of the Data Protection Act or 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). If 
releasing that information could reveal identifying 
information about the whistleblower, we will 
always ask for your consent prior to releasing the 
information.

We will not tolerate any harassment or 
victimisation (including informal pressure) and 
we will take action to protect you when you raise 
a concern believed to be in the public interest. 
We will take any disciplinary or corrective 
action should anyone attempt to victimise the 
whistleblower or prevent concerns being raised.
If we proceed to a formal investigation, we may 
require you to give evidence along with other 
employees and witnesses. We are, in some 
circumstances, able to do this without disclosing 
the identity of the whistleblower. A statement 
from you may also be required as part of criminal 
proceedings or Employment Tribunal – this 
depends on the nature of the concern.

If your whistleblowing disclosure results in an 
internal investigation, and you provide a witness 
statement under that process, your statement 
may be used for disciplinary purposes. This 
means your statement may be given to the 
subject as part of a disciplinary hearing. An 
employee subject to the disciplinary process can 
ask to see personal information held about them 
at any time under the subject access provisions 

69



14

of the Data Protection Act – this may include 
information within your statement. If it is possible 
to provide access to personal information within 
your statement without revealing any information 
about you, we will do so. If this is not possible, 
we will always seek your consent before 
releasing any information. 

If your statement is not required for disciplinary 
purposes it will be held confidentially on our case 
file (until the case file is destroyed after seven 
years) and released only with your consent or a 
Police/Court Order.

The Council does not expect you to give us your 
consent – this is your decision alone – but we 
are required by law to ask you. The Council does 
not need a reason should you choose to refuse 
the request.

If you find yourself the subject of a 
whistleblowing disclosure, and a decision is 
made to investigate, the Council will follow the 
appropriate employment procedure: grievance, 
dignity at work or disciplinary. This means 
you will have all the rights contained in that 
procedure, such as the opportunity to respond 
to the allegation and representation at the 
investigatory interview. 

What you should report
We encourage you to use our whistleblowing 
arrangements for issues such as:

■ conduct which is a criminal offence or 
breach of law

■ a breach of our Code of Conduct for Officers 
or Members

■ sexual, physical or verbal abuse of our 
clients, employees or public

■ dangerous procedures risking the health and 
safety of our clients, employees or public

■ unauthorised use of public funds
■ suspected fraud or corruption
■ damage to the environment (eg land, 

buildings, water, air, waste, energy, 
transport, natural habitat etc)

■ unethical or improper conduct
■ services that fall seriously below approved 

standards or practice
■ failure to follow the Council’s policies and 

procedures   

Anonymous or untrue 
allegations
We do not encourage anonymous reporting as 
the concerns are more difficult to investigate and 
are generally less powerful. We would like you 
to put your name to the allegations whenever 
possible and remind you of the protection we can 
provide if we know who you are.

Anonymous whistleblowing referrals will be 
considered at the discretion of the Officers 
handling your concern, in consultation with the 
service area, where appropriate. This discretion 
will be based on the:

■ seriousness of the issues raised
■ credibility of the concern
■ likelihood of confirming the allegation from 

an attributable source
■ evidence base

It may be that our investigations do not confirm 
your allegation. We take all concerns seriously 
and can assure you that no action will be taken 
against you if you have raised a concern in the 
genuine belief that it is, or may be, true. 

If we find that you have maliciously made a false 
allegation we will take action and you will not be 
eligible for protection under PIDA.

How to raise a concern
We encourage you initially to raise your concern 
internally – this allows the Council the opportunity 
to right the wrong and explain the behaviour or 
activity. We also advise Officers to report any 
allegation to their line manager. We recognise 
that your first actions will depend upon the 
seriousness and sensitivity of the issues and who 

70



15

you believe to be involved. We advise that you 
make it clear that you are raising your concerns 
under the Council’s whistleblowing arrangements 
– this will help managers respond in line with this 
policy (see Whistleblowing Process Flowchart).

If you are in any doubt about what you 
should do, you can contact:

Karen Braford – Chief Executive  
karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk

Alan Robinson – Monitoring Officer
alan.robinson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Richard Wyles – Section 151 Officer 
richard.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
 
You may wish to raise the matter in person, and 
you can do this by using one of the contacts 
above or alternatively you can contact the 
Council’s confidential freephone whistleblowing 
number below.

Concerns are better submitted in writing 
– we need the background and history of 
your concern, giving names, copies of any 
documents, dates and places (where possible).
 
We would like you to explain why you are 
concerned about the situation – we do not 
expect you to prove the truth of an allegation, 
but you will need to show that there are sufficient 
grounds for your concern. 

You can write directly to one of the Officers 
named on previous page or you can use the 
confidential freephone number, email or PO 
Box: 

 freephone: 0800 0853716  
(dedicated confidential number)

whistleblowing@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Lincolnshire Local Authorities, 
PO Box 640, Lincoln, LN1 1WF

Officers have the option to seek independent 
advice from their trade union representative or 
professional association or can invite a work 
colleague to raise a concern on their behalf. 
Further advice may be sought from Protect 
(formerly known as Public Concern at Work) the 
whistleblowing charity.

Remember – the earlier you 
raise the concern, the easier  
it is to take action.

71

https://protect-advice.org.uk/?gclid=EAIaIQobChMI_5qUwZrP9AIVwe3tCh3VZQVtEAAYASAAEgKQr_D_BwE


16

How we will respond 
Our response will depend on the nature of the 
concern raised and may be:

■ advice only
■ resolved by agreed action without the need 

for investigation
■ investigated internally (by management or 

other independent investigators)
■ referred to the police if a criminal matter 
■ referred to the external auditor
■ the subject of an independent inquiry
■ referred to the relevant safeguarding team 

(child protection or vulnerable adults)

The officer receiving the whistleblowing 
allegation (if a major issue) will immediately 
notify the Section 151 Officer for discussion with 
the Statutory Officers Group. 

We may carry out initial enquiries in order to 
protect individuals or employees and those 
accused of wrongdoing. We will use the 
results of these enquiries to decide whether an 
investigation is needed and if so, what form it 
should take. If urgent action is required this will 
be taken before we start any investigation.

Concerns of fraud, bribery or corruption will be 
followed up by the Governance & Risk Officer. If 

there are other serious concerns of a potentially 
criminal nature, the complaint will be referred 
to the Council’s Statutory Officers Group. They 
will determine whether the concern should be 
referred to the police directly by the Council.

If the Statutory Officers Group decides that the 
matter should be referred to the police by the 
Council, advice will be sought from the police to 
establish if a simultaneous internal investigation 
can be conducted, and whether or not they 
consent for the subject of the complaint to be 
informed of allegations. 

The Council’s Code of Conduct requires 
employees to notify their line manager 
immediately of any criminal investigation. Failure 
to do so could result in disciplinary action being 
taken.

We will acknowledge your whistleblowing 
disclosure within five working days. Within the 
next 10 working days we will write and explain 
how we propose to deal with the matter. The 
whistleblower will be:

■ given an estimate of how long it will take to 
provide a final response

■ told if initial enquiries have been made
■ told if further investigation is required, and if 

not, why not (where appropriate)

72



17

Taking the matter further 
If you have genuine concerns about how we 
have handled your whistleblowing disclosure you 
can raise this with the investigating officer and/or 
the Monitoring Officer. We hope that you will be 
able to reach a suitable conclusion to the matter 
but if you remain dissatisfied you can contact the 
Council’s external auditors:

 Grant Thornton UK LLP, The Colmore 
Building, 20 Colmore Circus, 
Birmingham, B4 6AT

You may also refer your concern to the Local 
Government Ombudsman – they generally do 
not take any action until the matter has been 
dealt with internally first. 

We would remind you that employees are not 
to report any Council related issues to the 
media – to do so may be considered a breach 
of the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Code of 
Conduct.

Monitoring 
The Section 151 Officer will provide an annual 
report to the Council’s Governance and Audit 
Committee which has responsibilities for 
overseeing the effectiveness of the Council’s 
governance arrangements. All reporting will 
be anonymised and will only identify common 
themes, numbers of disclosures year on year 
and will highlight actions taken to improve 
systems and policies.

The Council’s Statutory Officers Group will 
monitor the effectiveness of this policy and take 
the necessary action.

■ given details of support mechanisms
■ advised of the investigating officer (where 

appropriate)
■ advised how we will inform you of progress

The amount of contact between you and 
the investigating officer considering your 
whistleblowing disclosure will depend on the 
nature of the concerns raised. For example, if 
further investigation is required, the investigator 
may need to seek additional information from you.

If a meeting is necessary, this can be held off site 
if preferred. If you are an employee you will have 
a right to be accompanied – this can be a union 
representative or work colleague (not involved in 
the area where the concern exists). If you are not 
an employee you may wish to bring a friend with 
you – a neutral venue can be arranged, where 
required.

We will help with any difficulties you may 
experience as a result of raising a concern 
– we will, for example, provide advice if you 
are required to give evidence for criminal 
or disciplinary proceedings. Sometimes 
whistleblowers have counter-allegations 
made against them. The Council has a duty to 
investigate any concerns that it receives and 
that will apply in these circumstances. However 
this will not detract from the principles, as set 
out in this policy, which govern how the Council 
will respond to whistleblowers. The overriding 
objective will be to establish the truth.

Records will be retained of all work carried out 
and actions taken to address the concerns raised 
by the whistleblower, including the investigator’s 
case file, where relevant. All files will be held 
securely and confidentially, in accordance with the 
Council’s retention of records policy. 
 
At the end of our investigations we will provide 
feedback to the whistleblower (if known) on 
actions taken and limited detail on the outcome 
of investigations. Feedback will be subject 
to legal constraints, but we do recognise the 
importance of providing you with assurances that 
the matter has been dealt with properly.

73

https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/how-to-register-a-complaint
https://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-complaint/how-to-register-a-complaint


18

Concern identified

Report 

Whistleblowing Hotline Management

Acknowledgment to 
whistleblower 

(if known)

Potential major issue?

Initial assessment of 
whistleblowing disclosure

Fraud Response 
Plan 

invoked

Enquiries and 
resolution by 
service area

Statutory Officers Group

Investigation 
required?

Action taken by 
relevant service 

area

Feedback to 
whistleblower 

and agreement 
of updates

Investigating 
Officer 

appointed

Outcome report

Recorded on  
Whistleblowing Log

If fraud is involvedNo

No

Yes

Statutory Officers Group

As a whistleblowing disclosure

Unable to report using existing procedures?

Governance & Risk Officer

Yes

Written 
feedback to 

whistleblower 
(if known)

Management Decision

Dependant 
upon nature 
of disclosure

Whistleblowing 
Process  
Flowchart

74



19

Introduction 

1. The Council has a zero tolerance to all 
forms of fraud, theft and corruption. We will 
apply the toughest sanctions where fraud is 
proven – disciplinary and criminal. 

2. This Fraud Response Plan is part of the 
Counter Fraud Policy, and our aim is to 
reduce fraud and loss to an absolute 
minimum and keep it there.

3. You should follow this response plan if you 
are an Officer, Member, partner, contractor 
or South Kesteven District Council resident. 
We all have a responsibility to report any 
suspicion of fraud and to cooperate in any 
investigation, if necessary. If you work for the 
Council, and fail to report your suspicions, 
you may be in breach of our Counter Fraud 
Policy and action may be taken against you 
or your organisation.

4. Fraud is a crime and involves a deception 
which is deliberate and intended to provide 
a direct or indirect personal gain eg false 
expenses, exaggerated pay claims, altering 
accounting records, bogus invoices, forged 
cheques, fixing tender results, contract 
irregularities etc. 

5. Corruption is the deliberate misuse of your 
position for direct or indirect personal gain 
such as: offering, giving, requesting or 
accepting a bribe or reward which influences 
your actions or someone else’s.

6. Theft is where someone steals cash or other 
property belonging to someone else with no 
intention of returning it. 

7. This guidance only tells you what to do if 
you suspect fraud – for other concerns you 
should refer to: grievance, dignity at work, 
disciplinary, or corporate complaints policies. 
Alternatively, you can report fraud suspicions 
using our Whistleblowing Policy. 

What you should do if you 
suspect fraud (also see flowchart)

8. Immediately report your suspicions to:

 your line manager (or more senior 
manager if you think they may be 
involved)

 0800 0853716

 whistleblowing@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
 Lincolnshire County Council, PO Box 

640, Lincoln, LN1 1WF (confidential 
PO Box)

Appendix B – Fraud Response Plan 

delay – report the 
matter quickly

record your suspicions 
– write down what you 
have found, seen and 
heard

approach or accuse 
individuals directly – 
you may alert them, 
and evidence may 
be destroyed

keep any 
evidence you have 
in a safe place until 
you can pass it to the 
investigating officer 
unless you risk alerting 
the suspect

tell anybody else – 
you don’t know who 
may be involved

tell us who you are – we 
will want to talk to you 
as you may know more 
than you realise

investigate yourself 
– you may spoil 
the evidence and 
prevent a criminal 
prosecution

keep calm

Don’t
û ü

Do

75



20

Safeguards
9. Harassment, bullying or victimisation – if you 

have raised your concerns in good faith we 
will take action to prevent you from reprisal.

10. Confidentiality – if you feel it is necessary 
we will try to protect your identity – this will 
not be possible if the investigation leads to 
criminal action.

11. Anonymous referrals – we do not encourage 
these as it affects our ability to investigate, 
but we will always look into any case of 
suspected fraud. 

12. Malicious referrals – if we find that your 
referral is malicious or has been made for 
personal gain, we will take action against 
you under the Council’s Disciplinary Policy or 
relevant agreement if you work for one of our 
partners.

Investigation 
13. All suspected fraud must be referred to the 

Council’s Statutory Officers Group.

14. Statutory Officers Group will assess the 
initial information and decide how to 
proceed. This will include a strategy meeting 
with the relevant manager.

15. Following best practice the investigating 
officer will investigate most cases of 
suspected fraud – management may 
investigate low level fraud involving an 
employee after consultation with Statutory 
Officers Group.

Criminal 
prosecution

The Statutory Officers Group will authorise the referral to the police for 
investigation

Disciplinary action

At the end of the investigation the investigating officer will produce an 
outcome report. If this involves an employee, and fraud is proven, the 
likely outcome will be dismissal. If fraud is not proven there may still be 
matters which need to be considered under the Council’s disciplinary 
procedures

Recovery through 
civil or criminal 
proceedings

We will seek to recover all losses subject to legal advice and where it is 
cost effective to do so. We will recover any loss caused by an employee 
through salary, pension or insurance

Weaknesses in the 
system of controls

We will produce an action plan to address any system or management 
weaknesses and to reduce the risk of fraud and error in the future

Potential outcomes 

76



21

Fraud  
Response  
Plan

Fraud concern identified

Report 

Whistleblowing 
mechanism Other

Sufficient to 
proceed?

Statutory 
Officers 
Group

Management

Initial assessment of 
evidence by 

Governance & Risk Officer

Record of decision

Management 
investigation

Investigating 
Officer

Police 
investigation

Outcome report

Fraud proven? Prosecution

Management decision

Where applicable - 
Disciplinary 

Hearing
Disciplinary 

hearing
Disciplinary 

appeal

Recovery of losses

No case to answer/
management action

Reporting options

NoYes

YesNo

Yes

Lessons learnt
Corrective 

actions 
implemented

77



22

Introduction
South Kesteven District Council is committed to 
preventing the Council and its employees being 
exposed to money laundering, to identify the 
risks where it may occur and to comply with legal 
and regulatory requirements.

The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, Terrorism 
Act 2000 and Terrorist Financing and Transfer 
of Funds Regulations 2017 places obligations 
on the Council and its employees to ensure 
procedures are in place to prevent services 
being used for money laundering or terrorist 
financing.

Money laundering is linked to Terrorist Financing 
– this is the process by which terrorists fund 
operations in order to perform terrorist acts. 
Terrorists need financial support to carry out their 
activities and achieve their goals. 

Any business in any sector can be subject to 
money laundering risks – local government is no 
exception. 

Definition
Money laundering is the process by which the 
proceeds of crime are converted into assets 
which appear to have a legitimate origin in 
order that they can be retained permanently or 
recycled into further criminal enterprises. 

Appendix C – Anti-Money  
Laundering Policy 

Placement ‘Dirty’ cash is introduced into 
the financial system

Layering
Proceeds are moved through 
a series of transactions to 
conceal the illegal source

Integration

Legitimate explanation for 
the source of funds is created 
and financial wealth can 
be retained, and potentially 
invested, or assets acquired

Money laundering may range from a single act 
to complex and sophisticated schemes involving 
multiple parties.

Scope
All employees should be vigilant for signs of 
money laundering. 

This policy applies to all employees of South 
Kesteven District Council and sets out 
procedures to be followed when there are 
suspicions of money laundering activity. Not 
all Officers will need detailed knowledge of the 
criminal offences covered by the legislation 
although some employees will require additional 
guidance to ensure awareness of money 
laundering. 

The policy is consistent with other Council 
policies including the Counter Fraud Policy and 
the Whistleblowing Policy. 

Failure by a Council employee to comply with 
the procedures set out in this policy may lead to 
disciplinary action being taken against them. 

Money laundering often involves three steps:

78



23

Objectives
The policy outlines the Council’s arrangements 
around:

■ Role of the Money Laundering Reporting 
Officer (MLRO)

■ Arrangements to receive and manage 
concerns of Officers about money laundering 
and to make reports to the National Crime 
Agency (NCA) where required

■ Ensuring those Officers most likely to be 
exposed to money laundering situations are 
aware of the requirements placed on the 
organisation and them as individuals by the 
relevant legislation 

■ Procedures designed to prevent money 
laundering

■ Provision of training to those most likely to 
encounter money laundering

Money Laundering 
Reporting Officer (MLRO)
The Council is also required to ensure a Money 
Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) is 
appointed to receive disclosures from employees 
of money laundering activity. 
 
The nominated Officer at South Kesteven  
District Council to receive disclosures about 
money laundering activity is Richard Wyles, 
Section 151 Officer (email richard.wyles@
southkesteven.gov.uk).

The main functions of the MLRO are:

■ Produce written risk assessment for the 
business

■ Point of contact between the business  
and NCA

■ Receive notifications of potential terrorist 
money laundering or terrorist financing

■ Analyse notifications to reach decision on 
whether to file a Suspicious Activity  
Report (SAR)

■ Consider Officer training needs
■ Responsibility for policies and controls
■ Guardian of records relating to SARs

Reporting concerns to the Money Laundering
Reporting Officer (MLRO)
Officers that know or suspect they may have 
encountered criminal activity and that they may 
be at risk of contravening the legislation in place, 
should contact the MLRO to notify their concerns 
– the disclosure should be made at the earliest 
opportunity. Confidentiality does not apply if 
money laundering is at issue.

The employee must follow any subsequent 
instructions made by the Council’s MLRO – no 
further enquiries into the matter may be taken 
without authorisation from the MLRO. 

All disclosure reports made to the MLRO (and the 
reports submitted to the NCA) must be retained 
by the MLRO for a minimum of five years – the 
MLRO will keep a record of all referrals received 
and any action taken to ensure an audit trail is 
maintained. The Money Laundering Disclosure 
Form should be used to record any action taken.
 
Reporting to the National Crime  
Agency (NCA)
The disclosure will be noted by the MLRO, 
and they will evaluate the information provided 
to identify if there are reasonable grounds for 
suspicion of money laundering. The MLRO may 
commence an investigation to enable a decision 
on whether to report the matter to the NCA.

If a decision is made to submit a report, the NCA 
provide forms for completion to enable a SAR to 
be submitted. The MLRO must promptly make a 
Suspicious Activity Report (SAR) to the  
National Crime Agency.

If the MLRO know or suspect that a person is 
engaged in money laundering and they do not 
disclose this to the NCA, they are committing 
a criminal offence. Care should be taken that 
the client suspected of money laundering is 
not alerted that a report has been made to the 
NCA – tipping off is a specific offence under the 
Proceeds of Crime Act 2002. 

If no report is made, the reasons for this must be 
recorded by the MLRO.

79

https://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk


24

Money laundering offences 
There are three principal money laundering 
offences under Proceeds of Crime Act 2002. 
An offence is committed if a person knows, or 
suspects property has been purchased with the 
proceeds from a criminal act and: 

■ conceals, disguises, converts or transfers or 
removes the property from the UK – Section 
327

■ enters into arrangement which they know, 
or suspect, will facilitate another person to 
acquire, retain, use or control that property – 
Section 328

■ acquires, uses or possesses the property – 
Section 329

Property can include money, real or moveable 
property including inherited assets and also 
intangible property (eg mortgages, leases, rights 
etc).

The money laundering offences are aimed at 
criminals and their associates, but any person 
can be caught by the offences if they suspect 
money laundering and either become involved 
or do nothing about it. It is not necessary to have 
benefitted in any way to be guilty of the offences. 

The key requirement for Council employees 
and partners is to promptly report (Section 337 
disclosure) any suspected money laundering 
activity to the Council’s MLRO. While the risk 
to the Council of contravening the legislation is 
low, it is important that all employees are familiar 
with their responsibilities as serious criminal 
sanctions can be imposed for breaches of 
legislation. 

Section 337 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 
provides protection to employees when they 
report suspected money laundering. There are 
conditions to this:

■ the information must come to the 
employee’s notice in the course of their 
trade, profession, business or employment 
and

■ causes the employee to know or suspect (or 
give reasonable ground to know or suspect) 
that another person is engaged in money 
laundering and

■ the disclosure is made to a constable, 
customs officer or the nominated MLRO

It is also important to note that when a 
proposed act or transaction is a suspected 
money laundering offence anyone knowing 
or suspecting money laundering who is then 
involved in the act or transaction is guilty of the 
same offence unless they have made a Section 
337 disclosure and appropriate consent has 
been given.

A Section 337 money laundering disclosure is 
strictly confidential. There must be no disclosure 
or other indication to the person suspected of 
money laundering. Section 342 of the Proceeds 
of Crime Act states that a person may be guilty 
of this offence if they:

■ make a disclosure likely to prejudice the 
investigation

■ falsify, conceal, destroy or dispose of 
documents relevant to the investigation

■ failure to comply with these requirements 
could amount to the criminal offence of 
Prejudicing an Investigation

General procedures 
Cash Payments
No cash payment to the Council will be accepted 
if it exceeds £1,000. Cash is defined as notes, 
coins or any currency.

Identification of new clients
It is important to ‘know your customer’ – 
employees should be wary of situations where 
funds flow through the Council from sources 
with which it is not familiar. Where the Council 
is forming a new business relationship and/or 
is considering a significant one off transaction 
with a new client, evidence of identity of the 
prospective client should be obtained before 
proceeding 

80



25

It is good practice to have either:

■ one government document that verifies the 
name, address and date of birth or

■ a government document that verifies their 
full name and another supporting document 
which verifies name and either their date of 
birth or address

Where it is not possible to obtain such 
documents, it is necessary to consider the risks 
associated with the client and seek advice from 
the MLRO or Deputy MLRO.

Possible signs of money laundering
The following signs may be indicators of money 
laundering taking place and employees should 
be vigilant about:

■ Concerns about honesty, integrity or location 
of the client

■ Secretive behaviour eg refusal to provide 
information 

■ Attempted payment of a substantial sum of 
cash 

■ Transactions which appear uneconomic, 
inefficient or irrational 

■ Illogical third party transactions – 
unnecessary routing of funds from third 
parties 

■ Illogical involvement of an unconnected third 
party

■ Funds received from an unexpected source 
■ Instructions for payment to an unexpected 

source
■ Significant overpayments (and subsequent 

request for refund)
■ Refunds following reversal or cancellation of 

an earlier transaction 
■ No obvious legitimate source of funds
■ Unusual request for client account details 
■ Poor business records or internal controls

Officer training and awareness
Officers can undertake a fraud awareness 
elearning course which includes money 
laundering. There are some areas of the 
Council’s activities that may be more vulnerable 
to attempts to launder money. 

Further information
Further information can be obtained from the 
MLRO and the following sources:

National Crime Agency 

UK Legislation

Terrorism Act 2000 

Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 

The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and 
Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) 
Regulations 2017

81

https://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/692/pdfs/uksi_20170692_en.pd
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/11/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/29/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/692/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/692/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/692/contents


26

Money laundering report form
Report to Money Laundering Reporting Officer

Officer name

Title and department

Telephone

Email

Details of suspected offence

Names and addresses of persons involved

Nature of activity

Value of activity

Nature of suspicions

Have you discussed your suspicions  
with anybody?

Do you have any reason not to disclose  
the matter to NCA?

For completion by the MLRO

Date received

Date acknowledged

Case number reference

Are there reasonable grounds for  
suspecting money laundering?

Confirm date of report to NCA (if yes)

Category

1 – Debt or charge
2 – Overpayment
3 – Refund 
4 – Cashier or error
5 – Land or building resale within 3-12 months
6 – House or asset resale within 3 months 

Signed and dated

This report should be retained for a minimum of 5 years

82



27
83



Contact Details
Alternative formats are available on request: 

audio, large print and Braille
 

South Kesteven District Council
01476 40 60 80 

8www.southkesteven.gov.uk

84



 

 

 

Governance and Audit 
Committee 

26 January 2022 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

  Deputy Leader of the Council  

         
  

 

Financial Management Code 

To update Members on the progress being made on the implementation of the new CIPFA 
Financial Management Code.  The report provides an update on the progress of the Action Plan 
that was approved by the Committee on 9 June 2021.  
 
 

Report Author 

Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance & s151 Officer) 

 
01476 406210 

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright (Head of Finance and ICT) 9 December 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford (Chief Executive)  9 December 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes (Deputy Leader of the 
Council) 

10 December 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. The Governance and Audit Committee is asked to note the progress being made in 
respect of the Financial Management Code Action Plan.   

 

85

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Local government finance in the UK is governed by primary legislation, regulation and 

professional standards. However, until recently, the financial management of local 

authorities has not been supported by a professional code.  

1.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) has published its 

Financial Management Code (FM Code) to provide guidance for good and sustainable 

financial management in local authorities. It has been produced to assist local authorities 

in demonstrating their financial sustainability through a set of standards of financial 

management.  

1.3 At its meeting on 9 June 2021, Governance and Audit Committee was presented with a 

report setting out the framework of the Financial Management Code, the details of a self-

assessment against the Code requirements and an outline of an action plan that 

responded to the outstanding areas. 

1.4 It was agreed that six monthly updates would be presented to the Committee to track and 

monitor progress against the Code requirements via Action Plan updates. An updated self-

assessment and supporting evidence is provided at Appendix A. 

1.5 A summary of the actions that have been reviewed since the last update are provided 

below: 

Financial Management 
Standard 

Action Required  Updated Position of Action  

The authority applies 

the CIPFA/SOLACE 

Delivering Good 

Governance in Local  

Government: 
Framework (2016) 
 

Undertake a 
comprehensive review 
of the Code of 
Corporate Governance  

The initial area of the review has focussed 
on the Constitution review and the following 
actions are noted: 

• Since the initial adoption of South 

Kesteven District Council’s Constitution, 

a number of subsequent amendments 

have been made to the document. 

Unfortunately, over time, there are now a 

number of inconsistencies, 

contradictions and areas open for 

interpretation that need addressing to 

greatly improve the document and 

provide a better platform for decision-

making and accountability. 

• An initial review of the Constitution has 

been undertaken recently, further to 

which a revised format has been 

proposed, which reverts back to that 

recommended as part of the model 

Constitution. This provides a better 

structure for the document and reduces 

the number of articles and sections 

currently included in the Council’s 

Constitution. 

86



 

 
 

• One of the sections most open to 

interpretation is that of the Council’s 

scheme of delegation, particularly in 

relation to its executive decision-making 

arrangements and which decisions can 

be taken by Cabinet, individual Cabinet 

Members or via delegated authority to 

officers. 

• A new Responsibility for Functions 

section, which is effectively the Council’s 

scheme of delegation, has been the 

subject of review over the last few 

months with a revised version being 

presented to Constitution Committee on 

10 January 2022 and recommended for 

adoption at Full Council on 27 January 

2022. 

• It is anticipated that the rest of the 

Constitution will have undertaken a full 

review in order that this can be adopted 

in its entirety at the Council’s AGM in 

May 2022. 

The authority has 
carried out a credible 
and transparent 
financial resilience 
assessment 

Development of 

resilience scenario 

planning and testing as 

part of the Medium 

Term Financial 

Planning (MTFP) 

The MTFP is currently being reviewed and 
updated to reflect the changing financial 
landscape. 

The authority complies 

with the CIPFA 

Prudential Code for 

Capital Finance in 

Local Authorities 

Assess implications 
arising from changes in 
Prudential Code  

The Council complies with the Code. There 
may be changes to Code requirements, but 
these have not yet been published so the 
Council is not yet in a position to consider 
them. 

The Leadership team 
takes action using 
reports enabling it to 
identify and correct 
emerging risks to its 
budget plans and 
financial sustainability 

Develop a partnership 
protocol, assurance 
framework and register. 
There are mechanisms 
in place to report the 
performance of the 
authority’s significant 
delivery partnerships  

A partnership protocol has been developed: 

Partnerships can take a variety of forms, 
including but not limited to: 
 
Formal 
- Investment/Financial partnerships where 

two parties co-invest in an asset/service 
- Joint ventures with an organisation in the 

private sector to deliver a 
service/product 

- Shared Services with other public sector 
partners (eg East Midlands Building 
Control) that can deliver greater skills or 

87



 

 
 

value for money by achieving economies 
of scale 

 
Informal 
- Partnerships with community or 

voluntary sector groups to support local 
communities 

- Informal arrangements on an ad-hoc 
basis with other public or private sector 
organisations to achieve a specific 
objective 
 

In all instances there is the need to establish 
the basis for the partnership by 
understanding: 
 
- What are the shared objectives (ie what 

are we seeking to achieve together) 
- What is each partner contributing to the 

partnership and what do they expect to 
get out of it (ie return on each partners 
investment) 

- What success looks like and how it will 
be reviewed and lessons learnt identified 
and implemented 

- How the partnership makes decisions, 
including operational decisions (eg day 
to day expenditure) and strategic ones 
(eg whether to continue, expand or end 
a partnership) 
 

In addition to this for formal partnerships 
there is a need to establish a formal and 
clear Governance structure, with 
appropriate accountabilities and scrutiny. 
For example partnerships that take the form 
of a company at SKDC are held to account 
by Companies Committee, where business 
plans will be presented and reviewed 
regularly. Formal partnerships that are not in 
the form of a company (eg a shared service 
arrangement) fall within the scope of the 
relevant overview and scrutiny committee. 
Each partner in a partnership should have 
appropriate and clear governance in place 
within their own organisation. 
 
For informal partnerships formal governance 
is not essential, but it is recommended that 
there is some kind of document or terms of 
reference to the partnership to ensure all 
partners have clear expectations.  

88



 

 
 

The leadership team 
monitors the elements 
of its balance sheet that 
pose a significant risk 
to its financial 
sustainability  

Consider if other major 
balance sheet items 
should include regular 
financial reporting 

This is still under review to consider whether 
there are any changes to the Balance Sheet 
during any financial year that would have a 
material impact on the financial position of 
the Council  

 

The above summary demonstrates the Council continues to review and assess its current 

financial and governance arrangements with respect to the Code and is making progress 

against those areas where there was further compliance and adherence needs. It is 

suggested that further updates are provided to the Committee in six months’ time. 

Over the coming period the following actions will be undertaken: 

• A review of the Local Code of Corporate Governance 

• Development of resilience scenario planning and testing as part of the Medium Term 
Financial Planning 2022/23 – 2024/25   

• Assess implications arising from changes to the Treasury Management Prudential 
Code (dependent upon the final publication) 

• Consider if other major balance sheet items should be included in regular financial 
reporting 

• Develop a partnership register to set out roles, responsibilities, governance and 
performance 

• Review Contract Procedure Rules and Financial Regulations 

 As set out above these areas will be included in the Annual Governance Statement and 

progress will continue to be monitored through the Governance and Audit Committee.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Committee is invited to comment on the contents of the report. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 N/a 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The preferred option is set out in the report. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation  

5.1 The Code is a new requirement for the Council to adopt and integrate into its operating 

framework. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The Code and the supporting actions will be reported to members following approval. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report. 

89



 

 
 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance & 

s151 Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The implementation of the Code strengthens the financial governance arrangements of 

the Council and is to be welcomed. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 None identified. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 None identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 None. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Financial Management Code Summary 

 

 

 

90



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

A The leadership team is able 

to demonstrate that the 

services provided by the 

authority provide value for 

money  

The authority has a clear and 
consistent understanding of what 
value for money means to it and its 
leadership team.   
  

There are suitable mechanisms in 
place to promote value for money at 
a corporate level and at the level of 
individual services.   
  

The authority is able to 

demonstrate the action that is has 

taken to promote value for money 

and what it has achieved.  

The Council has clear accountability and arrangements to deliver value for 

money. The Council continues to receive a positive Value for Money (VFM) 

Judgement by the External Auditors which demonstrates that the Council has 

proper arrangements in place for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness (3 E’s) in its use of resources.  

  

• VFM is a key part of any business case submitted and decisions have a 
clear focus on VFM.  

• Policy decisions incorporates changes to policy with financial aspects 
delivers VFM as part of the proposal eg staffing restructures, discretionary 
service delivery models etc.  

• The Annual Governance Statement focuses on all aspects of governance, 
but critically on processes around VFM in service provision. 

• The Medium Term Financial Plan delivers a robust three year budget plan 
through a rigorous budget setting process. One of the key objectives of the 
MTFS is to provide cost effective services which demonstrate value for 
money.    

• The budget setting cycle incorporates a demonstration of costs in 
comparison to performance standards and outcomes. 

• The performance framework includes regular monitoring of the Corporate 
Plan outcomes to ensure that the key aims are progressed to budget, 
timescales, and outcomes.  

• The performance framework includes regular service monitoring of detailed 
performance trends covering:   
 

− Performance measures eg throughput, time taken and outstanding work   

− Volumetric measures to add contextual background data  

− Customer satisfaction – feedback through satisfaction monitoring and 

complaints and compliments monitoring  

− Quarterly Dashboard summarising all aspects of performance within the 

VFM chain  

 

91



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

The Council has in place a number of polices to ensure that there are robust 

arrangements surrounding the commitment of expenditure, contracts with third 

parties and the management of risk: 

  

• Financial Regulations 
• Procurement Regulations 
• Contract management arrangements 
• Risk Management Framework  
 
The Council proactively reviews delivery models for service delivery to ensure 
cost effective alternative models are explored: 
 
• Service delivery changes to Customer Services 
• Provision of leisure services, economic development and grounds 

maintenance services via 100% owned Council company models 
 

The Council will continue to review its delivery models to ensure they remain fit 

for purpose, provide value for money and meet customer needs and 

expectations  

B The authority complies with 

the CIPFA Statement on the 

Role of the Chief Finance 

Officer (CFO) in Local 

Government 

In summary this Statement requires 
that the CFO:  
 
• Is a key member of the leadership 

team, helping it to develop and 
implement strategy and to 
resource and deliver the 
organisation’s strategic objectives 
sustainably and in the public 
interest.  

• Must be actively involved in, and 
able to bring influence to bear on, 
all material business decisions   

• Must lead the promotion and 
delivery by the whole 

The CFO post is a member of the Corporate Management Team and has 

direct access to the Chief Executive.  

 

The CFO leads on the development of the Medium Term Financial Plan and 

ensures that all risks are considered and in conjunction with the Cabinet 

Member for Finance and Resources, the Leader and his Cabinet and the Chief 

Executive and the Corporate Management Team.  

  

The CFO is a suitably qualified accountant with significant experience of local 

government finance. Continuing professional development is undertaken as 

required by the accounting body.  

  

92



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

organisation of good financial 
management so that public 
money is safeguarded at all times 
and used appropriately, 
economically, efficiently and 
effectively.  

• Must lead and direct a finance 
function that is resourced to be fit 
for purpose.  

• Must be professionally qualified 
and suitably experienced.  

 

There are contracts in place for specialist financial advice (technical 

accounting, treasury management, financial management and planning and 

taxation). 

 

The CFO, through the Finance team, provides the financial reporting and 

monitoring to the Corporate Management Team and Members, with the 

Treasury Management reporting going to both Governance and Audit 

Committee and Council as prescribed in the CIPFA Prudential Code and the 

CIPFA Treasury Management Code. 

 

The Finance Team is suitably resourced with appropriately qualified staff and is 

fit for purpose.  This team includes 2 qualified accountants, 4 part qualified 

accountants and 2 qualified accounting technicians. All officers undertake 

continuing professional development as required by their accounting bodies.  

 

Full staff appraisals have been undertaken with the Finance team to ensure 

that professional and personal development needs have been incorporated in 

the training programme. 

 

Both the CFO (s151 Officer) and the Deputy 151 Officer have access to 

mentoring arrangements with external support in order to able to develop skills 

and discuss work styles and approaches to different scenarios that may 

present themselves. 

C The Leadership Team 

demonstrates in its actions 

and behaviours responsibility 

for governance and internal 

control 

The leadership team adheres to the 
Nolan Principles.  
  

The authority has a clear framework 
for governance and internal control.   
  

The leadership team has established 
effective arrangements for 

The leadership exhibit the Nolan Principles of Public Life.  

 

There are Financial Procedure Rules which are subject to regular reviews. The 

last review was in 2020 and these were considered by Governance and Audit 

Committee and then Full Council for approval. There are also separate 

Contract Procedure Rules which were reviewed and approved in 2020.  Both 

policies are clear about the respective authorisation limits for authorisation of 

contracts and the subsequent commitment/incurrence of expenditure.   

  

93



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

assurance, internal audit and 
internal accountability.  

  

The leadership team adopts the 
highest standards of governance 
and internal control.   
  

The leadership team nurtures a 
culture of effective governance and 
robust internal control across the 
authority.   
  

The Council’s Governance and Audit Committee considers all aspects of audit 

activity and the regulatory framework including corporate governance, as part 

of its Terms of Reference.   

  

All Committees have separate and specific Terms of Reference.  

 

There is a Code of Conduct for Members which is overseen by the Constitution 

Committee and there is a Code of Conduct for Officers.  

  

The authority has in place a clear framework for governance and internal 

controls through its Local Code of Corporate Governance.  

  

There are effective arrangements for assurance, internal audit and internal 

accountability. Any areas of concern raised through those arrangements are 

managed robustly and transparently.   

  

The Senior Management Team embraces high standards of governance and 

internal control and communicates these clearly to all staff.   

  

There is a culture of effective governance and robust internal control.  Internal 

audit is used to bring focus to any areas of concern and to ensure that 

standards remain high.  

 

The Financial Regulations will be reviewed and updated as part of the overall 

Constitution review and will be presented to the Governance and Audit 

Committee and Council during 2022/23. 

 

The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules will be reviewed and updated as part 

of the comprehensive Constitution review and will be presented to the 

Governance and Audit Committee and Council during 2022/23. 

  

 

94



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

D The authority applies the  

CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering  

Good Governance in Local  

Government: Framework 
(2016) 

  

The authority is aware of the 
provisions of the CIPFA Delivering 
Good Governance Framework.  
  

The authority has sought to apply 

the principles, behaviour and actions 

set out in the Framework to its own 

governance arrangements.  

 
The authority has in place a suitable 
Local Code of Corporate 
Governance. 

The Council has developed a Local Code of Corporate Governance, and this 
was approved by the Council’s Governance and Audit Committee. The Code 
will be reviewed and updated during 2021 as part of the work programme of 
the Committee. 
 

The Framework recommends that a Local Code of Corporate Governance is 

developed and reported against annually. The Council’s Annual Governance 

Statement details how the Council has complied with its own Local Code of 

Corporate Governance over the preceding year and meets the statutory 

requirements with areas of concern reported and monitored.  

E The financial management 

style of the authority supports 

financial sustainability  

Strong financial management is 
assessed against a hierarchy of 
delivering accountability, supporting 
performance, allocation of resources 
to deliver Corporate Plan and 
enabling transformation whilst 
delivering Value for Money. 

 
  

 

The Council has an effective framework of financial accountability through:  
  

• Member delegations which include financial responsibilities.   
• Officer delegations which include financial responsibilities.   
• Financial Procedure Rules which set out financial responsibilities for 

Directors, Assistant Directors Budget Managers and all employees of the 
Council and all Members.   

  

The Council has an effective performance management framework in place 
including performance measures, customer satisfaction, monitoring of key 
strategic projects, quarterly performance reporting, quarterly dashboard across 
all aspects of performance.  
  

The Finance Team operate a business partnering approach with budget 

holders (Heads of Service) and ensure there is dedicated support.  

  

There are examples of financial management supporting transformation and 
innovation and the Council has established a Invest to Save reserve in order 
to provide access to specific funding in order to accelerate invest to save 
initiatives that are supported by a robust business case.  
  

95



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

The Finance Team now approach a business partner approach with respect to 

supporting services across the Council to manage their budgets, support 

financial planning and forecasting, support scenario modelling for changes to 

service delivery options including a demonstration of VFM. 

F The authority has carried out 

a credible and transparent 

financial resilience 

assessment  

The authority undertakes a financial 
resilience assessment.   
  

That assessment tests the resilience 
of the authority’s financial plans to a 
broad range of alternative scenarios.   
  

The authority takes appropriate 

action to address any risks identified 

as part of the assessment. 

The Council has access to the CIPFA Financial Resilience index and will 
undertake a review whether it is comfortable with the areas that the index flags 
as outside the median when compared with other lower tier Councils.  
  

There has not been an independent assessment of the local authority’s 
financial resilience other than the CIPFA index and the annual external audit.  
  

In the annual budget reports presented to Council there is a risk register which 
details the potential risks that could impact on the financial resilience of the 
budget framework and also sets out the potential impact and likelihood of the 
identified risks. The pre-cursor report sets out more detail on the key variables 
and the impact of changes in the underlying budget assumptions. Finally, the 
budget report sets out an analysis of the Council’s reserves and includes a 
financial risk register which is used as a guide to the maintenance of a prudent 
level of general balances.  
 
The Council’s MTFP will continue to be reviewed and updated to reflect 
changes to the financial environment from both a national, regional and local 
context. During the current time the financial outlook remains uncertain due to 
lack of clarity with respect to the national funding formula and potential funding 
changes arising from the ‘levelling up’ agenda of Central Government.  

G The authority understands its 

prospects for financial 

sustainability in the longer 

term and has reported this 

clearly to members 

The authority has a sufficiently 
robust understanding of the risks to 
its financial sustainability.   

  

The authority has a Corporate Plan 
and the long term financing of the 
ambitions set out in the Plan will be 

The Council produces a 3-year MTFP and a 30-year Housing Business Plan 
incorporating revenue and capital models using a range of assumptions for 
economic factors and service related factors.  
  

The current high levels of uncertainty around future funding for local 
government, and the legacy impacts of COVID-19, make producing a 
meaningful long term plan very challenging. This risk to financial planning is 

96



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

incorporated into the annual budget 
setting methodology.  
  

The authority reports its prospects 
for long-term financial sustainability, 
the associated risks and the impact 
of these for short- and medium-term 
decision making.  

incorporated into the medium term financial planning and was reflected in the 
Council approving an in-year amended budget during 2020.  
  

The Council has a robust approach to risk management with a newly adopted 
Strategic Risk Register.  This Register sets out the risk definition, the risk 
owner, controls and actions. In addition all corporate projects are supported by 
specific risk logs.  

H The authority complies with 

the CIPFA Prudential Code 

for Capital Finance in Local 

Authorities 

  

The authority is aware of its 
obligations under the Prudential 
Code.  
  

The authority has an approved 
Capital Strategy.   
  

The authority has a set of prudential 
indicators in line with the Prudential 
Code.   
  

The authority has suitable 
mechanisms for monitoring its 
performance against the prudential 
indicators that it has set.   

The Council is aware of its obligations under the Prudential Code and has 
assessed itself as compliant with those obligations.  The Council approves a 
three year capital programme with a clearly set out supporting Financing 
statement. The Capital Strategy sets out the high level plans, with individual 
decisions made about investments or capital schemes, through separate 
reports to members.  
  

The Council also has a 30-year Housing Business Plan which includes a 30-
year capital investment programme.  This plan is reviewed on an annual basis 
to reflect both the annual outturn and the approved annual budget.    
  

Individual financial modelling of capital schemes covers a longer term frame, 
typically over the asset life and is factored into investment decisions.  
  

There are effective mechanisms in place to monitor performance against the 

code, with 6-monthly reporting to the Governance and Audit Committee in 

accordance with its terms of reference.  

I The authority has a rolling 
multi-year medium-term 
financial plan consistent with 
sustainable service plans  
  

The authority has in place an agreed 
Medium Term Financial Plan.  
  

The Medium Term Financial Plan 
consistent with and integrated into 
relevant service plans and its capital 
strategy.  

The Council has in place a 3- year MTFP which is updated annually on a 
rolling basis. This plan is consistent with the capital strategy and refreshed to 
reflect relevant strategic priorities, commitments, underlying assumptions and 
emergent issues and to agree future savings targets. This ensures that the 
Council always has a medium term budget, allowing for sufficient time to time 
to plan and deliver any required savings.  
 

97



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

The Medium Term Financial Plan 
has been prepared on the basis of a 
robust assessment of the relevant 
drivers of cost and demand.  
  

The Medium Term Financial Plan 
has been tested for resilience 
against realistic potential variations 
in key drivers of cost and demand.  

The development of service budgets across all Directorate areas enables the 
golden thread to be embedded from the Corporate Plan, the MTFP through to 
the service plans. Cost drivers and demand are considered within each 
directorate and used to form the basis of pressures identified and mitigations/ 
savings put forward as part of the annual budget setting process.  
 
Although the plan is set on a rolling 3-year basis, there is the opportunity 
annually to revisit plans where the latest data indicates that there have been 
material changes to assumptions, as demonstrated in recent years.  

The Annual Budget 

J The authority complies with 

its statutory obligations in 

respect of the budget setting 

process 

The authority is aware of its statutory 
obligations in respect of the budget-
setting process.   
  

The authority has set a balanced 
budget for the current year.   
  

The authority is likely to be able to 
set a balanced budget for the 
forthcoming year.   
  

The authority is aware of the 
circumstances under which it would 
consider a Section 114 notice and 
how it would go about doing so.  

The Council understands its obligation in respect of the budget setting process 
and has set a balanced budget for the current year, and the following two 
years. The Council’s budget setting process is designed to deliver a balanced 
budget each year without any reliance on reserves to resource day to day 
expenditure.   
  

  

K The budget report includes a 

statement by the Chief 

Finance Officer on the 

robustness of the estimates 

and a statement on the 

adequacy of the proposed 

financial reserves 

The authority’s most recent budget 
report includes a statement by the 
CFO on the robustness of the 
estimates and a statement of the 
adequacy of the proposed financial 
reserves.   
  

The most recent budget report includes a statement by the CFO on the 

robustness of the estimates and a statement of the adequacy of the proposed 

financial reserves.   

 

The budget report sets out the detail of estimates in terms of key estimates e.g. 

business rates, council tax grants, housing rents, specific grants, fees and 

charges etc.  

98



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

The report accurately identifies and 
considers the most significant 
estimates used to prepare the 
budget, the potential for these 
estimates to be incorrect and the 
impact should this be the case.   
  
The authority has sufficient reserves 
to ensure its financial sustainability 
for the foreseeable future.   
  
The report sets out the current level 
of the authority’s reserves, whether 
these are sufficient to ensure the 
authority’s ongoing financial 
sustainability and the action that the 
authority is taking to address any 
shortfall. 

  

The Council currently has sufficient reserves which ensures its sustainability 

for the foreseeable future. This position has been impacted by COVID-19 with 

the required use of reserves kept under review during this period.   

 

The financial resilience of the Council is underpinned by both a Working 

Balance and a Budget Stabilisation Reserve – both of which will allow the 

Council to meet financial turbulence without having to take short term 

draconian action that could have a negative impact on service delivery.  The 

authority has a prudent approach to what is needed to manage risks.   

  

The report sets out the current level of the authority’s reserves, the sufficiency 

of them and the plans for the use of reserves in the future and a requirement to 

ensure reserves are replenished over the period of the MTFS through 

achievement of the savings programme.  

  

 

Stakeholder Engagement and Business Plans  

L The authority has engaged 

where appropriate with key 

stakeholders in developing 

its long-term financial 

outlook, medium term 

financial plan and annual 

budget 

The authority knows who its key 
stakeholders are. The authority has 
sought to engage with key 
stakeholders in developing its long-
term financial strategy, its medium 
term financial plan and its annual 
budget.  
 
The authority has assessed the 
effectiveness of this engagement.   
 
The authority has a plan to 
improvement its engagement with 
key stakeholders. 

The Council is aware of who its key stakeholders are.  

  

The Council undertakes formal annual consultation and engagement with both 

its residents and its business community when formulating and considering its 

budget and spending plans.  The findings are presented to Council as part of 

the annual budget setting cycle. 

 

The Council will continue to explore alternative ways to engage with key 

stakeholders not only during the budget setting process but during the financial 

year in order to ensure stakeholders are kept aware of the financial challenges 

and opportunities that face to Council. 

 

   

99



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

M The authority uses an 

appropriate documented 

option appraisal 

methodology to demonstrate 

the value for money of its 

decisions 

The authority has a documented 
option appraisal methodology that is 
consistent with the guidance set out 
in IFAC/PAIB publication ‘Project 
and Investment Appraisal for 
Sustainable Value Creation: 
Principles in Project and Investment 
Appraisal’.   
  
The authority offers guidance to 
officers as to when an option 
appraisal should be undertaken.  
  
The authority’s approach to option 
appraisal includes appropriate 
techniques for the qualitative and 
quantitative assessment of options.   
  
The authority’s approach to option 
appraisal includes suitable 
mechanisms to address risk and 
uncertainty.   
  
The authority reports the results of 
option appraisals in a clear, robust 
and informative manner that gives 
clear recommendations and outlines 
the risk associated with any 
preferred option(s). 

The Council does not currently have a singular process for undertaking and 

documenting option appraisals.  These are undertaken on a case-by-case 

basis, influenced by the scale of investment and also the requirements of the 

financing options. For all projects this covers as a minimum the MTFP period 

and for larger scale investment these are usually based on a whole life cycle 

basis.  

  

In considering any large scale projects, the Council also undertakes a 

development appraisal from a commercial developer perspective in order to 

assess overall scheme viability, as well as financial modelling from a local 

authority perspective.  

  

Senior members of the Finance Team work alongside property colleagues, and 

the relevant director, and are all involved in the preparation of all financial 

modelling with key input from the service area leading on delivery.  

  

The Council’s project management framework is clear that that there are no 

major investments or service changes without developing a business case 

including an options appraisal and project initiation documents.  These are 

reviewed and managed by the Corporate Management Team prior to 

presentation to Members.  

  

These contain both quantitative evaluation of costs and benefits and qualitative 

evaluation of fit to service objectives and outcomes for residents/service users.  

  

The project documentation includes an evaluation of risk and uncertainty and 

the extent that this can be mitigated for given options.   

  

Reports for decision set out the outcomes of these business case/option 

appraisals with clear recommendations and risk. Risks from agreed options are 

then managed through the corporate risk management approach.  

 

100



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

Monitoring Financial Performance 

N The leadership team takes 

action using reports enabling 

it to identify and correct 

emerging risks to its budget 

plans and financial 

sustainability 

The reports cover both forward and 
backward looking information in 
respect of financial and operational 
performance.  
  
There are mechanisms in place to 
report the performance of the 
authority’s significant delivery 
partnerships.   
  
The reports are provided to the 
leadership team in a timely manner 
and in a suitable format.   
  
The leadership team is happy with 
the reports that it receives and with 
its ability to use these reports to take 
appropriate action. 

Quarterly financial monitoring reports are provided to Directorate Management 

Teams, Corporate Management Team, Performance Scrutiny and the 

Executive, which identify significant variances and corrective actions being 

taken. The reports cover the position to date and the forecast for the remainder 

of the financial year. It also includes progress against savings targets and 

planned use of/contributions to earmarked reserves.  

  

Quarterly reporting is also provided in respect of the Council’s basket of key 

operational performance indicators.  

  

Reporting to officers is periodically one month after the quarter end with 

reporting to Members at the first available public meeting. Financial forecasts 

are available on a more regular basis and accessible by budget managers – 

this would highlight significant variances earlier. Services will compile 

performance information on a more regular basis and where relevant highlight 

the impacts of these.  

  

There are mechanisms established to report the performance of the authority’s 

significant delivery partnerships and these too are incorporated into the 

financial reporting process.  

O The leadership team 

monitors the elements of its 

balance sheet that pose a 

significant risk to its financial 

sustainability 

The authority has identified the 
elements of its balance sheet that 
are most critical to its financial 
sustainability.   
  

The authority has put in place 
suitable mechanisms to monitor the 
risk associated with these critical 
elements of its balance sheet.   
  

The Council has historically considered its reserves position, investments and 
borrowing, and debt levels as most critical and therefore reporting is currently 
only made on these elements of the balance sheet.   
  

Forecast use/contribution of/to reserves is reported on a regular basis to the 
Corporate Management Team, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet.  
This highlights any changes to planned use/contribution to balances as well as 
movements in budgeted contributions to/from earmarked reserves.     
  

Borrowing and investments are reported to Governance and Audit Committee 

(as per the Committee’s Terms of Reference) on a 6-monthly basis as part of 

101



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

The authority reports unplanned any 
use of its reserves in a timely 
manner.   
  

The monitoring of balance sheet 
risks is integrated into the authority’s 
management accounts reporting 
processes.   

the Treasury Management reporting. Prudential Code requirements are 

adhered too to provide the risk management of treasury activity.  

  

The level of arrears for Council Tax, Business Rates, Housing Benefit 

Overpayments and Former Tenant Arrears are reported to the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on a regular basis. In addition, key service areas are 

provided with arrears information as part of account management meetings.  

  

Other assets and liabilities are not routinely reported on as this is not deemed 
necessary.   
 
Officers are currently reviewing if other major balance sheet items can be 
made more visible in quarterly financial reporting.  

 External Financial Reporting   

P The CFO has personal and 

statutory responsibility for 

ensuring that the statement 

of accounts produced by the 

local authority complies with 

the reporting requirements of 

the Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in 

the United Kingdom 

The authority’s leadership team is 
aware of the CFO’s responsibilities 
in terms of the preparation of the 
annual financial statements.   
  
The authority’s CFO is aware of their 
responsibilities in terms of the 
preparation of the annual financial 
statements.   
  
These responsibilities are included 
in the CFO’s role description, 
personal objectives and other 
relevant performance management 
mechanisms.  
  
The authority’s financial statements 
have hitherto been prepared on time 
and in accordance with the 

The authority’s leadership team and the CFO are aware of the CFO’s 

responsibilities in terms of the preparation of the annual financial statements.   

  

These responsibilities form part of the CFO’s role description and personal 

objectives.   

  

The authority’s financial statements have been prepared on time and in 

accordance with the requirements of the Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom and have been consistently given an 

unqualified opinion by external auditors.  

  

 

102



APPENDIX 1  

  

Ref 
Financial Management 

Standard 
Detail Self-Assessment Summary 

requirements of the Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom. 

Q The presentation of the final 

outturn figures and variations 

from budget provides the 

Authority with a detailed 

analysis and helps inform 

any strategic financial 

decisions 

The relevant Committees are 
presented with a suitable suite of 
reports on the authority’s financial 
outturn and on significant variations 
from budget.   
  
The information in these reports is 
presented effectively.   
 
These reports are focused on 
information that is of interest and 
relevance to the leadership team.  

The presentation of the final outturn position compares the outturn to the 

revised budget and explains the reasons for any key variances from budget. 

The report sets out the impact of these variances on general balances and 

earmarked reserves and makes proposals for further contributions to/or from 

these. 

 

The report also sets out the impact of key variances on the budget that was 

approved and identifies any medium impact if relevant.  

  

These reports focus on material issues, which require action or awareness 

from the leadership team and therefore are appropriately focused.  

 

103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Governance and Audit 
Committee 

26 January 2022. 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

  Deputy Leader of the Council  

         
  

 

2021/22 Treasury Management Activity Mid-Year 
Review and 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 

This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to produce 
regular reports on treasury and debt management operations during the financial year. This report 
meets the requirements of the CIPFA code of practice on Treasury Management (the Code). 

 

 

Report Author 

Alison Hall-Wright (Head of Finance & ICT)  

 
01476 406210 

 alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Regulatory All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Claire Morgan (Senior Accountant) 9 December 2021 

Approved by: Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance) 10 December 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes (Deputy Leader of the 
Council) 

13 December 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that members of the Governance and Audit Committee note and 
approve the contents of the mid-year review of treasury management activity for 
2021/22 

2. Recommends to Council the 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy  

105

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

           Introduction 

1.1 Treasury Management is the term used to cover the Council’s borrowing and investment 

strategies. The Council has formally adopted the key recommendations of the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) code of practice on treasury 

management (revised 2017). In line with the code the council has adopted a treasury 

management policy statement that requires regular reports on treasury and debt 

management operations during the financial year. 

1.2 Additionally, under part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003, the Council is required to 

have regard to the Prudential Code for capital finance including the setting of Prudential 

Indicators. Relevant treasury management indicators were incorporated into the Treasury 

Management Strategy 2021/22 approved by Council on 1 March 2021. From 2019/20 all 

local authorities were required to produce a Capital Strategy; this report was presented 

and approved by Council on 1 March 2021. 

1.3 This report is submitted in accordance with these requirements and provides a review of 

treasury management for the period ended 30 September 2021 and reviews current 

developments. The following elements are covered by the report: 

• A review of debt management operations 

• A review of investment operations 

• An update on the treasury management Prudential Code Indicators 

• An economic update for the first part of the 2021/22 financial year 
 

1.4 The CIPFA Treasury Management panel promotes the view that Council’s monitor 

performance at least half yearly. In addition to this, a report by the audit commission 

entitles ‘Risk and Return’ identifies the need for local authorities to report regularly to 

members in addition to the annual review. 

1.5 Appendix B of this report details the proposed 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement (TMSS) which the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 

Public Services (the “CIPFA Treasury Management Code”) and the CIPFA Prudential 

Code require local authorities to produce on an annual basis.   

           Treasury Management Update 

 Debt Management Operations Borrowing 

2.1 No additional borrowing was required during the first half of 2021/22. All current Council 

borrowing is with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and the average rate of interest 

paid on the debt portfolio was 2.65%. Appendix A shows loans outstanding as at 30 

September 2021. Regular reviews are undertaken to consider redemption costs of natural 

maturity against new borrowing to settle the outstanding debt early. 

2.2 At 30 September 2021, the Council had short-term borrowing, which is defined as 

borrowing due to be repaid within 365 days, of £3.221m. This will be repaid in instalments 

of £1.611m on 28 March 2022 and 28 September 2022. The average annual rate of 

interest on these loan repayments is 3.03%.  

Investment Operations 

2.3 The average size of the investment portfolio for the 6-month period was £83.608m 

compared to an average portfolio size of £71.668m during the same period in 2020/21.  

106



 

 
 

2.4 The increase in the portfolio is due to the re-profiling of the Capital programme and an 

influx of government grants both as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Investment Activity in the period ended 30 September 2021 

2.5 The Council operates a diverse portfolio and uses a number of methods to invest its 

reserves which include direct deposit, certificates of deposit, notice accounts and money 

market funds. As at 30 September 2021 the Council held short term investments of 

£84.281m (specified investments) and £3.0m (non-specified investments). As at 30 

September the Weighted Average Rate of Return was 0.19% compared with that of the 

Link (the Council’s treasury management advisors) Investment Benchmarking Analysis 

group which was 0.28%.  

2.6 The Treasury Management Strategy stipulates that the Council should not ordinarily hold 

more than 35% of investments as non-specified and this was adhered to during the first half 

of 2021/22. A schedule of investments at 30 September 2021 is set out at Appendix A. 

2.7 Short Term Fixed Deposits – In the period ended 30 September 2021, £36.0m of short-term 

fixed deposits were placed; £22.5m of investments matured within this same period. 

2.8 Long Term Fixed Deposits – In the period ended 30 September 2021, one long-term fixed 

deposit of £2m was placed; £1.0m of investments matured within this same period. 

Treasury Management Prudential Code Indicators 

2.9 Prudential Code indicators specific to treasury management are designed to ensure that 

treasury management is carried out in accordance with professional practice. Indicators 

for 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24 were approved by Council on 1 March 2021 as part of 

the Treasury management Strategy 2021/22. 

2.10 The 2021/22 indicators and actual figures for the 6 months to 30 September 2021 are set 

out at Appendix A. All investment activity has been maintained withing the indicator limits. 

Economic Update from Link (the Council’s Treasury Advisors) 

2.11 The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted unanimously to leave Bank Rate unchanged 

at 0.10% and made no changes to its programme of quantitative easing purchases due to 

finish by the end of this year at a total of £895bn. Financial markets are now pricing in a 

first increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% in February 2022, but this looks 

ambitious as the MPC has stated that it wants to see what happens to the economy, and 

particularly to employment once furlough ends at the end of September.  

The interest forecast for PWLB certainty rates shows that there is likely to be a steady rise 

over the period to March 2024, with some degree of uplift due to rising treasury yields in 

the US. There is likely to be exceptional volatility and unpredictability in respect of gilt 

yields and PWLB rates. The Council can access the certainty rate which currently reduces 

the advertised PWLB rates by 0.20%. 

           Amendments to the Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22 

3.1 There are no mid-year policy changes recommended; the details in this report update the 

position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes already 

approved. 

 

 

107



 

 
 

           2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

4.1 The TMSS details the investment and borrowing policies that the Council will follow during 

2022/23.  The CIPFA code and MHCLG statutory guidance also requires the Council to 

have a policy on non-treasury investments. 

4.2 The TMSS sets out the counterparties that the Council will invest with and the limits that 

will be invested with each counterparty.  There are no proposed changes to the limits that 

were approved by Council on 1 March 2021.   

4.3 CIPFA has recently completed a consultation of the Treasury Management and Prudential 

Codes, the Codes are currently being updated and any changes that may impact on the 

Council’s strategy will be reflected in the final version of the TMSS which will be presented 

to Council for approval on 3 March 2022. 

4.4 It should be noted that the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities is 

proposing to update the regulations to restrict local authorities with respect to financing 

capital expenditure on investment in commercial projects for yield.  Access to PWLB 

borrowing has already been restricted as the Council is unable to borrow if commercial 

projects are included in the approved capital programme.  The new CIPFA Codes are also 

likely to adopt a similar set of restrictions to discourage further capital expenditure on 

commercial investments for yield. 

4.5 The consultation also proposed that the frequency of reporting treasury management 

performance should be amended to quarterly instead of half-yearly.  If this amendment is 

adopted by the Code then the reporting requirements will be changed accordingly. 

           Other Options Considered 

5.1 None 

           Reasons for the Recommendation(s) 

6.1 Committee members should be kept updated on the financial position of the authority. 

           Financial Implications 

7.1 The financial implications are included throughout this report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance & 

s151 Officer 

           Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The terms of reference for the Governance and Audit Committee require the Committee to 

review the mid-term treasury activities and to consider the annual strategy prior to its 

approval by Council at the budget setting meeting. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

           Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Not applicable 

 

 

108



 

 
 

           Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are included in 

the table below: 

Category Risk Action/Controls 

Financial Risk The treasury strategy has been compiled in 
conjunction with the Council’s treasury 
advisors and is monitored by the committee 
on a regular basis 

 

           Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Not applicable 

How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

11.2 None 

           Background Papers 

12.1 Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29207/Appendix%20G%20TM%20St

rategy%202021-22.pdf 

           Appendices 

13.1 Appendix A – Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 

13.2 Appendix B – 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy  

 

 

109

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29207/Appendix%20G%20TM%20Strategy%202021-22.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s29207/Appendix%20G%20TM%20Strategy%202021-22.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

Treasury Management Prudential Code Indicators 

 

Treasury management Indicators – Comparison for 2021/22 to actual position for the 

6 months to 30 September 2021. 

 

External Debt Indicators 

 

Authorised Limit 

 

This represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited and needs to be set 

and revised by members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, 

could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable. It is the expected maximum 

borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements.  This is the statutory 

limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 

Authorised Limit For external debt 2021/22            
£000 

As at September 
2021 £000 

 

Debt (non HRA) 33,000 0 

HRA Reform 115,000 91,046 

Other Long-term liabilities 0 0 

Total  148,000 91,046 

 

Operational Boundary 

 

This indicator is based on the probable external debt during the course of the year; it 

is not a limit and actual borrowing could vary around this boundary for short times 

during the year. It should act as an indicator to ensure the authorised limit is not 

breached. 

 

Operational Limit for external debt 2021-22 
£000 

As at 30 September 
2021 £000 

 

Debt (non HRA) 15,000 0 

HRA Reform 100,000 91,046 

Other Long-term liabilities 0 0 

Total  115,000 91,046 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

111



Debt Maturity Analysis – Public Works Loan Board as at 30 September 2021 

 

All current external borrowing is classified under the HRA 

 

Duration Amount 
£000 

Less than one year 3,222 

Between one and two years 3,222 

Between two and five years 9,665 

Between five and ten years 16,109 

Between ten and fifteen years 41,109 

Over fifteen years 17,720 

Total 91,046 

 

Investment Maturity Analysis – Schedule of Cash Funds 
 

 As at 30 September 2021 
£000 

Interest Rate 
% 

Short Term Investments 
 

  

Aberdeen Standard MMF 5,000 variable 

BNP Paribas MMF 5,000 variable 

PSDF MMF 5,000 variable 

Standard Chartered 3,000 0.15 

Newcastle BS 2,000 0.18 

Principality BS 2,000 0.07 

Santander Call 5,000 0.07 

Santander Notice 10,000 0.33 

NatWest Notice 10,281 0.05 

Lloyds Call 11,000 0.01 

Lloyds 1,000 0.10 

Close Brothers 7,000 0.25 

Al Rayan Bank 6,000 0.25 

Blaenau Gwent Council 2,000 0.20 

Guildford Borough Council 2,000 0.10 

Thurrock Borough Council 2,000 0.20 

Qatar National Bank 3,000 0.39 

Sumitomo MBC 3,000 0.09 

Total Short-Term 
 

84,281 (average rate) 
0.25 

CCLA Local Authority Property Fund 3,000 2.85 

Total Long-Term 3,000 (average rate) 
2.85 

 

 
 

112



Appendix B 

 

2022-23 Treasury Management Strategy Statement  
 

1. Introduction 
 
 Background 
 
1.1 The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means 

that cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the 
treasury management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately 
planned, with cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are 
invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the 
Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before 
considering investment return. 

 
1.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding 

of the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the 
borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning 
to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations.  This 
management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term 
loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses.   On occasion any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.  

 
1.3 CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

 
“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of 
optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 

 
Reporting Requirements 

 
1.4 The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 

reports each year, which incorporate a variety of polices, estimates and 
actuals.   

 

• Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this 
report) - The first, and most important report covers: 

• the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 

• a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital 
expenditure is charged to revenue over time); 

• the treasury management strategy (how the investments and 
borrowings are to be organised) including treasury indicators; and  

• an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to 
be managed). 

 

• A mid year treasury management report – This will update members 
with the progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators 
as necessary, and whether any policies require revision.   

 

113



Appendix B 

 

• An annual treasury report – This provides details of a selection of 
actual prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations 
compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

 
1.5 Governance and Audit Committee – As part of the Committee’s terms of 

reference the above reports are presented to them for consideration and 
scrutinity during the year.  The Committee also has authority to approve any 
in year amendments to the Treasury Management Strategy as requested by 
officers.  

 
1.6 The CIPFA 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes requires all 

local authorities to prepare a capital strategy report which will provide the 
following:  

 

• a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services 

• an overview of how the associated risk is managed 

• the implications for future financial sustainability 
 

1.7 The aim of the Capital Strategy report is to ensure that all elected members 
on the full council fully understand the overall strategy, governance 
procedures and risk appetite.  

  
1.8 The Capital Strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the 
Capital Strategy. This ensures the separation of the core treasury function 
under security, liquidity and yield principles, and the policy and 
commercialism investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset.  The 
Capital Strategy for the period 2020/21 – 2022/23 was approved by Council 
on 2 March 2020 and will be reviewed as part of the budget setting 
preparations for 2023/24. 

Treasury Management Strategy for 2022-23 

1.9 The strategy for 2022-23 covers two main areas: 
 

Capital issues 

• the capital plans and the prudential indicators; 

• the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 

Treasury management issues 

• the current treasury position; 

• treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the 
Council; 

• prospects for interest rates; 

• the borrowing strategy; 

• policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

• debt rescheduling; 

114



Appendix B 

 

• the investment strategy; 

• creditworthiness policy; and 

• policy on use of external service providers. 

 

1.10 These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, 
the CIPFA Prudential Code,Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code and  DLUHC Investment Guidance. 

Training 

1.11 The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members 
with responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in 
treasury management.  This especially applies to members responsibe for 
scrutiny.  Training was provided to  members of Governance and Audit by the 
Council’s treasury advisors on 29 September 2021 and further training is 
implemented as required.. The training needs of treasury management 
officers are periodically reviewed.  

Treasury management consultants 

1.12 The Council uses Link Group, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors.   

 
1.13 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management 

decisions remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that 
undue reliance is not placed upon our external service providers.  

 
1.14 It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 

management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the 
methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and 
documented, and subjected to regular review.  

 
2 The Capital Prudential Indicators 2022-23 to 2024-25 

 

Introduction 

2.1 The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 
management activity.  The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected 
in prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and 
confirm capital expenditure plans. 

Capital Expenditure   

2.2 This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure 
plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget 
cycle.  Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts: 

 

115



Appendix B 

 

Capital 
Expenditure 
 

2021/22 
Provisional 
Outturn  
£m 

2022/23 
Estimated 
£m 

2023/24 
Estimated 
£m 

2024/25 
Estimated 
£m 

Non-HRA 6.703 15.456 6.944 2.556 

HRA 12.446 14.180 12.815 11.264 

Total 19.149 29.636 19.759 13.820 

2.3 The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how 
these plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall 
of resources results in a funding borrowing need.  

Financing of 
capital 
expenditure 

2021/22 
Provisional  
Outturn  
£m 

2022/23 
Estimated 
£m 

2023/24 
Estimated 
£m 

2024/25 
Estimated 
£m 

Capital receipts 

reserve 

 4.655 3.770 3.026 

Grants and 

Contributions 

 2.352 5.589 0.860 

Reserves  11.966 10.400 9.934 

Net financing need 

for the year 

0 10.663 0 0 

The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 

2.4 The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital 
resources.  It is essentially a measure of Council’s underlying borrowing 
need.  Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid 
for, will increase the CFR.   

2.5 The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision 
(MRP) is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the 
borrowing need in line with each asset life, and so charges the economic 
consumption of capital assets as they are used. 

2.6 The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance 
leases).  Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s 
borrowing requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility 
and so the Council is not required to separately borrow for these schemes.  
The Council currently has no such schemes within the CFR. 

2.7 The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below: 

 2021/22 
Revised  
£m 

2022/23 
Estimated 
£m 

2023/24 
Estimated 
£m 

2024/25 
Estimated 
£m 

Capital Financing Requirement 

Closing CFR – 

Non Housing 

14.392 24.764 24.478 23.760 

116



Appendix B 

 

Closing CFR - 

Housing 

93.182 89.960 86.738 83.516 

Total CFR 107.574 114.724 111.216 107.276 

Opening CFR 107.869 107.574 114.724 111.216 

Movement in CFR (0.295) 7.150 (3.508) (3.940) 

 

 2021/22 
Revised  
£m 

2022/23 
Estimated 
£m 

2023/24 
Estimated 
£m 

2024/25 
Estimated 
£m 

Movement in CFR represented by 

Net financing 
need for the year  

3.063 10.663 0 0 

Repayment of 
HRA Borrowing 

(3.222) (3.222) (3.222) (3.222) 

Less MRP/VRP 
and other 
financing 
movements 

(0.136) (0.291) (0.286) (0.718) 

Movement in CFR (0.295) 7.150 (3.508) (3.940) 

Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances 

2.8 The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance 
capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget 
will have an ongoing impact on investments unless resources are 
supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed 
below are estimates of the year end balances for each resource and 
anticipated day to day cash flow balances. 

 

 Year End 
Resources 
 

2021/22 
Revised  
£m 

2022/23 
Estimated 
£m 

2023/24 
Estimated 
£m 

2024/25 
Estimated 
£m 

General Fund 

balances 

16.700 15.344 14.992 13.814 

Capital reserves – 

General Fund  

2.973 1.518 0.730 0.514 

Capital reserves – 

HRA 

7.214 7.369 7.826 8.516 

HRA reserve 15.508 14.368 14.368 14.368 

Major Repairs 

Reserve 

16.041 12.606 9.983 8.936 

Total Core Funds 58.436 51.205 47.899 46.148 

Working Capital - 

GF* 

1.986 1.923 1.923 1.923 

117



Appendix B 

 

Working Capital - 

HRA* 

3.203 3.650 3.123 2.740 

Expected 

Investments 

63.625 56.778 52.945 50.811 

Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be  
higher mid-year.  

3 Borrowing 
 
3.1 An underpinning principle of the local authority financial system is that all 

capital expenditure has to be financed either from capital receipts, capital 
grants (or other contributions) or eventually from revenue income. The broad 
aim of prudent provision is to require local authorities to put aside revenue 
over time to cover their Capital Financing requirements. In doing so, local 
authorities should align the period over which they charge MRP to one that is 
commensurate with the period over which their capital expenditure provides 
benefits. 

 
3.2 All future capital acquisitions that are financed through prudential borrowing 

will be required to demonstrate affordability but the extent that MRP is 
accounted for will be determined on a case-by-case basis and be in 
accordance with the four options set out in the statutory guidance. It is 
expected that the calculation method adopted will be the asset life method 
which allows the MRP provision to be based on the estimated useful life of 
the asset. 

3.3 During the year it is anticipated that there will be a requirement to undertake 
borrowing to fund capital expenditure and this will impact on the prudential 
indicators that are presented in the current version of the Treasury 
Management Strategy. This will require approval to amend the relevant 
prudential indicators and these will be presented as part of the business case 
for the relevant proposal. It is proposed that changes to the Treasury 
Management Strategy during the year are considered and approved by 
Cabinet and Governance & Audit Committee as necessary. 

 
Debt and Investment Projections  

3.4 The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 1 provide details of the 
service activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures 
that the Council’s cash is organised in accordance with the the relevant 
professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service 
activity.  This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where 
capital plans require, the organisation of approporiate borrowing facilities.  
The strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current 
and projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy. 

Current Portfolio Position 

3.5 The Councils forecast treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2022, with 
forward projections are summarised below.  The table shows the actual 
external debt (the treasury management operations), against the underlying 
capital borrowing need (CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing. 

118



Appendix B 

 

 

 2021/22 
Revised  
£m 

2022/23 
Estimated 
£m 

2023/24 
Estimated 
£m 

2024/25 
Estimated 
£m 

External Debt 

Existing Debt at 1 

April  

92.656 92.497 99.938 96.716 

Expected change 

in debt 

3.063 10.663 0.000 0 

HRA Settlement (3.222) (3.222) (3.222) (3.222) 

Debt at 31 March 92.497 99.938 96.716 93.494 

Closing CFR 107.574 114.724 111.216 107.276 

Under / (over) 

borrowing 

15.077 14.786 14.500 13.782 

 

3.6 Within the above figures there is no debt to commercial activities / non-
financial investment. 

3.7 Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to 
ensure that the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One 
of these is that the Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except 
in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the preceding year plus the 
estimates of any additional CFR for 2022/23 and the following two financial years 
This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but 
ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes 

3.8 The Section 151 Officer reports that the Council complied with this prudential 
indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the 
proposals in this budget report 

Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity 

3.9 The operational boundary and authorised limit have been increased to reflect 
the borrowing requirements to facilitate the delivery of the leisure and 
strategic land acquisition projects. Any capital schemes that have borrowing 
implications will be fully evaluated to identify the overall impact on the 
prudential indicators. 

3.10 The Operational Boundary.   

This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to 
exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be 
lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund 
under-borrowing by other cash resources. 

 

Operational 
Boundary  

2021/22 
Revised  

2022/23 
Estimated 

2023/24 
Estimated 

2024/25 
Estimated 

119



Appendix B 

 

£m £m £m £m 

General Fund 15.000 25.000 35.000 35.000 

HRA  100.000 100.000 100.000 100.000 

Other long-term 

liabilities 

 

0.000 

 

0.000 

 

0.000 

 

0.000 

Total 115.000 125.000 135.000 135.000 

 

3.11 The operational boundary will be reviewed on an individual project basis as 
required.  

3.12 The Authorised Limit for External Debt  

This is a key prudential indicator and represents a control on the maximum 
level of borrowing. This represents a limit beyond which external debt is 
prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council.  It 
reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded 
in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  

3.13 This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either 
the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, although no 
control has yet been exercised.  

3.14 The Council is asked to approve the following authorised limit: 

 

Authorised limit  202122 
Revised  
£m 

20221/23 
Estimated 
£m 

2023/24 
Estimated 
£m 

2024/25 
Estimated 
£m 

General Fund 33.000 43.000 53.000 53.000 

HRA  115.000 115.000 115.000 115.000 

Other long-term 

liabilities 

 

0.000 

 

0.000 

 

0.000 

 

0.000 

Total 148.000 158.000 168.000 168.000 

 
Prospects for Interest Rates  

 

3.15 The Council utilises the services of pointed Link Group as its treasury advisor 
and part of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on 
interest rates.  The following table gives the current Link central view: 

 

Annual Average 
% 

Bank Rate PWLB Borrowing Rates 
(including certainty rate adjustment) 

  5 year 25 year 50 year 

Dec 2021 0.25 1.50 2.10 1.90 

Mar 2022 0.25 1.50 2.20 2.00 

120



Appendix B 

 

Jun 2022 0.50 1.60 2.30 2.10 

Sep 2022 0.50 1.60 2.40 2.20 

Dec 2022 0.50 1.70 2.40 2.20 

Mar 2023 0.75 1.70 2.40 2.20 

Jun 2023 0.75 1.70 2.50 2.30 

Sep 2023 0.75 1.80 2.50 2.30 

Dec 2023 0.75 1.80 2.60 2.40 

Mar 2024 1.00 1.80 2.60 2.40 

Jun 2024 1.00 1.90 2.60 2.40 

Sep 2024 1.00 1.90 2.60 2.40 

Dec 2024 1.00 2.00 2.70 2.50 

Mar 2025 1.25 2.00 2.70 2.50 

3.16 The PWLB forecasts are based on the Certainty Rate (minus 20 bps) which 
has been accessible to most authorities since 1 November 2012.  

 
3.17 The Coronavirus outbreak has had a significant economic impact to the UK 

and economies around the world. The Bank of England took emergency 
action in March 2020 to reduce the  Bank Rate to 0.10%, the rate has 
remained unchanged at its subsequent meetings.  As shown in the table 
above, the forecast Bank Rate now includes five increases, the rate is 
expected to initially increase to 0.25% in December 2021 to 1.25% in March 
2025.   

 
Borrowing Strategy 2022/23 – 2023/24 

3.18 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This 
means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), 
has not been fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s 
reserves, balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure.  
This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low and counterparty risk 
is still an issue that needs to be considered.   

3.19 When the Council is considering undertaking borrowing to fund the capital 
programme, projects or to fund future debt maturities a clear business case 
must be developed.  The business case will need to take into consideration, 
the revenue consequences of the borrowing including interest payable, MRP 
and any future income to be generated from the project.  Borrowing can then 

121



Appendix B 

 

be undertaken where there is a clear business case and affordability is 
demonstrated. 

3.20 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution 
will be adopted with the 2022/23 treasury operations.  The Section 151 and 
Deputy Section 151 Officers will monitor  interest rates in financial markets 
and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances: 

• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in 
borrowing rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse 
into recession or of risks of deflation), then borrowing will be postponed. 

 

• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 
borrowing rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an 
acceleration in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, 
an increase in world economic activity, or a sudden increase in inflation 
risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised. Most likely, fixed 
rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are 
projected to be in the next few years. 

 

3.21 The option of postponing borrowing and running down investment balances 
will also be considered.  This would reduce counterparty risk and hedge 
against the expected fall in investments returns. 

3.22 Any borrowing decisions will be reported to the Governance and Audit 
Committee at the next available opportunity. 

 

Policy on Borrowing in Advance of need 

3.23 The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in 
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision 
to borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing 
Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds.  

 
3.24 The Section 151 or Deputy section 151 Officer may do this under delegated 

power where, for instance, a sharp rise in interest rates is expected, and so 
borrowing early at fixed interest rates will be economically beneficial or meet 
budgetary constraints.  Whilst the Section 151 or Deputy section 151 Officer 
will adopt a cautious approach to any such borrowing, where there is a clear 
business case for doing so borrowing may be undertaken to fund the 
approved capital programme or to fund future debt maturities.  It would not 
look to borrow more than 24 months in advance of need. 

3.25 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to 
prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual 
reporting mechanism. 

Debt Rescheduling  

3.26 Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as 
there is still a very large difference between premature redemption rates and 

122



Appendix B 

 

new borrowing rates, even though the general margin of PWLB rates over gilt 
yields was reduced by 100 bps in November 2020. 

 
3.27 If rescheduling was done, it will be reported to the Governance and Audit 

Committee at the earliest meeting following its action. 
 

New financial institutions as a source of borrowing and/or types of borrowing 
 
3.28 Currently the PWLB Certainty Rate is set at gilts + 80 basis points for both 

HRA and non-HRA borrowing.  However, consideration may still need to be 
given to sourcing funding from the following sources for the following 
reasons: 

 

• Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities) 

• Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds 
but also some banks, out of spot or forward dates where the objective is 
to avoid a “cost of carry” or to achieve refinancing certainty over the 
next few years) 

• Municipal Bonds Agency (possibly still a viable alternative depending on 
market circumstances prevailing at the time). 

 
3.29 Our advisors will keep us informed as to the relative merits of each of these 

alternative funding sources. 

Approved Sources of Long and Short term Borrowing 

On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable 
   

PWLB • • 

Municipal bond agency  • • 

Local authorities • • 

Banks • • 

Pension funds • • 

Insurance companies • • 

 

Market (long-term) • • 

Market (temporary) • • 

Market (LOBOs) • • 

Stock issues • • 

 

Local temporary • • 

Local Bonds • 

Local authority bills                                                       •  • 

Overdraft  • 

Negotiable Bonds • • 

 

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances) • • 

Commercial Paper • 

Medium Term Notes •  

123



Appendix B 

 

Finance leases • • 

 
4 Annual Investment Strategy  

Investment Policy and Counterparty Selection Criteria  

4.1 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the DLUHC’s Guidance on 
Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”), the CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes 2017 (“the CIPFA TM Code”) and the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Guidance Notes 2018. The Council’s investment priorities will 
be security first, portfolio liquidity second, then yield. 

 
4.2 In accordance with the above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA, and in 

order to minimise the risk to investments, the Council applies minimum 
acceptable credit criteria in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy 
counterparties which also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the 
Short Term and Long Term ratings. 
 

4.3 Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is 
important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a 
micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political 
environments in which institutions operate.  The assessment will also take 
account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To this end the 
Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing 
such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on top of the 
credit ratings.  

 
4.4 Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price 

and other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to 
establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential 
investment counterparties.  

 
4.5 Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in 

Appendix 3 under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investment categories.  
Counterparty limits will be as set through the Council’s treasury management 
practices-schedules.  

Creditworthiness policy  

4.6 This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Group.  
This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit 
ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented 
with the following overlays:  

• credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

• CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

• sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most 
creditworthy countries. 

124



Appendix B 

 

4.7 This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit Watches and credit 
Outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an 
overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product is a series of colour 
coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  
These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested 
duration for investments.   The Council will therefore use counterparties 
within the following durational bands: 

• Yellow 5 years * 

• Dark pink 5 years for Enhanced money market funds (EMMFs) with a 
credit score of 1.25 

• Light pink 5 years for Enhanced money market funds (EMMFs) 
with a credit score of 1.5 

• Purple  2 years 

• Blue  1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK 
Banks) 

• Orange 1 year 

• Red  6 months 

• Green  100 days   

• No colour  not to be used  
 

4.8 The Link Group creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information 
other than just primary ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring 
system, it does not give undue importance  to just one agency’s ratings. 

4.9 Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short 
Term rating (Fitch or equivalents) of  F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There 
may be occasions when the counterparty ratings from one agency are 
marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.   In these instances 
consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other 
topical market information, to support their use. 

4.10 All credit ratings are monitored daily. The Council is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Link creditworthiness 
service.  

• if a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer 
meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new 
investment will be withdrawn immediately. 

• in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of 
information in movements in credit default swap spreads against the 
iTraxx European Financials benchmark and other market data on a 
weekly basis via its Passport website, provided exclusively to it by Link. 
Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or 
removal from the Council’s lending list. 

Y Pi1 Pi2 P B O R G N/C

1 1.25 1.5 2 3 4 5 6 7

Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 2yrs Up to 1yr Up to 1yr Up to 6mths Up to 100days No Colour

125



Appendix B 

 

4.11 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In 
addition this Council will also use market data and market information, as 
well as information on any external support for banks to help support its 
decision making process.   

4.12 The Treasury Management Officer will use the Link Credit Rating weekly 
listing as a tool for guidance, with the option to deviate from this guidance 
only when there are clear alternative options that are available to the Council.  
Any decision of this nature should be clearly documented for audit purposes.  

 
Investment Strategy  

4.13 In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core 
balance and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest 
rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12 months). Greater returns are usually 
obtainable by investing for longer periods. While most cash balances are 
required in order to manage the councils cashflow, where cash sums can be 
identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained 
from longer term investments will be carefully assessed.  

• If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time 
horizon being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping 
most investments as being short term or variable.  

• Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time 
period, consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently 
obtainable, for longer periods. 

Investment returns expectations.  
 

4.14 Bank Rate is anticipated to increase to 0.25% in December 2021 though 
there is a high risk that it could be delayed until quarter 1 or 2 of 2022.   

4.15 The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on 
investments placed for periods up to about three months during each 
financial year are as follows (the long-term forecast is for periods over 10 
years in the future):  

 
 

Average earnings in 
each year 

Link Group Budgeted* 

2022/23 0.50% 0.5% 

2023/24 0.75% 0.75% 

2024/25 1.00% 1.00% 

2025/26 1.25% - 

Long term later 
years 

2.00%  

 
budgeted rates are the same as Link’s as although a quarterly dividend is 
received from   the Property Fund it is recognised that there is a risk associated 
with the increase in bank rate which will impact on investment rates increasing.   

126



Appendix B 

 

  

4.19 Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for 
greater than 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s 
liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, 
and are based on the availability of funds after each year-end. 

4.20 The Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit: - 
 

Maximum principal sums invested > 365 days 

 2021/22 
£m 

2022/23 
£m 

2023/24 
£m 

Principal sums invested > 365 
days 

15.000 15.000 15.000 

 
4.21 For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its 

instant access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated 
deposits, (overnight to 100 days), in order to benefit from the compounding 
of interest.   

Investment Risk Benchmarking  

4.22 These benchmarks are simple guides to maximum risk, so may be 
breached from time to time, depending on movements in interest rates and 
counterparty criteria.  The purpose of the benchmark is that officers will 
monitor the current and trend position and amend the operational strategy 
to manage risk as conditions change. Any breach of the benchmarks will be 
reported, with supporting reasons in the Mid-Year or Annual Report. 

Security - The Council’s maximum security risk benchmark for the current 
portfolio, when compared to these historic default tables, is: 

• 0.013% historic risk of default when compared to the whole 
portfolio. 

Liquidity – In respect of this area the Council seeks to maintain: 

• Bank overdraft - £0.5m 

• Liquid short-term deposits of at least £9m available with a 
week’s notice. 

• Weighted Average Life benchmark is not expected to exceed a 
maximum of 1 year. 

Yield - Local measures of yield benchmarks are: 

• Investments – Internal returns above the 7-day LIBID rate 

• Investments – External fund managers - returns 110% above 7-
day compounded LIBID. 

4.23 And in addition, that the security benchmark for each individual year is: 

 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years 

Maximum 0.05% 0.14% 0.26% 0.38% 0.54% 

127



Appendix B 

 

Note: This benchmark is an average risk of default measure (potential loss 
on investments) and would not constitute an expectation of loss against a 
particular investment.   

End of year Investment Report 

4.24 At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment 
activity as part of its Annual Treasury Report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

128



Appendix B 

 

Appendix 1 

THE MRP STATEMENT  

Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement  

The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund 
capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the Minimum 
Revenue Provision - MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake additional 
voluntary revenue payments (VRP) if required.  

DLUHC Regulations have been issued which requires Council to approve an MRP 
Statement in advance of each year.  A variety of options are provided to councils, 
so long as there is a prudent provision. The Council is recommended to approve 
the following MRP Statement. 

For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will be 
Supported Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be: 

• Existing practice - MRP will follow the existing practice outlined in former 
DLUHC Regulations. 

This option provides for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need (CFR) 
each year. 

From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance 
leases) the MRP policy will be: 

• Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the 
assets, in accordance with the regulations (this option must be applied 
for any expenditure capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction) 
(option 3); 

These options provide for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately 
the asset’s life.  

There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but 
there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made (although there are 
transitional arrangements in place). 

This policy will be regularly reviewed against the DLUHC MRP guidance and will 
be amended if necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

129



Appendix B 

 

Appendix 2 
 
CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2021/22 – 2022/23 
 
Affordability Prudential Indicators 

The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential 
indicators, but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess 
the affordability of the capital investment plans.   These provide an indication of 
the impact of the capital investment plans on the Council’s overall finances.  The 
Council is asked to approve the following indicators: 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long-
term obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream. 
 

 2021/22 
Revised  
% 

2022/23 
Estimated 
% 

2023/24 
Estimated 
% 

2024/25 
Estimated 
% 

Non-HRA (0.72) (0.70) (0.65) 0.87 

HRA 12.66 11.79 10.55 9.41 

 
The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals 
in this budget report. 
 
HRA Ratios 
 

 2020/21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Estimate 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

HRA debt £m 92.656 89.434 86.212 82.990 79.768 

Number of 
HRA 
dwellings  

5,914 5,876 5,850 5,820 5,793 

Debt per 
dwelling £ 

15,667 15,220 14,737 14,259 13,770 

 
Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 
Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s 
exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are required for 
upper and lower limits.   
 

Maturity structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2021/22 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 20% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 50% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 60% 

10 years and above  0% 80% 

130



Appendix B 

 

Maturity structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2021/22 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 20% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 20% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 20% 

10 years and above  0% 20% 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

131



Appendix B 

 

Appendix 3 

 
Treasury Management Practice (TMP) 1 – Credit and Counterparty Risk 
Management 
  
The investment policy proposed for the Council is: 
 
Strategy Guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of 
the treasury strategy statement. 
 
Specified Investments – all such investments will be sterling denominated, with 
maturities up to maximum 1 year, meeting the ‘high’ quality criteria where 
applicable. 
 
Table A – Specified Investments  
 

 Specified Investments Category Limit 

a A body of high credit quality, this category includes the 
following – 
 
□ Any bank or building society using Sector 

Creditworthiness service, following the suggested 
duration on the list up to a maximum of 365 days. 
 

□ Nationalised and Part nationalised banks can be 
included within specified investments as long as they 
remain part-nationalised  

£15m per 
institution or  
a maximum 
of 30% of 
total 
investment 
(whichever is 
the greatest), 
£15m per 
corporate 
group 

b The UK Government (such as the Debt Management 
Account deposit facility, UK Treasury Bills or a Gilt with 
less than one year to maturity) 

 

no amount 
limit 

c UK local authorities, Parish Council or Community 
Council 
 

£5m per 
institution 

d Pooled investment vehicles (such as money market 
funds) that have been awarded a high credit rating by a 
credit rating agency. This category covers pooled 
investment vehicles, such as money market funds, rated 
AAA by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch rating 
agencies. 
CLG Investment Guidance specifies that Money Market 
Funds with high credit ratings are classified as Specified 
Investment. These funds are instant access investment. 
There is possibility that part of the investment may be 
exposed to counterparties the Council would not approve 
normally or invest directly. The counterparty risk is 
mitigated by that – 

£5m per 
fund,  

132



Appendix B 

 

• The Fund Managers diversify investment in a range 
of counterparties; 

• The Funds are instant access; 

• The Council only invests in funds rated AAA; 

• DLUHC Investment Guidance classifying such 
funds as Specified Investment. 

 

e Enhanced Money Market Funds  
These are similar to normal money market funds but 
operate on a variable rate basis. The selection criteria will 
be on the same basis as the pooled investment vehicles 
with only funds rated AAA by Standard and Poor’s, 
Moody’s or Fitch rating agencies being used. 
 
In addition to this only EMMF’s with a credit score of 1.25 
and above will be used. 
 

£5m per 
fund, 

f Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds 
These are similar to normal money market funds but 
operate on a variable rate basis. The selection criteria will 
be on the same basis as the pooled investment vehicles 
with only funds with a credit score of 1.25 and rated AAA 
by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch rating agencies 
being used. 

£5m per fund 

g Corporate Bond Funds £5m per fund 

 
Non-Specified Investments – Are any other type of investment (i.e. not defined 
as Specified above).  The identification and rationale supporting the selection of 
these other investments and the maximum limits to be applied are set out below.  
Non specified investments would include any sterling investments with: 
 
Amounts invested with any one corporate group shall not exceed £5m (with the 
exception of Councils own bank). 
 
Amounts invested in non-specified fixed term investments would normally not 
exceed 35% of the total Invested. The Section 151 or Deputy Section 151 has the 
discretion if required to exceed this, and the limits detailed below, should the rate 
of return on Investment be beneficial to the council. Any decision will be based on 
taking into account current and future market conditions as well as counterparty 
strength and rating. If these circumstances are required this will be reported back 
to the Governance and Audit Committee through the annual reporting cycle. 
 
The table below is not an exhaustive list of all non-specified investments; further 
options are identified in the narrative section within the strategy. 
 
Table B – Non Specified Investments  
 

 Non Specified Investment Category Limit  

133



Appendix B 

 

a.  Any institutions meeting the criteria set out for 
Specified Investments, with a maturity of greater 
than 1 year following the suggested duration on 
the list up to a maximum of 5 years. 

(including forward deals in excess of one year 
from inception to repayment).  

£4m maximum of  

3-years  

per institution  

b.  Councils Bank – Should it fail to meet the basic 
credit criteria, monies will be restricted to instant 
access and will be minimised as far as is possible.  

 

£7m  

 

c.  Top 10 building societies, by asset value – The 
operation of some building societies does not 
require a credit rating, although in every other 
respect the security would match similarly sized 
societies with ratings.  

The Council may use such building societies that 
all placed within the top 10 by asset value.  

 

£2m maximum of  

3-years  

per institution. 

£10m for all top 10 
building societies 

d.  UK Local Authorities, Parish Council or 
Community Council  

 £5m per 
institution 

e.  Property funds The use of these instruments can 
be deemed capital expenditure, and as such will 
be an application (spending) of capital resources.  
This Authority will seek guidance on the status of 
any fund it may consider using.  

£5m 

No maximum 
duration period. 

 
Note: This Authority will seek further advice on the appropriateness and 
associated risks with investments in these categories.  
 
Maximum limit per institution – The maximum limit for both specified and non-
specified investments is a total of £15m per corporate group with a higher limit of 
£18m at the discretion of the Section 151 Officer (or deputy) where an institution is 
considered to be of a higher credit quality. 
 
The monitoring of investment counterparties – The credit rating of 
counterparties will be monitored regularly.  The Council receives credit rating 
information (changes, rating watches and rating outlooks) from Link Group as and 
when ratings change, and counterparties are checked promptly.  On occasion 
ratings may be downgraded when an investment has already been made.  The 
criteria used are such that a minor downgrading should not affect the full receipt of 
the principle and interest.  Any counterparty failing to meet the criteria will be 
removed from the list immediately by the Section 151 Officer (or Deputy), and if 
required new counterparties which meet the criteria will be added to the list.  
 

134



Appendix B 

 

Ethical Investment Statement – The Council has approved the following ethical 
investment statement that will apply to all cash investments made by, or on behalf 
of the council 
 
“The Council, in making investments through its treasury management function 
fully supports the ethos of socially responsible investments”. 
 
Local Authority Controlled Company – LACC.  
The Council has the ability to make loans to a Local Authority Controlled 
Company. 
The criteria for a Loan being made with a LACC will be that there is a clear 
business plan that demonstrates the affordability of the investment for the LACC.   
 
Registered Social Landlords (RSL’s) 

• This scheme would lend amounts up to £5m per investment to Registered 
Social Landlords for the purpose of providing housing within the District.  
 

• Repayment terms of up to 10 years would be offered. 
 

• Can be deemed as a service investment as opposed to a Treasury 
Investment.  

 

• Individual Housing Associations do not have credit ratings therefore it is 
proposed that we use our external treasury advisers to undertake due 
diligence checks to assess borrowers’ ability to make good the repayment 
of the loan.  

 

• Loans would be secured by means of a legal charge over the borrowers 
assets. Related legal costs and loan set up fees would be charged to the 
borrower. 

 

• Interest rates charged would be set at PWLB/market rates available at the 
time the loan is agreed.  This will provide an investment return and ensure 
that no gratuitous benefit is included which would have soft loan or state aid 
implications. 

 

• For accounting purposes loans would be treated as capital expenditure and 
financed from internal borrowing. This will increase the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) by the amount of the loan and then this will be written 
down upon repayment of the principal. 
 

• This approach means that there is no requirement to make a Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) contribution, depending on the circumstances 
 

• Any activity of this type would only take place after detailed due diligence 
work be been undertaken. 

 
Use of External Fund Managers – The Council is not restricted to placing funds 
with cash managers, and will manage funds in house, use fund managers, or 
brokers if it is appropriate to do so. 

135



Appendix B 

 

 
The fund managers will use both specified and non-specified investment 
categories and are contractually committed to keep to the Council’s investment 
strategy.  Currently the Council has an agreement with King & Shaxson, Tradition 
UK, Imperial Treasury and Sterling International.  The fund managers are required 
to adhere to the following: 
 

• All investments restricted to sterling denominated instruments; 

• Amounts invested with any one institution or Corporate Group should not 
exceed the limits specified in Table A and Table B. 

• Portfolio management is measured against the return provided by the 3-
month sterling LIBID, or in accordance with the measures specified in the 
contract. 

 
The performance of investment managed by Fund Managers is reviewed at least 
quarterly by the Section 151 or Deputy Section 151 Officer. 
 
 

136



 

 

 

 

Planning Service Review – Progress Report 

This report updates the Governance and Audit Committee on the actions undertaken following a 
review of the Planning Service. 

 

 

Report Author 

William Tse (Project Lead) 

 
01476 406376 

 w.tse@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive) 14 December 2021 

Approved by: Emma Whittaker (Assistant Director of Planning) 14 December 2021 

Signed off by: Nick Robins (Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Planning Policy) 

15 December 2021 

 

Recommendations to the decision makers 

To note the Planning Review update and associated action plan. 

 

Governance and Audit 
Committee 

26 January 2022 

Report of: Councillor Nick Robins 
  Cabinet Member for Planning and 

Planning Policy 

         

137

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 A key theme in the Corporate Plan (2020-2023) is the provision of housing that meets the 

needs of all residents. High quality housing is essential for all, and the Council is 

committed to working with partners to provide this. A main action has been to undertake a 

planning review to improve performance and support local sustainable, high quality 

growth.   

1.2 Planning has a positive and proactive role to play at the heart of South Kesteven District 

Council, helping to stimulate growth whilst looking after important environmental areas. 

Planning helps to translate the Council’s Corporate Plan (2020-2023) goals into action, 

balancing social, economic and environmental needs to achievement sustainable 

development.  

1.3 This report outlines the progress achieved with the Planning Service Review, examines 

actions undertaken and further considerations for the Council. The report is requested as 

an update following the 21 July 2021 Governance and Audit Committee.  The Committee 

also requested that further engagement with Members of the Planning Committee take 

place prior to this update, which has taken place and is outlined in section 2 of this report. 

1.4 An internal project team were deployed to engage with the Planning Service. The 

implementation of the actions are as illustrated within Annex A.  

1.5 The actions focus upon several areas, including (but not limited to): 

- Embedding good practice in the operational (officer) delivery of the service. 

- Identifying areas where change to the protocols and functioning of the Planning 

Committee are likely to be beneficial. 

- Highlighting opportunities to invest in technology and communication to help improve 

the service. 

1.6 Since the development of this item of work, critical posts have now been resourced and 

the service is functioning with a fully staffed management team, including the appointment 

of an Assistant Director for Planning in September 2021. This has brought stability and 

consistent leadership to the service, providing clearer direction for officers and improved 

engagement with Members. 

1.7 In proposing steps to support the Planning service, a significant consultation between 

officers and Planning Committee Members has taken place. This examines in detail, the 

procedural which underpin service delivery and to provide clarity around how the protocols 

function.  

1.8 Informal planning committees (which were held in the public domain) took place in 

September 2021 and November 2021 to debate the proposed changes to the protocols 

and processes of the Planning Committee which impact on the Constitution.  At the 

meeting of 26 November an amended set of protocols and processes were agreed that 

will be considered by Constitution Committee and then, ultimately, Full Council in early 

2022. 

2 Consultation and feedback received, including overview and scrutiny 

2.1 In the period since the last report was presented to Governance and Audit Committee a 

significant two stage consultation has been undertaken with members of the Planning 

Committee. These sessions were delivered informally due to the restrictions of the 

138



 

 
 

Planning Committee in determining items outside the delegations made by Full Council.  

These sessions took place in the public domain and were held as close to Committee 

conditions as possible (with the exception that the Members were permitted to attend 

virtually to enable the maximum number of Members to engage with the sessions). 

2.2 On 27 September 2021, a first draft of amendments was presented to the Planning 

Committee. Member feedback was encouraged and received to provide a basis for further 

revisions.  

2.3 The feedback from the Committee was positively received by the officer team and the 

Assistant Director for Planning reviewed the proposals in line with this feedback. The 

Assistant Director for Planning, in consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee and 

Cabinet Member for Planning produced a revised set of proposals for Article 16 of the 

Constitution for consideration by the Committee on 27 November 2021, the report for 

which is available within Section 14 (Background Papers).  

2.4 The revised proposals for Article 16, accompanied by a Local Code of Good Practice, 

were debated by the Informal Planning Committee on the 26 November 2021, which 

provided Members with the opportunity for questions and answers and for Members to 

propose further amendments.  Following the discussion and further amendments the 

Informal Planning Committee unanimously voted to recommend that the revisions be 

approved by Constitution Committee and Full Council. 

2.5 Prior consideration of the wider work programme was undertaken at the 21 July 2021 

Governance & Audit Committee. During this meeting, several matters pertaining to the 

overarching review and intrinsic items were noted.  

2.6 A significant amount of informal engagement with Members has taken place. These 

informal sessions have previously included private briefing and workshop sessions to 

enable Members (and Officers) to engage with the Planning Service Review and 

subsequent work to help shape the recommendations. Taking place from October 2020, 

the meetings have developed familiarity with the service and examine items for 

improvement. The process has included discussion with: Planning Committee Members, 

All Member and Officer briefings.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Do Nothing – note the report but do not request further action or updates to the 

Governance and Audit committee. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The preferred option is to note the report and the associated action plan and note that the 

proposed amendments to the Councils Constitution will be considered by Constitution 

Committee and Full Council in 2022. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendations 

5.1 The preferred option provides Governance and Audit Committee with the assurance that 

the areas for development highlighted by the Planning Service Review are being 

prioritised and addressed, with improvements embedded. The approach outlined, provides 

the Audit and Governance Committee with the opportunity to maintain ongoing oversight 

and refinement of the action plan.  

139



 

 
 

5.2 As indicated earlier in the report, the relevant Committees will be engaged to debate 

changes as appropriate.   

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The next steps are to finalise the delivery of the action plan. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the report. Should any additional costs 

be required, this will be assessed and considered at the appropriate time in line with the 

service plan. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 External reviews are essential to ensure good governance of public services.  

8.2 The recommendations are to be welcomed from a governance perspective, as it indicates 

that service delivery can be improved if implemented.   

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Impacts upon equality and safeguarding will be examined on a project-by-project basis and 

those deemed to have an impact will feature an Equality Impact Assessment as part of the 

programme of works. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No risk relating to this report have been identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 There are no direct community safety implications resulting from this report. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The delivery of the service will take into account matters pertaining to a climate emergency 

where possible. For a majority of this review, officers have continued to work remotely which 

reduces the impacts of travel related emissions. 

13 Other Implications (where significant) 

13.1 None identified. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Governance and Audit Committee 30 November 2020: Planning Service External Review: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s28333/Planning%20Service%20Revi

ew.pdf  

14.2 Governance and Audit Committee 21 July 2021: Planning Service Review – Progress 

Report: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30479/Planning%20Service%20Revi

ew%20-%20Progress%20Report.pdf  

140

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s28333/Planning%20Service%20Review.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s28333/Planning%20Service%20Review.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30479/Planning%20Service%20Review%20-%20Progress%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s30479/Planning%20Service%20Review%20-%20Progress%20Report.pdf


 

 
 

14.3 Informal Planning Committee 27 September 2021: Consultation on Suggested 

Amendments to Planning Protocols 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=165&MId=4201&Ver=

4  

14.4 Informal Planning Committee 26 November 2021: Consultation on Suggested 

Amendments to Planning Protocols 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=165&MId=4219&Ver=

4  

15 Appendices 

15.1 Annex A – Planning Review Action Plan [updated] 

 

 

141

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=165&MId=4201&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=165&MId=4201&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=165&MId=4219&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=165&MId=4219&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX A 
 

PLANNING REVIEW ACTION PLAN 
 
DATE:  JANUARY 2022 
 
PURPOSE OF PAPER: 
 

To provide Governance and Audit Committee with an overview of the development of and progress of the improvement plan arising 
from the externally commissioned review for the Planning Service. 
 

The table below provides an overview of the action, progress to date and anticipated completion date of the action. This has been 
split into actions that are within the scope of the officers (i.e. improvements to the Planning service) and those that include Member 
engagement (i.e. engagement with the Planning Committee). 
 

OVERVIEW OF PROGRESS: 

Action 
No. 

Action Progress Expected Completion 
Date  

Officer Programme – Operation of Planning Service 

11. Develop a tailored and targeted member training 
programme which addresses specific concerns and in 
particular addresses issues raised around application of 
planning policy in decision making, the framework and 
appropriate use of conditions, and the key stages in 
determination of a larger planning application. 

1. Audit of the training which has taken place.  
2. Review training for gaps and examine training 

process for committee members. 
3. Future training needs identified and a draft schedule 

developed to support ongoing development of the 
planning service. 

 

Training schedule in place until February 2022.  

Complete 

12. A series of workshops in relation to Local Plan 
“ownership” and future revisions. This is likely to be an 
ongoing piece of engagement with elected members. 

Programme of training to be constructed and shared as 
per Recommendation 11.  
 

Early delivery includes Sessions on 27th January and 
24th February on Local Plan housing/environmental 
policies and the draft Design SPD. 
 

Future sessions to be incorporate as part of the ongoing 
training programme. 

Complete – February 
2021 (with ongoing 
action) 

13. More training for officers on best practices when 
presenting to the planning committee. 

The newly appointed Director for Growth and Culture to 
oversee the delivery of this action. The sessions to be 
delivered with support of Chair and Vice Chair of 
planning committee. 

In progress with 
ongoing training in 
Winter / Spring 2022. 

17. Quarterly reporting of Section 106 income and 
expenditure, and enforcement matters should be 
scrutinised by the monitoring officer and reported to 
committee. 

Publication of the Infrastructure Funding Statement and 
Associated documents to MHCLG. Regular quarterly 
briefings for Planning Committee in place. 

Complete - December 
2020 (with ongoing 
action) 

18. The Enforcement policy should be reviewed and 
appropriately resourced. 

Additional Planning Enforcement budget approved for 
2021/22 and recruitment activity was undertaken. Peter 
White appointed as new enforcement officer. 
 
Regular Quarterly Planning Enforcement Update - 
November 2021 

Resourcing - 
Complete 
 
 
Enforcement update 
is now part of the 
regular cycle of 
Planning Committee  

21. Implement a system of regular Directorate Team meetings 
between the Director and the Heads of Service to provide 
leadership, direction and focus to the service. 

Regular management meetings scheduled with Assistant 
Director of Planning. Weekly Team Leaders meetings 
and 1-2-1s in place.  

Regular 1-2-1 
meetings have been 
booked and made 
available for members 
of the team. 
 
Team Leader 
Meetings across 
Planning, Planning 
Policy and Support 
Team held on a 
weekly basis. 
 
Monthly Planning 
Department team 
meeting in place. 

22. Linked to resolving issues of structure and permanence 
within the officer core, establish a culture of collaborative 
and strong leadership including regular opportunities for 
engagement between officers, Heads of Service and 
Directors. 

Create channels for junior staff to receive regular 
communications and seek support from Leadership. 
Ensure engagements from 1-2-1’s are meaningful and 
support the development of officers. 

Complete and 
continues as per 
yearly appraisal. 

23. Establish a system of performance indicators which are 
easily understood by members and officers and hold 
regular feedback sessions for teams and individuals. 

Service Plan developed and approved in April 2021. 
Delivery against objectives and implementation to 
continue. 
 

Complete 

143



Continuous review of the KPIs to ensure an accurate 
reflection of the Corporate Plan Objectives and to deliver 
improvements to service performance. 

24. Develop in-house experience within the planning team by 
aligning Special Projects, the Local Plan, and 
Development Management teams under a single head of 
planning service and exercise greater restraint over the 
use of external consultants. 

Review Structure aligned to Assistant Director role and 
implemented (May-June 2021). Item achieved within 
current structures. Senior Planning Officer's started in 
May 2021 / Enforcement Officer August / recruitment in 
place for Principle Conservation officer and Assistant 
Director of Planning appointed to join in September 
2021. 
 
 

Complete 

25.  Fully exploit the opportunity of technology investment. Audit of functionality across systems complete. 
Implementation plan in development working with the 
South Kesteven ICT service to provide training and 
appropriate solutions across the service. 

Roll out and delivery 
– Ongoing with Spring 
/ Summer 2022 
completion. 

26. Revise the validation process to be a back of house 
function. 

Engagement and workshop conducted with individual 
teams and jointly. A resource analysis has been 
completed to understand the required resource to absorb 
validation requirements.  
 

Transfer of activity to commence in July 2021. 

To be re-examined 
once resourcing has 
been completed. 

27. Ensure clarity within the Council on who holds 
responsibility for the delivery of the IT strategy, updates, 
and training of staff. 

Included within Item 25 once current upgrades have 
been implemented. 

Spring / Summer 
2022 Completion with 
external supplier. 

28. The conditions for permanence within the staffing 
structure and review recruitment proposition to ensure the 
Council can attract and retain high quality personnel. This 
will enable clear leadership, structure, and lines of 
engagement between officers. 

Review Structure aligned to Assistant Director of 
Planning role and further programmed work to take 
place. 

Summer 2022 
completion 

5. Senior staff advice including legal advice, should routinely 
be available to committee members at the committee 

This has been agreed and implemented. Complete 

Officer and Member Programme – Engagement with Planning Committee and Other Processes 

1. Consider whether the present Committee arrangements 
are fit for purpose 

The committee arrangements are being considered as 
part of a wider review of protocols and processes, which 
are referenced in the actions outlined below. 

Significant 
Consultation with 
Planning Committee, 
Chair of Planning and 
the Cabinet Member 
for Planning & 
Planning Policy to 
examine this in detail. 
 
Following November 
2021 Informal 
Planning Committee – 
members agreed a 
set of 
recommendations to 
be considered by 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council. 
 
Further work to attend 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council scheduled for 
2022. 

2. Clarify the protocols for representations to the Planning 
Committee, ensuring consistency and equity in those for 
and against an application. Adhere strictly to the time 
limits. 

Current speaking arrangements and protocols for 
representations are appropriately clear and have been 
clarified in Informal Committee meetings. 
 

The Chair and Vice Chair of the Planning Committee are 
responsible for ensuring that these protocols are 
adhered to. 
 
 
 

Significant 
Consultation with 
Planning Committee, 
Chair of Planning and 
the Cabinet Member 
for Planning & 
Planning Policy to 
examine this in detail. 
 
Following November 
2021 Informal 
Planning Committee – 
members agreed a 
set of 
recommendations to 
be considered by 

144



Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council. 
 
Further work to attend 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council scheduled for 
2022. 

3. Ensure the new protocols are published and readily 
understood by all participants at each planning committee 
and that prospective speakers are reminded of them 
before the meeting. 

Existing protocols and amendments have been 
presented in consecutive committees. 
 
Two informal consultations we’re undertaken with 
Planning Committee with the process being overseen by 
the Chair of Planning and the Cabinet Member for 
Planning & Planning Policy. 
 
Revisions to the protocols will now be considered by 
relevant committees prior to formal adoption (i.e. 
Constitution Committee and Full Council). 

Significant 
Consultation with 
Planning Committee, 
Chair of Planning and 
the Cabinet Member 
for Planning & 
Planning Policy to 
examine this in detail. 
 
Following November 
2021 Informal 
Planning Committee – 
members agreed a 
set of 
recommendations to 
be considered by 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council. 
 
Further work to attend 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council scheduled for 
2022. 

6. The Council changes its procedures to ensure 
applications are only refused at Committee where 
members have voted to do so based on clear and cogent 
planning grounds.  

A Local Code of Good Practice has been provided which 
outlines guidance to members throughout the process of 
determination. This will aid committee members and add 
to further learning from member training sessions. 

Complete with 
ongoing training plan 
in place. 

7. Agree a revised Scheme of Delegation collaboratively with 
elected members for adoption by the Council and ensure 
any deviation can only be agreed on an exceptional basis 
by the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council. 

Following consultation with the Planning Committee – a 
proposed scheme of delegation will be taken forward. 
 
This was voted and agreed at the 26 November 2021 
Informal Planning Committee.   

Significant 
Consultation with 
Planning Committee, 
Chair of Planning and 
the Cabinet Member 
for Planning & 
Planning Policy to 
examine this in detail. 
 
Following November 
2021 Informal 
Planning Committee – 
members agreed a 
set of 
recommendations to 
be considered by 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council. 
 
Further work to attend 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council scheduled for 
2022. 

8. Agree a revised Call-In protocol which permits members 
to call-in applications within their wards, on submission of 
a request containing a sound planning reason. This should 
be adjudicated by a senior manager, ideally the Service 
Director.  

Following consultation with the Planning Committee – 
the call-in procedure was examined in detail. Call-ins will 
now be adjudicated by the Chair and Vice-Chair of 
Planning in Consultation with the Assistant Director of 
Planning. 
 
This was voted and agreed at the 26 November 2021 
Informal Planning Committee. 

Significant 
Consultation with 
Planning Committee, 
Chair of Planning and 
the Cabinet Member 
for Planning & 
Planning Policy to 
examine this in detail. 
 
Following November 
2021 Informal 
Planning Committee – 

145



members agreed a 
set of 
recommendations to 
be considered by 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council. 
 
Further work to attend 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council scheduled for 
2022. 

9. The creation of a criteria for when an application justifies a 
site visit will help provide greater clarity and confidence in 
the planning system. 

Following consultation with the Planning Committee – a 
revised site visit process will be taken forward. 
 
Members are able to undertake site visits individually. 
Risks associated with Health and Safety, Lone-Working 
and Probity will be the responsibility of the elected 
member. 
 
A regular schedule of site visits will be set and scheduled 
for Planning Committee members to attend. 
 
Guidance can be read in the Local Code of Good 
practice. 

Significant 
Consultation with 
Planning Committee, 
Chair of Planning and 
the Cabinet Member 
for Planning & 
Planning Policy to 
examine this in detail. 
 
Following November 
2021 Informal 
Planning Committee – 
members agreed a 
set of 
recommendations to 
be considered by 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council. 
 
Further work to attend 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council scheduled for 
2022. 

10. Further, a Code of Conduct for members when attending 
site visits will help protect the council and members from 
any vexatious or otherwise pre-determination and other 
legal challenges. 

Following consultation with the Planning Committee – a 
revised site visit process will be taken forward. 
 
Members are able to undertake site visits individually. 
Risks associated with Health and Safety, Lone-Working 
and Probity will be the responsibility of the elected 
member. 
 
A regular schedule of site visits will be set and scheduled 
for Planning Committee members to attend. 
 
Guidance can be read in the Local Code of Good 
practice.). 

Significant 
Consultation with 
Planning Committee, 
Chair of Planning and 
the Cabinet Member 
for Planning & 
Planning Policy to 
examine this in detail. 
 
Following November 
2021 Informal 
Planning Committee – 
members agreed a 
set of 
recommendations to 
be considered by 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council. 
 
Further work to attend 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council scheduled for 
2022. 

14. The Council should revise the expectations of elected 
members who serve on the Planning Committee to ensure 
the highest standards of transparency and openness in 
relation to other tiers of Government in the District. 

This was examined within both Informal Planning 
Committees and a Local Code of Good Practice has 
been provided to support the Members who serve upon 
the committee. 
 
Significant chapters to aid this section include: 

- Fettering discretion in the planning process 
- Lobbying 
- Decision Making 
- Site Visits 

Significant 
Consultation with 
Planning Committee, 
Chair of Planning and 
the Cabinet Member 
for Planning & 
Planning Policy to 
examine this in detail. 
 
Following November 
2021 Informal 
Planning Committee – 

146



 
 
 

members agreed a 
set of 
recommendations to 
be considered by 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council. 
 
Further work to attend 
Constitution 
Committee and Full 
Council scheduled for 
2022. 

15. Create a clearly defined pre-application process which 
distinguishes between strategic and minor applications, 
and between corporate discussions in relation to growth 
and investment versus technical input from the planning 
service. 

Further work will be undertaken in 2022 to review the 
pre-application advice service and this will include further 
protocols to support member engagement. 

Commencement: 
January 2022 

16. The Council should replace the existing ‘Design Pad’ with 
full briefings for all members of the Committee on major 
applications. 

Design pad has been retained with amendments to 
ensure smooth running of the service and to reduce the 
risk of probity. 
 
The deliver of this service will be reviewed as part of the 
overall pre-application process (item 15). 

Commencement: 
January 2022 

19. Use the opportunity of a revised planning and 
development structure to revisit member and officer 
relationships through the lifecycle of an application to 
ensure value added and appropriate interaction. This 
could be achieved through internal and external training 
and support - and must be undertaken collaboratively. 

The new Assistant Director of Planning in engaging with 
the service has reclarified the roles of Members and 
Officers. This will be supplemented by the Member 
training programme. 
 
This has been identified in the Local Code of Good 
Practice where Member and Officer roles are outlined. 
The guide goes further to identify the ‘do’ and ‘do not’ 
items to assist member interaction throughout the 
lifecycle of an application. 

Completed with 
scheduled member 
training programme 
as an ongoing item. 

20 Outlines the clear roles and responsibilities of elected 
members and officers in the determination of planning 
applications.  

To be communicated and clarified as part of any process 
involving revisions to delegations and processes.   
 

Further training will also be available to support 
Members and Officers. 
 
The Local Code of Good Practice outlines Member and 
Officer roles across various scenarios. The guide goes 
further to identify in context, where members should be 
cautious and approach situations with clarity of various 
risks. 

November 2021 

29. Establish clear pathways for engagement with the Council 
at strategic and operational levels in respect of planning 
consents and development proposals. For example: 
Developers to meet with Leader and Chief Executive or 
Director only. No members of the planning committee 
should be meeting with developers. 

Following an external review a suggested pathway has 
been developed with clear roles in engaging with 
developers (i.e. who should/should not communicate 
with developers at different stages). 
 
Clear protocols have been established with significant 
engagement with members ensuring this is clarified. The 
next items of work will be to examine the pre-application 
advice service to ensure we are evolving with the 
demands of the service. This is to be delivered in line 
with items (15 and 16). 
 

 

Commencement: 
January 2022 

4. Specific training for Chair and Vice-Chair on running 
procedures and Chairing of meetings. 

To be examined and provided in consultation with the 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee 
alongside the Director of Growth and Culture and newly 
appointed Assistant Director for Planning. 

Completed 6th 
October 2021 – 
Chairing Skills for 
Councillors 

147



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance and Audit Committee Work Plan 2021-22 
 

Committee Membership: 7 
 

Chairman:  
 

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Paul Wood 
 

Item Current Issues/Status Outcome Sought 

22 December 2021 

Internal Audit – Progress Report 
3 

Update from the Council’s Internal Auditors. To review and note the contents of 
the report. 

Internal Audit – Follow Up 
Report 3 

Follow up on progress made to implement previously agreed 
management actions. 

To review and note the contents of 
the report. 

Counter Fraud Framework A review of the Council’s counter fraud arrangements on a 
biennial basis. 

To review and consider approving 
the Counter Fraud Strategy. 

Planning Service Review – 
Progress Report 

The progression made following an external review of the 
Planning Service commissioned by South Kesteven District 
Council. 

To note the external review and 
planned member engagement. 

Financial Management Code To inform Members of the new CIPFA Financial Management 
Code which is to be implemented from 2021-2022. 

To receive an update. 

Treasury Management Mid-Year 
Review  

Update on treasury and debt management operations during the 
financial year. 

To review and note the contents of 
the report. 

16 March 2022 

Internal Audit – Progress Report 
4 

Update from the Council’s Internal Auditors. To review and note the contents of 
the report. 

Internal Audit – Follow Up 
Report 4 

Follow up on progress made to implement previously agreed 
management actions. 

To review and note the contents of 
the report. 

149

A
genda Item

 11



Item Current Issues/Status Outcome Sought 

Internal Audit – Draft Plan Draft internal plan for 2021-2022. To review and consider approving 
the internal audit plan. 

External Audit Plan Overview of the planned scope and timing of 
the statutory audit of the final accounts and the Value for Money 
work. 

To consider accepting the External 
Audit Plan. 

External Audit – Annual Report 
on Grants and Returns 

Report providing details on the Housing Benefit Subsidy claim. To review and note the contents of 
the report. 

Strategic Risk Register The Strategic Risk Register is presented biannually as part of the 
monitoring and review of risk management arrangements 

To review and consider approving 
the Strategic Risk Register. 

Statement of Accounting 
Policies 

Annual report prior to the preparation of the Statement of 
Accounts to ensure that the policies are up to date and in line with 
the CIPFA Code of Practice. 

To consider approving the 
Statement of Accounting Policies. 

Review of Effectiveness and 
Terms of Reference 

Biennial review of the Committee’s Terms of Reference. To consider the Committee’s work 
over the previous two municipal 
years and suggest changes to the 
Terms of Reference if necessary. 

 

Items to be allocated – as and when required 

External Audit ad hoc reporting 

Risk Management Framework 2021 - 2023 

Code of Corporate Governance 

Other policies e.g., Contract Procedure Rules, Codes of Conduct, Financial Regulations,  
Treasury Management Strategy, Financial Management Code 

Covid Recovery Reserve Funding 

 

150


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 20 October 2021
	4 Updates from previous meeting
	5 Internal Audit Progress Report
	Contents
	1 Key messages
	2 Reports
	2.1 Summary of final report being presented to this committee

	Appendix A – Progress against the internal audit plan 2021/22
	Appendix B – Other matters
	Changes to the audit plan since the last Governance and Audit Committee meeting
	Other assurance activity
	For more information contact


	6 Internal Audit Follow Up Report
	7 Counter Fraud Framework
	Counter Fraud Framework - Appendix A

	8 Financial Management Code
	Financial Management Code - Appendix 1

	9 Treasury Management Mid-Year Review
	Appendix A - Treasury Management Prudential Indicators
	Appendix B  2022-23  Treasury Management Strategy Statement

	10 Planning Service Review - Progress Report
	Annex A Planning Review Action Plan

	11 Work Programme 2021 - 2022



